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Our Mission 

The Economic Research Forum (ERF) is a regional network dedicated to promoting high 
quality economic research to contribute to sustainable development in the Arab countries, 
Iran and Turkey.

Our Objectives 

Established in 1993, ERF’s core objectives are to build strong research capacity in the ERF 
region, to lead and support the production of independent, high quality economic research, 
and to disseminate research output to a wide and diverse audience.

Our Activities 

To achieve these objectives, ERF carries out a portfolio of activities. These include mobiliz-
ing funds for well conceived proposals; managing carefully selected regional research initia-
tives, collecting and sharing micro data and providing training and mentoring programs to 
junior researchers. It also includes organizing seminars and conferences based on research 
outcomes; and publishing research output through multiple channels including working pa-
pers, books, policy briefs and perspectives, Middle East Development Journal (MEDJ) and 
the ERF Policy Portal - The Forum.

Our Network 

The ERF network comprises a distinguished Board of Trustees (BOT), accomplished re-
searchers from the region and highly dedicated head-office staff. A not-for-profit organiza-
tion, the ERF is supported by multiple donors, both regional and international.

Contact Information

ERF Office
Address: 21 Al-Sad Al-Aaly St. Dokki, Giza, Egypt
PO Box 12311 
Tel: 00 202 333 18 600 - 603  
Fax: 00 202 333 18 604 
Email: erf@erf.org.eg  
Website: http://www.erf.org.eg

ERF Dubai
Dubai International Financial Centre (DIFC)
Premises: GV-00-1003-BC-42-0
Gate Village Building 10 - Dubai, UAE
PO Box 125115
Tel: +971 4 4011980

Follow us

ERF OfficialERF Latest ERFlatest ERF Official
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A year in review, 2023: 
Testament and Resilience 

Last year has been a testament to our collective dedication, resilience, and 
innovative spirit in navigating the dynamic landscape of economic and financial 
challenges.  

Throughout the year, ERF has continued to uphold its commitment to fostering 
insightful research, promoting informed dialogue, and driving impactful changes 
in our regional economic and financial spheres. 

Our dedicated team of researchers and collaborators have worked tirelessly 
to produce cutting-edge analyses, policy recommendations (briefs), and most 
importantly, data collection and development that have significantly contributed to 
shaping the discourse on key issues af fecting our region.

In parallel, we have relentlessly pursued our capacity building objectives that ERF 
is renowned for, by fostering a talented pool of young promising researchers who 
will lead the way in reshaping the research landscape of the region and impact its 
socio-economic future. 

Despite the uncertainties and disruptions brought about by global events, we have 
remained steadfast in our mission to provide evidence-based insights and strategic 
guidance to policymakers, businesses, and the wider community. The challenges 
we have faced have only served to strengthen our resolve and sharpen our focus 
on resolving critical issues and identifying opportunities for growth, sustainability, 
and inclusivity in the economic and financial realms.
 
As we look ahead to the coming year, and as ERF turns thirty, I am confident that 
ERF will be well-positioned to continue making a meaningful impact through our 
research initiatives, collaborative partnerships, and advocacy ef forts.   

With a renewed sense of purpose and a commitment to excellence, we are poised 
to tackle emerging problem such as Gaza’s reconstruction and rebuilding and how 
we may contribute to the positive changes that will benefit not only our region but 
also the global economic/social and peaceful landscape.

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all our af filiates for their unwavering 
dedication, passion, and contributions towards advancing the mission of ERF.   Most 
importantly I extend my thanks and gratitude to our donors who spared no ef forts 
to support our activities.  In particular, International Development Research Center 
(IDRC), The Arab Fund for Economic and Social Development (AFESD), Ford 
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Foundation and the World Bank. Additionally, my gratitude extends to the African 
Economic Research Consortium (AERC), Agence Francaise de Developmment (AfD), 
Carnegie Corporation of New York, European Commission, International Labor 
Organization (ILO), UNDP, UNICEF, UN Women for their invaluable support. 

For our research fellows, your collective ef forts have been instrumental in shaping 
our successes and reinforcing our reputation as a trusted source of expertise in 
economic and financial matters. And its my sincere hope that you will continue to 
dedicate yourselves to ERF’s mission and bring your best ef forts to our research 
projects. With your collective passion, intelligence and expertise, I am confident that 
ERF will continue to produce ground-breaking results. 

My gratitude to our Board of Trustees’ devotion and guidance. I would also like 
to recognize the Advisory Committee, management and staf f for their exemplary 
dedication and diligence. Your collective ef forts have been instrumental in shaping 
our successes and reinforcing our reputation as a trusted source of expertise in 
economic and financial matters.

As ERF turns 30, I am keen to honor all distinguished members of the ERF Board 
of Trustees, Advisory Board, Network and Managing Directors. This outstanding 
list has been most influential to securing ERF recognition as the leading research 
network and eminent think tank in the region it is today. 

I would particularly like to express special gratitude to the founders and builders 
of our esteemed institution, particularly, ERF founder and first Managing Director, 
Dr. Heba Handoussa, inaugural Chairman Dr. Samir Makdisi and longest serving/
standing Chairman of the ERF Board of Trustees, Mr. Abdelatif Alhamad, for 
providing visionary leadership and unwavering commitment to ERF.  It is with pride, 
on behalf of the ERF Board of Trustees, Network and Secretariat, I acknowledge 
the instrumental role they played in establishing ERF, identifying regional expertise, 
building capacity, coordinating research, facilitating timely ef fective engagement 
with multi-stakeholders, maximizing research outreach and uptake, to inform policy 
processes towards a better future for generations to come.  

I am certain that ERF has the potential and is well positioned to best serve our region 
ef fectively and ef ficiently under the leadership of Dr. Ibrahim Elbadawi and the 
dedicated management team to continue the journey leading the nations towards a 
more peaceful, prosperous future.   

Hassan Aly
Chairman, ERF Board of Trustees

Hassan Y. Aly

Message from the
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A year in review, 2022: 
Unprecedented Challenges 

Despite the unprecedented regional and institutional challenges, ERF@30 continues to 
steadily play an instrumental role in addressing the region’s most pertinent concerns.  

In 2023, not only the region remains plagued by violent conflicts in several countries 
as it continues to reel from the unprecedented debt crises and the major challenges 
of maintaining stable debt dynamics and igniting broad-based, sustainable job-creating 
growth, it has to prepare now for a major far reaching economic and political ramifications 
of the ongoing tragic war in Gaza.  In anticipation of a more serious consideration of 
the two-state solution to the intergenerational Middle East conflict, it is imperative on 
a leading development research network like ERF, to take a lead role in undertaking 
objective, evidence-based policy research on the economics, politics and political 
economy of this topic. 

ERF@30, we continue on our path and commitment to our mission pursuing sustainable 
development. We are committed to connecting people and ideas nurturing creativity and 
promoting evidence-based dialogue towards a much-needed systemic change. 

On the research and data fronts, the research agenda continued to focus on key 
issues pertaining to macroeconomic challenges, social protection, labor markets 
and development, political economy of transformation, digital transformation and 
climate change; while we continue to build research capacity on issues of conflicts and 
peacebuilding, where we concluded a major project and planning to continue this effort 
in the wake of the recent tragic war in Gaza. On the environment and climate change 
issues, with support from IDRC, ERF launched a multi-year research program on energy 
transition: The role of MSMEs in fostering inclusive and equitable economic growth 
in the context of the clean energy transition in MENA,  worked on climate change and 
macro policy in support of a green transition, and mapping MENA’s Renewable Energy 
Supply Chains. On the data front, The Sudan Labor Market Panel Survey (SLMPS 2022) 
has been completed, the Egypt Labor Market Panel Survey (ELMPS) 2023 launched (to 
be completed January 2024), and ongoing management of the ERF Open Access Micro 
Data Initiative.  

On the communications and policy outreach fronts, a wide array of conferences and 
consultations were organized in person, online or hybrid throughout the year. The 
ERF 29th Annual Conference – The Future of MENA Development Path: Risks and 
Opportunities in an Emerging World Order was hosted by Nile University, Cairo, 
Egypt 4 – 6 May. Stabilization and Adjustment: Towards Inclusive and Sustainable 
Policies in MENA Regional Conference and Trans-Regional Research on Private Sector 
Development, Digitization and Disruptive Technologies in MENA and SSA Conference 
were held 3 and 5 May respectively. Reimagining Social Protection was organized on  

Message from the
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19 – 20 November in Cairo, Egypt. Full calendar of events detailed in the Communications 
and Policy Outreach Section. 

Guided by the GCC Advisory Committee, in Q4, the Third ERF GCC Conference- GCC 
Economies in an Era of Energy was organized on 30 – 31 October at KAPSARC King 
Abdullah Petroleum Studies and Research Center. The leadership and commitment of the 
GCC advisory Board, gratefully acknowledged.  

ERF publications record sustained a solid production of some 80 working papers, 80+ policy 
publications, 12,000+ newsletter subscribers and a campaign portfolio reaching 900 000 
emails extending ERF outreach and uptake. 

These achievements would not have been feasible without the un-wavering commitment 
of our partners. I would like to gratefully acknowledge our donors and partners: African 
Economic Research Consortium (AERC), Agence Francaise de Developmment (AfD), Arab 
Fund for Economic and Social Development (AFESD), Carnegie Corporation of New York, 
European Commission, International Development Research Center (IDRC), International 
Labor Organization (ILO), IZA Institute of Labor Economics, Ford Foundation, UNDP, 
UNICEF, UN Women and the World Bank for their invaluable support. 

I am also particularly grateful to our partners in success: our board, advisory committee, 
affiliates, network, management and staff. I am keen to particularly acknowledge the 
wisdom of the Board guiding ERF institutional growth and resilience. 

ERF@30, we are ready to embark on an ambitious research and communications agenda 
with particular attention to emerging challenges, strengthening research capacities and 
expertise, deepening the knowledge of the regional context to provide for independent 
evidence-based policy options and recommendations. 

ERF would continue to build on its transformative capacity to connect ideas and people, 
create partnerships and to contribute to knowledge and policy debates towards a better 
future. 
 

 

Ibrahim Elbadawi
ERF Managing Director

Message from the

Managing Director
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Affiliationis a highly selective process based on a robust review 
and assessment criteria. ERF encourages affiliates from 

prominent research and academic institutions, international organizations, and 
governments both inside and outside of the region to join. ERF has been growing 
steadily as the leading network of distinguished economists and policy makers in 
the region since 1993. 

ERF AFFiliates

This year, ERF received the 
highest number of nominations 
and a total of 45 new network 
members joined the network fol-
lowing a robust review process 
to fulfil membership criteria. 

By end of 2023, ERF continues 
to be home for more than 431 
prominent researchers. The 
network comprises of 282 dis-
tinguished Research Fellows 
with an impressive academic re-
cord contributing to the body of 
knowledge; 74 promising young 
Research Associates well posi-
tioned to undertake future chal-
lenges; 43 Senior Associates and 

Research Fellows

research associates

66%

17%

10%senior associates

7%policy affiliates

Figure 1. ERF Affiliates by Category, 2023

Affiliation Inside Outside  Total

Research 
Fellows 177 105 282

Research 
Associates 60 14 74

Senior 
Associates 28 15 43

Policy 
Affiliates 28 4 32

Total 293 138 431

Table 1. ERF Affiliates by Residency 

32 Policy Affiliates bringing the 
network a wealth of wisdom and 
expertise.
 
ERF firmly believes that our 
network members are a corner 
stone towards fulfilling the ERF 
mandate promoting sustainable 
development. ERF affiliates are 
instrumental to provide for fu-
ture foresight, economic insights 
and policy options to address 
regional challenges and oppor-
tunities, towards a more resil-
ient, prosperous future for next 
generations. ERF aims to secure 
a regional balance in terms of 
representation, outreach and en-
gagement to ensure ownership 
of national concerns and to ef-
ficiently and effectively address 
region wide potential. 

Capacity Building

ERF is committed to nurturing 
promising junior researchers from 
the region by providing specialized 
mentorship, training and capacity 
building opportunities. 

The ERF capacity building portfolio 
is unique and integral to ERF mis-
sion and activities.

This year capacity building efforts 
focused primarily on strengthening 
the data management capacity of 
national statistical offices and part-
ners to deploy latest tools, technol-
ogies and methodologies for data 
management and survey adminis-
tration. 

ERF organized four data-related 
workshops in 2023. A total of 59 
participants benefited from these 
workshops. 

Preserving, Archiving and Manag-
ing Social Science Data, organized 
in cooperation with the Arab Council 
for Social Sciences, 17 – 19 January 
2023, Egypt. The workshop brought 
together 19 participants from the 
national statistical offices of various 
Arab countries. The training led by 
Dr. Dalal Al-Hakim and ERF data 

Network & Partnerships
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team, focused on data management 
methods and data sharing for social 
science researchers.
 
Introduction to Stata and Sampling 
using GIS, 7 – 10 January 2023, Su-
dan. The training led by Prof. Ragui 
Assaad brought together 15 par-
ticipants from the Central Bureau 
of Statistics, Sudan. It covered In-
troduction to Stata, and descriptive 
statistics and graphs using Stata. In 
addition, participants received an in-
troduction to: QGIS, data sources for 
geospatial data, working with data 
in QGIS; preparation of sampling 
frame in Stata and sampling; maps 
of population and sample in Stata; 
and manipulation of sample data in 
QGIS.

In-depths Analysis of Panel Sur-
vey, 4 – 6 September, 2023. The 
three-days workshops brought to-
gether 15 participants from National 
Statistical Offices from different 
Arab Countries.

Harmonizing Labor Force Sur-
veys, 26 – 28 December, 2023. Led 
by Dr. Niveen Elzayat and the ERF 
data team brought together 10 par-
ticipants from the Central Authority 
for Public Mobilization and Statis-
tics (CAPMAS) and the Egyptian 
Ministry of Planning. The workshop 
covered the documentation of the 
harmonization process, the process 
of data cleaning, the harmonization 
of education-related variables, the 
harmonization of variables related 
to main activity (MAS) and the har-
monization of employment related 
variables. 

Partnerships

To address unfolding challenges in 
the region with regards to energy 
crises, future of work and role of 
NGOs, three new programmatic 
partnerships with like-minded in-
stitutions including IDRC, UNDP 
and Sawiris Foundation were initi-
ated and the scope and portfolio of 
activities of relevance to ELMPS 
consortium expanded. Institutional 
relationship endorsed with African 
Economic Research Consortium 
(AERC) and Forum Euro-Mediter-
ranean des Institutes des Science 
Economiques (FEMISE) to further 
extend outreach to Africa and Eu-
rope respectively. Given the ERF 
longstanding expertise in designing 
and managing knowledge platforms, 
a new three-year partnership was 
initiated with the Arab Fund for Eco-
nomic and Social Development (AF-
ESD) towards management of the 
Arab Development Portal (ADP). 

ERF- LCPS- MEI Program:  
The role of MSMEs in fostering 
inclusive and equitable economic 
growth in the context of the clean 
energy transition in MENA

Access to energy is becoming more 
challenging in MENA, particularly 
for energy importing countries in 
the region. This makes the transition 
to clean energy in MENA a vital one. 
Luckily, the region has inherent com-
parative advantages given the natural 
endowments of high solar radiation 
over much of the year and strong 

wind nodes. Besides, renewable en-
ergy is the cheapest power option 
today particularly in MENA. Add to 
this that prices for renewable energy 
technologies are dropping rapidly, 
and that the cost of electricity from so-
lar power fell by 85 percent between 
2010 and 2020. Furthermore, cheap 
electricity from renewable sources 
could decarbonize 90 percent of the 
power sector by 2050, massively cut-
ting carbon emissions and helping to 
mitigate climate change.

The importance of this transition in 
MENA lies in the need to meet the 
region’s growing energy demand 
at affordable prices, promoting in-
clusive sustainable development, 
creating new jobs while adhering to 
climate change mitigation and adap-
tation policies, and building climate 
change resilience. In this regional 
context, where medium, small and 
micro enterprises (MSMEs) play 
a significant role in the economy, 
understanding MSMEs potential, 
challenges and opportunities in the 
context of this transition as well as 
their prospects for job creation, en-
hancing climate resilience women 
empowerment and youth is crucial.

This project aims to enhance the 
knowledge on the role of MSMEs 
in energy transition in six MENA 
countries namely, Egypt, Tunisia, 
Jordan, Lebanon, Morocco, and 
Sudan. The research will generate 
new micro data, new knowledge, 
and insights about cross-cutting 
issues as well as the current state 
of renewable energy adoption by 

Network & Partnerships
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MSMEs, the institutional, financial, 
technical, and regulatory obstacles 
faced by them, the demand for 
skills, and the potential impact of 
the transition on more sustainable 
energy employment opportunities 
for youth, women, and marginal-
ized groups. 

The partnership for this 30-months 
projects was initiated in February 
2023, with support from Interna-
tional Development Research Cen-
ter (IDRC), Canada.

Partnering for Gender-Inclusive 
Growth in the Future of Work: 
ERF and UNDP Collaborate on 
Green, Blue, Digital, and Care 
Sectors in Arab States

The concept of the Future of Work 
has gained significant attention, par-
ticularly in light of the need to reas-
sess work environments in the wake 
of the COVID-19 pandemic. The 
digital and green/blue transitions 
in the Arab States region, together 
with the expansion of the care econ-
omy, offer a range of opportunities 
and challenges in the pursuit of gen-
der equality and inclusivity. If man-
aged effectively, these transitions 
can empower women by providing 
them with more productive and bet-
ter-paying jobs, promoting work-life 
balance, and facilitating a reduction 
or redistribution of unpaid care and 
domestic work. 

The cooperation between ERF and 
UNDP seeks to address the implica-

tions of growing and shrinking jobs 
on skills and training requirements 
as well as the re-skilling needs of the 
labor force in general. Understand-
ing the intricacies of the megatrends 
in the digital, green/blue, and care 
sectors, is crucial to provide insights 
for policy-makers to foster gender-
inclusive opportunities. 

Launched in October 2023, the 
16-months project is funded by 
UNDP. 

 
Assessment of the Role of NGOs in 
Social Protection in Egypt: A Col-
laboration between ERF- Sawiris 
Foundation, CAPMAS and the 
Ministry of Social Solidarity

Given their flexibility, accountability, 
and cost efficiency, NGOs actively 
seek to cater to the needs of the 
society and marginalized communi-
ties. Social safety nets in Egypt are 
not limited to state efforts, NGOs in 
Egypt have a long history of provid-
ing aid and support to the poor. For 
instance, many private companies 
have established affiliated NGOs 
for the purpose of institutionalizing 
social responsibility initiatives and 
facilitating the ability to build part-
nerships, both with the relevant 
state institutions and with special-
ized NGOs.

The role of NGOs in Egypt became 
even more prominent with the rise 
of social and economic challenges 
experienced by Egyptians through-
out the recent years. These chal-

lenges created a vacuum for NGOs 
to fill, where the government was 
in dire need of support to provide 
development programs to assist vul-
nerable communities. Hence, NGOs 
in Egypt represent the force of sup-
port for vulnerable citizens, provid-
ing them with services to meet their 
basic needs and helping them over-
come their day-to-day challenges, 
thus filling the void that the govern-
ment could not and reaching grass-
roots and beneficiaries.

The one-year project launched in De-
cember 2023, with support from the 
Sawiris Foundation aims to examine 
the role of civil society organizations 
in social protection, economic em-
powerment and education.

The Fifth Round of the Egypt 
Labor Market Panel Survey: an 
ERF- MOPED- CAPMAS Col-
laboration

The collaboration between the ERF, 
the Central Agency for Public Mo-
bilization and Statistics (CAPMAS), 
and the Egyptian Ministry of Plan-
ning and Economic Development 
(MOPED) aims to conduct a new 
round of the Egypt Labour Market 
Panel Survey (ELMPS) following 
the previous 1998, 2006, and 2018 
waves. Tracking a panel of house-
holds and individuals over two de-
cades, the ELMPS data have become 
the workhorse of research on labour 
markets, human development, mi-
gration, family formation, and social 
protection in Egypt in recent years. 
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The panel design offers substantial 
advantages over multiple cross-sec-
tions, allowing for a more accurate 
assessment of dynamic changes in 
the labour market. This enables re-
searchers to examine change while 
controlling for household and indi-
vidual characteristics. 

In addition to updating the available 
evidence on the Egyptian labour 
market, the ELMPS 2023 aims to 
unpack the sources of economic 
vulnerability among Egypt’s poorest 
communities. The survey will enable 
an in-depth analysis of the distribu-
tional implications of recent fiscal 
and exchange rate reforms under-
taken in the country, and a detailed 
examination of the barriers and op-
portunities that women face in the 
Egyptian labour market, including 
the changing conditions in their own 
households as well as changes in the 
economic environment they face.

The signing of the tripartite Memo-
randum of Understanding (MoU) 
between the ERF, MoPED, and CAP-
MAS ensured the reflection of the 
Egyptian government priorities and 
needs for filling data gaps especially 
with regards to digitization, platform 
economies, and green jobs. 

The two year partnership with sup-
port of six donors, namely: AfD, ILO, 
The World Bank Egypt, The World 
Bank MENA, UNICEF, UN Women 
was launched in February 2023. 

ERF - African Economic 
Research Consortium (AERC) 
Partnership 

The joint research and outreach 
partnership agenda with AERC con-
tinues to evolve. In 2023, a signifi-
cant number of joint projects were 
rolled out to further extend ERF ex-
pertise and voice in Africa. 

ERF -AERC- PEP collaborative 
research: Impacts of War in Ukraine 
on Food Security in Low Income 
Countries

The project, October 2023 – March 
2025, is a collaborative study be-
tween the AERC, ERF and the Part-
nership for Economic Policy network 
(PEP) with generous funding from 
the IDRC.  The main objective of 
the collaborative research effort will 
be to better understand how African 
countries have been responding to 
the crisis in terms of policies and the 
impact of these policies, how to build 
resilience, as well as the distribution-
al welfare implications related to who 
is most impacted by the crisis. 

ERF-Politecnico di Milano 
University: Promoting Stability 
and Resilience in MENA Food 
Systems

In December 2023, ERF joined a 
seven-member consortium, three 
year partnership led by Politec-

nico di Milano and funded by the 
European Union to address issues 
of access, prices and shocks in the 
region to inform private and public 
resilience strategies through new 
evidence-based knowledge that is 
created, systematized and spread on 
external stressors and shocks deriv-
ing from cereal global value chains 
(GVCs) on the MENA region with 
special focus on the case of Morocco 
and Egypt. 

ERF – Forum Euro- Mediterra-
nean des Institutes des Sciences 
Economiques (FEMISE) 
Partnership

In 2023, ERF continued its leader-
ship successfully, as president and 
sole coordinator of the network. To 
ensure sustainability of FEMISE, es-
tablished in 2005 as an independent 
French association, the Charter 
amendments have been completed 
and approved. Related governance 
plans rolled out including Board 
renewal and establishment of a 
number of committees, including a 
governance and membership com-
mittee. Efforts focused on fund-
raising and establishing strategic 
partnerships to secure network en-
gagement and visibility on the one 
hand and on expanding its project 
portfolio on the other. With sup-
port from the Spanish Development 
Agency and in partnership with IE 
Med the 2023 FEMISE Conference 
was held in 27 – 29 September, 2023 
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in Barcelona Spain. Management 
continued to deliver on the projects 
portfolio including the WEF-CAP 
project concluded in September 
2023; the partnership with ANIMA 
to deliver on the Euromed Cluster 
Forward (ECF) project and the part-
nership with the African Export Im-
port Bank Afreximbank to address 
African industrial value chains.  

ERF –AFESD Partnership: 
Arab Development Portal

ERF and AFESD (on behalf of the 
Arab Development Portal Coor-
dinating Group: Abu Dhabi Fund 
for Development, Arab Bank for 
economic Development in Africa, 
Arab Fund for Economic and Social 
Development (AFESD), Arab Gulf 
Programme for Development (AG-
FUND), Kuwait Fund for Economic 
Development, The OPEC Fund for 
International Development, Saudi 
Fund for Development), have initi-
ated a collaborative effort to reposi-
tion, redesign and revamp the Arab 
Development Portal introducing 
new strategy, new partnerships, new 
modalities to ensure that the Arab 
Development Portal (ADP) fulfills 
its mandate, value and relevance 
and extends its outreach, uptake, en-
gagement and impact. 

The proposal for 2023 – 2026 setting 
the basis for the partnership aims 
to: 1) promote nationally produced 
macroeconomic data, analysis and 
insights on timely basis; 2) nurture 
relationships with NSO to strength-

en their knowledge management 
and communications capacity to-
wards effective outreach and moni-
toring of macroeconomic data; 3) 
strengthen the regional voice high-
lighting pertinent thematic and de-
velopment issues to extend the Arab 
voice region-wide and globally. The 
proposal introduces new modalities 
to align with emerging technologies, 
initiatives and requirements with re-
gards to macroeconomic data acces-
sibility and analytical review to best 
inform policy processes. 

The proposed partnership acknowl-
edges the need to availing nation-
ally generated macroeconomic data 
and insights on timely basis and en-
gaging with the relevant research, 
policy making and relevant stake-
holders to contribute effectively to 
the making a difference in the short 
term. It also takes into account the 
longer-term sustainability require-
ments by strengthening the capacity 
and visibility of the expert network 
in the region.

It builds on lessons learnt from ADP 
historical development and opera-
tions since its establishment, recom-
mendations from previous evalua-
tions and consultations conducted 
with expert macroeconomists and 
with ERF affiliates to best guide 
plans for 2023 – 2026. 

During the next phase 2023- 2026, 
ERF aims to re-position the Arab 
Development Portal (ADP) towards 
provision of a portfolio of distin-
guished services namely: 1) Coun-

try Macroeconomic Outlook; 2) 
Country Data Monitor; 3) Regional 
Economic Insights Gateway. This 
would significantly contribute to the 
much- needed informed discussion 
and debate on country specific eco-
nomic challenges to contribute to 
evidence based development policy 
strategies. To ensure visibility and 
maximize outreach, a push strategy 
would be adopted towards increased 
awareness, and engagement with 
target stakeholders.
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The work covered a variety of 
timely topics for the region as 
outlined below. The selection of 
the topics was guided by their 
relative importance to the region 
and prevalent knowledge gaps. 

The year was also marked by 
an ambitious dynamic primary 
data collection ef fort to fill the 
data gaps. ERF continued to 
work on labor market surveys; 
completing Sudan’s first round, 
initiating the Egyptian fifth round 
and fundraising for the Jordanian 
third round. Data collection 
also included a firm’s survey on 
energy transition for SMEs in five 
countries in the region. 

Thematic Tracks 

Thematic highlights and progress 
made are outlined below: 

•	 Social Protection issues remained 
prominent on the ERF research 
agenda. The work on Jordan 
and Tunisia, covering a variety 
of social protection topics, 
including the current landscape 
of social protection, expansion 
of social insurance, minimum 
and living wages, provision of 

In 2023, the research agenda was quite diverse. Throughout the year, 
ERF has managed a total of 49 projects directly engaging 124 

researchers in research production and 37 as reviewers and advisors. New projects  in 
2023 were mainly solicited, guided by clear criteria, peer reviews and the scrutiny of 
Principal Investigators or project leaders.

cash assistance and wellbeing, 
targeting of assistance for 
the refugee population, was 
successfully completed in 
2022. In 2023, the research 
in this area was extended to 
social insurance in Egypt and 
encompassed the role of NGOs 
in social protection. ERF also 
conducted multidisciplinary 
research on social protection for 
non-nationals including refugees 
and asylum seekers, as well as 
inclusive social protection and 
the impact of the Ukraine crisis 
on children in Egypt. 

•	 On the Macro side, two main 
areas of focus were the main 
items on the research agenda: 
the first is debt sustainability, 
stabilization and adjustment in 
six countries in MENA in light 
of high fuel and food prices, and 
to rising global interest rates 
and debt ratios. The second area 
focused on the macroeconomic 
impact of the Ukraine- Russia 
crisis on feed security in 
continental Africa. 

•	 On the Political Economy, ERF 
focused on Cronysim, state 
business relations and the role of 
private sector in Sudan, Algeria, 
Iraq and Ethiopia.  

•	 On Digitization, progress has 
been made in the context of 
the interregional collaboration 
with AERC on understanding 
inter-regional comparison for 
the implications of digitalization 
and disruptive technologies for 
sustainable growth, poverty, 
inequality, women and youth in 
Africa. 

•	 On Regional Integration, ERF 
conducted work on mapping and 
assessing the performance of 
clusters in Algeria, Egypt, Jordan, 
Lebanon, Morocco, Palestine, 
and Tunisia. Additionally, ERF 
conducted a benchmark study 
on South Neighborhood policies 
and frameworks for cluster 
creation and development based 
upon relevant best practices at 
the European and global levels.

•	 On Labor Markets, ERF initiated 
two research programs. The 
Sudan Labor Market program 
would address gender and 
employment changes post 
covid-19 pandemic and an 
investigation of the future of 
work in Arab countries from a 
gender perspective.   

•	 On the Environment and climate 
issues, ERF worked on energy 

Research Activities
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transition in six countries in the 
region, addressing potential for 
employment generation through 
SMEs, and the challenges faced 
in each national context. The 
work on this area also addressed 
cross-cutting issues such as the 
outlook for energy demand in 
the region, gender equality in the 
context of green transition, the 
energy transition in the context 
of Crises, and the political 
economy of energy transition 
in the MENA region. ERF also 
worked on climate change and 
macro policy in support of a 
green transition, and mapping 
MENA’s Renewable Energy 
Supply Chains.

Table 2 provides details of the 
completed, ongoing and new projects 
in 2023. Full project details can be 
found in Annex B. 

Research Profile
Research projects directly engaged 
124 researchers, 60 of whom were 
women, 91 of whom were non- 
affiliates (73 percent), and 65 of 
whom resided in the region (more 
than half the total). As of the end 
of 2023, ERF had completed 25 
projects, continued to manage eight 
ongoing projects, and initiated 16 
new ones. A listing of these projects 
is shown in Table 3.

Males 52%

48%females

Research Projects by Gender

erf region 52%

48%non erf region

Research Projects by Residency 

Non-affiliates 73%

27%affiliates

Research Projects by Affiliates

Engaged Researchers

124

Table 2: 
Summary of ERF Structured Research Projects in 2023

124

PROJECTS 49
RESEARCHERS

40

GEOGRAPHICAL COVERAGE

REGIONAL 9
COUNTRY



11

www.erf.org.eg

Table 3. ERF Research Activities by Processing Stage & Lead Researchers, 2023

Project Team Leaders

Completed Projects

01
Inter-Regional Comparison for the Implications of Digitalization and Disruptive Technologies 
for Sustainable Growth, Poverty, Inequality, Women and the Youth in North Africa 
and Sub-Saharan Africa

Shahrokh Fardoust, Ahmed Ghoneim, 
Dina Mandour and Jaime de Melo

02 Cronyism and the Future of the Private Sector in Sudan, Algeria, and Ethiopia Ishac Diwan

03
The Growth Effect of Disruptive Technology in Ethiopia: With a Case Study of Digitalization 
in the Financial Sector

Alemayehu Geda

04 Disruptive Technologies, Agricultural productivity and Economic Performance in Kenya
Eldah Onsomu, Boaz Munga, Boniface 
Munene, John Macharia and Violet 
Nyabaro

05
Adoption of Digital Technologies, Productivity and Dynamics of Employment 
in the Manufacturing and Services Sector in Senegal 

Diallo Thierno Malick, 
Dumas Tsambou André 
and Benjamin Fomba Kamga

06 Digital Technologies and Manufacturing Performance in South Africa: Firm-Level Evidence Elvis Korku Avenyo and Jason F. Bell

07 The Impacts of Disruptive Technologies in South Africa Lukasz Grzybowski

08 State Business Relations in Sudan and the Prospects for a Dynamic Private Sector Kabbashi Suliman

09 A Stubborn Historical Legacy: Power Relations and Development in Sudan Atta Al-Battahani

10
Political Islam and Crony Capitalism in Sudan: 
A Case Study of “Munazzamat al-Dawa al-Islamiyya

Ebaidalla Mahjoub Ebaidalla 
and Mohammed Elhaj Mustafa

11 Crony Capitalism in a “Developmental State” Model of an African Poor Country: Ethiopia Alemayehu Geda

12
From Rags to Riches to Rags Again: Deconstructing the Narratives of Algeria’s 
Crony Capitalism Mirage

Idriss Hadj-Nacer

13 Trade, Food Security and the War in Ukraine: The Cases of Egypt and Sudan
Chahir Zaki, Kabbashi M. Suliman
and Alzaki Alhelo

14
Impacts of the Ukraine Crises on Food Security in Kenya and Ethiopia: 
Options for Regional Trade Collaboration

Alemayehu Geda 
and Philliph Musyoka Michael

15 Case of the Development of Agricultural Trade between Morocco and Senegal Mohamed Benayad

16
Food Security Effects of Food and Agricultural Inputs Trade Shocks from the Russia-Ukraine 
Region in South Africa and Mozambique: Exploring the Roles of the Maputo Corridor, SADC, 
and Continental Sources

Nicholas Ngepah

17 Employment Promotion Project

Caroline Krafft, Ragui Assaad, Rana 
Hendy, Rasha Hassan, Mina Ayad, 
Mohamed Azab, Irene Selwaness 
and Ghada Barsoum

Research Activities
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Table 3. ERF Research Activities by Processing Stage & Lead Researchers, 2023

Project Team Leaders

18 Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA

Ishac Diwan, Mustapha Nabli, Laila 
Baghdadai, Moez Labidi, Karim El 
Aynaoui, Abdelaziz Ait Ali, Abla Abdel-
latif, Ibrahim Saif, Laith Alajlouni, Zaf-
iris Tzannatos, Henry Chaoul, Magdi 
Amin, Alzaki Alhelo, Kabbashi Suliman, 
Amir Hamid Elobeid, Abdelrahman 
Khidir Osman, Omar Razzaz, Maha 
Yehia, Nada Eissa, Alia ElMahdi , Mah-
moud Mohieldin, Nesreen Barakat 
and Ibrahim ElBadawi 

19
The Socioeconomic Impact of the Russia-Ukraine Crisis on Vulnerable Families 
and Children in Egypt: Mitigating Food Security and Nutrition Concerns

May Gadalla, Nesma Mamdouh
and Rania Roushdy

20 Why Is Social Insurance Coverage Declining in Egypt? A Decomposition Analysis Ragui Assaad and Sarah Wahby

21
When Formality Is Costly and Informality Is Legal: 
Social Insurance Design Woes at A Time of Economic Crises

Irene Selwaness and Ghada Barsoum

22 Working Conditions in the Paid Care Economy in Egypt: Improvement or Deterioration? Caroline Krafft and Maye Ehab

23 The Dynamics of Social Insurance in Egypt Caroline Krafft and Cyrine Hannafi

24 Social Insurance from A Regional Perspective: Egypt, Jordan and Tunisia
Zina Nimeh, Tamara A. Kool 
and Guido Heins

25 Women in the Egyptian Labor Market
Maye Ehab, Ghada Barsoum 
and Caroline Krafft

Ongoing Projects 

1 National Child Labor Survey 2022
Ragui Assaad, Zakaria Othman 
and Ali Rashed

2 EuroMed Cluster Forward (ECF)

Chahir Zaki, Myriam Gad, Al Anoud 
Ehab Mohamed, Yasmeen Oraby, 
Passainte Atef 
and Anna Maria Ferragina

3
The Voices of Refugees and Asylum Seekers: Social Protection Needs, 
Challenges and the Way Forward

Maia Sieverding 
and Salma Abou Hussein

4 Costing for the Inclusion of Refugees within the Takaful and Karama Program Heba Al Laithy and Dina Armanious

5
Integrating Refugees and Asylum Seekers within Egypt’s TKP: 
Promoting Long-Term Financial Sustainability

Sherine Al-Shawarby, Dina A. Fattah,
Nour Abou-Ismail and Noha Sami

6
Integrating Refugees and Asylum Seekers within Egypt’s Universal Health Insurance Scheme: 
Promoting Long-Term Financial Sustainability

Sherine Al-Shawarby, Dina A. Fattah,
Nour Abou-Ismail and Noha Sami

7 Legal and Policy Frameworks for An Inclusive Social Protection System Ghada Barsoum and Alaa Al Barrawi
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Table 3. ERF Research Activities by Processing Stage & Lead Researchers, 2023

Project Team Leaders

8
Informality and Access to Social Insurance for Refugees and Asylum Seekers 
in the Egyptian Labor Market

Rania Roushdy and Al Anoud Mohamed

Initiated Projects 

1 Making Macroeconomic Policies More Environment Friendly: A CGE Analysis for Egypt
Chahir Zaki, City Eldeep 
and Abeer Elshinnawy

2 Shifting Sands: Gender and Employment in Post-COVID-19 Egypt Rana Hendy and Amira El-Shal

3
The Role of MSMEs in Fostering Inclusive and Equitable Economic Growth 
in the Context of the Clean Energy Transition in MENA

Atif Kubursi, Abeer Elshennawy, Adeel 
Malik, Muez Ali, Hala Abou Ali, Nada 
Mustafa Ali, Racha Ramadan, Esraa 
Medhat, Sara Ragab, May Gadallah, 
Mryiam Haggag, Dalia Hany, Racha 
Hassan, Salma Abou Hussein, Colby 
Connelly, Michael Tanchum, Karen 
Young, Li-Cehn Sim, Ali Taha, Ibrahim 
Saif, Mohammed Bouaddi, Adel Ben 
Youssef, Mahmoud ElKassabi, Monia 
Elazali, Mohamed Shible, Walid Hadhri
and Mounir Dahmani

4 Research on Gender and the Future of Work in the Arab States Region

Amira El Shal, Adelina Zeqiri, Burim 
Prenaj, Adel Ben Youssef , Mounir 
Dahmani, Nathalie Hilmi, Alain Safa, 
Shekoofeh Farahmand, Belal Fallah, 
Vladimir Hlasny and Irene Selwaness

5 The Assessment of the Role of NGOs in Social Protection in Egypt
Ghada Barsoum, Christine Valente, 
Muhamed Haseeb, May Gadallah
and Nesma Mahgoub

6 Stable Food Access and Prices and Lower Exposure to Shocks (STAPLES)
Chahir Zaki, Amr K.Fida and Yasmine 
Eissa

7 Impacts of War in Ukraine on Food Security in Low Income Countries
Chahir Zaki
and Philliph Musyoka Michael

8 Introducing the Sudan Labor Market Panel Survey 2022
Caroline Krafft, Ragui Assaad
and Ruby Cheung

9 The Structure of the Labor Force and Employment in Sudan
Caroline Krafft, Ragui Assaad, Adriana 
Cortes-Mendosa and Isabel Honzay

10 Labor Market Dynamics in Sudan through Political Upheaval and Pandemic
Ragui Assaad, Caroline Krafft 
and Sarah Wahby

11 Women’s Economic Empowerment in Sudan: Assets and Agency Caroline Krafft and Heather Moylan

12
Gender, Work, and Time Use in the Context of a Low-Income Agrarian Economy: 
The Case of Sudan

Ragui Assaad, Vishal Jamkar 
and Caroline Krafft

Research Activities
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Table 3. ERF Research Activities by Processing Stage & Lead Researchers, 2023

Project Team Leaders

13 Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons in Sudan: Evidence from SLMPS
Ragui Assaad, Caroline Krafft
and Jackline Wahba

14 Education in Sudan: Disparities in Attainment, Dropout and Quality Issues Ebaidalla Mahjoub

15 Determinants of High Fertility in Sudan Maia Sieverding

16 The Main Features of Sudan’s Income and Wages Structure
Nesma Mamdouh, Sara Ragab
and Dalia Hany

Micro Datasets

1 Sudan Labor Market Panel Survey (SLMPS) 2022
Ragui Assaad, Caroline Krafft 
and May Gadallah

2 Egypt Labor Market Panel Survey (ELMPS)
Ragui Assaad, Caroline Krafft 
and May Gadallah

3 Clean Energy Transition MENA Countries
May Gadallah 
and Mahmoud Al Kassabi

4 National Child Labor Survey 2023 May Gadallah and Ali Rashed

5 Jordan Labor Market Panel Survey (ELMPS 2023)
Ragui Assaad, Caroline Krafft 
and May Gadallah 

ERF has long recognized that micro 
data is essential for conducting solid 
policy-relevant research. 

To facilitate accessibility and extend 
outreach, ERF established a solid 
data infrastructure and instated 
collaboration with national statistical 
offices across the region to acquire 
micro datasets and provide open 
access to researchers.

In 2023, ERF data efforts continued 
to focus on three main tracks: (i) 
Data Collection, Harmonization and 
Dissemination, (ii) Primary Data 

Collection and Surveys, and (iii) 
Provision of access to users of the 
data portal.

Data  Collection, 
Harmonization 
and Dissemination

Data cleaning, harmonization and 
dissemination efforts by ERF’s in-
house team of statisticians continued 
steadily. 

In 2023, 13 new datasets were made 
publicly bringing the total number of 
online datasets to 173 including:

	□ 29 Harmonized Household 
Income and Expenditure 
Surveys (HHIES) from seven 
Arab countries (Egypt, Iraq, 
Jordan, Palestine, Sudan, 
Somalia, and Tunisia);

	□ 54 Harmonized Labor Force 
Surveys (HLFS) from Egypt, 
Jordan, Palestine, Tunisia, and 
Yemen;;

	□ 18 COVID 19 MENA Monitor 
Household Survey (CMMHH) 
for Egypt, Jordan, Tunisia, 
Morocco, and Sudan;

	□ 13 COVID 19 MENA Monitor 
Enterprise Survey (CMMENT) 

The Open Access Micro Data Initiative 
and the ERF Data Portal
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for Egypt, Jordan, Tunisia, and 
Morocco;

	□ 4 Harmonized Health Surveys 
(HHHS) from Iraq and Sudan;

	□ 2 Health Surveys from Egypt;
	□ 2 Socio-economic Survey from 

Palestine;
	□ 4 Census Data from Egypt;
	□ 9 Labor Market Panel Surveys 

(LMPS) from Egypt, Jordan, 
Sudan, and Tunisia;

	□ 2 Higher Education Graduates 
Surveys (HEGS) in two Arab 
countries (Egypt and Jordan);

	□ 6 Surveys of Young People 
from Algeria, Egypt, Iraq, 
Jordan, Lebanon, Morocco, and 
Tunisia;

	□ 3 Harmonized Surveys of Young 
People in Egypt (HSYPE);

	□ 1 Survey of Young People in 
Informal Urban Areas of Greater 
Cairo (SYPE-IGC);

	□ 2 Child Labor Surveys from 
Jordan and Egypt;

	□ 7 Datasets on Micro and Small 
Enterprises from four countries 
(Egypt, Lebanon, Morocco, and 
Turkey);

	□ 2 Datasets on exports and 
imports from Egypt;

	□ 1 Dataset on the constraints 
facing the development of Micro 
and Small Enterprises from two 
governorates in Egypt;

	□ 5 UNIDO databases on 
Industrial Statistics and 
Industrial Demand-Supply 
Balance;

	□ 4 Datasets on enterprises’ 
digitization from three countries 
(Egypt, Morocco, Jordan, and a 
combined data version);

	□ 2 Datasets on Time Use from 
Egypt and Palestine;

	□ 1 Dataset on Labor Market 
Discrimination Audit Study 
(RCT) from Egypt;

	□ 1 Survey of Industrial Firm 
Behavior from Egypt;

	□ 1 Survey on Transition to 
Clean Energy for Enterprises 
from Jordan

To enhance bilateral relations 
with national statistical offices and 
research centers, ERF signed three 
new Memoranda of Understanding 
in 2023, with: National Institute of 
Statistics in Djibouti (INSD), the 
Central Bureau of Statistics in Sudan 
(CBS), and with the Arab Council 
for Social Sciences (ACSS). The 
ERF and ACSS MOU formalized the 
Dataverse collaboration which links 
datasets between their respective 
portals to improve data visibility and 
outreach.

Primary Data Collection 
and Surveys 

During 2023 ERF carried out 4 major 
data collection endeavors:

Completing the Sudan 
Labor Market Panel 
Survey (SLMPS) 2022

SLMPS 2022, the first wave of a lon-
gitudinal study of the Sudanese la-
bor market designed to elucidate the 
way in which human resources are 
developed and deployed in the Suda-

nese economy. The SLMPS 2022 is 
a nationally-representative longitu-
dinal household survey on a panel 
of about 5,000 households to be re-
peated every six years. The focus 
of the survey is to understand key 
relationships between labor market 
processes and outcomes and other 
socio-economic processes such as 
education, training, family forma-
tion and fertility, internal and inter-
national migration, gender equality 
and women’s empowerment, enter-
prise development, housing acqui-
sition, and equality of opportunity 
and intergenerational mobility. The 
SLMPS 2022 is modeled on a simi-
lar survey carried out in Egypt in 
1998, 2006, 2012, and 2018 in Jordan 
in 2010 and 2016, and in Tunisia in 
2014.

The Sudan Labor Market Panel Sur-
vey 2022 (SLMPS 2022) was made 
available for the public in August 
2023 on the ERF’s Open Access Mi-
crodata Initiative Website (OAMDI), 
to mark the ninth survey in the se-
ries of LMPSs. 

Egypt Labor Market 
Panel Survey (ELMPS)

ERF carried out the Egypt Labor 
Market Panel Survey (ELMPS) 2023 
in cooperation with CAPMAS and 
Ministry of Planning and Economic 
Development, and a tripartite MOU 
was signed in May 2023 to solidify 
this collaboration and ensure nation-
al priorities are reflected in the data 

Research Activities
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to be generated. The data collection 
phase for the Egyptian Labor Mar-
ket Panel Survey (ELMPS) began in 
September, 2023, and this phase will 
end in January 2024.

This survey is the fifth in a series 
that began with the 1998 ELMPS 
and continued with the 2006, 2012 
and 2018 ELMPS. Tracking a panel 
of households and individuals over 
two decades, the ELMPS data have 
become the workhorse of research 
on labour markets, human develop-
ment, migration, family formation, 
and social protection in Egypt in re-
cent years. By fielding a 2023 wave of 
the ELMPS, it will leverage the EL-
MPS panel to examine how Egypt’s 
labour market has been affected by 
the COVID-19 pandemic, while plac-
ing the impact of the pandemic and 
the recovery from it in a longer his-
torical context. The planned ELMPS 
follow-up wave is being conducted 
in partnership with the CAPMAS, 
which has been a partner with the 
ERF on the ELMPS since 1998.

The survey will enable an in-depth 
analysis of the distributional implica-
tions of recent fiscal and exchange 
rate reforms undertaken in the 
country and a detailed examination 
of the barriers and opportunities 
that women face in the Egyptian la-
bour market, including the changing 
conditions in their own households 
as well as changes in the economic 
environment they face.

Clean Energy Transition 
MENA Countries

The MENA region grapples with 
intensified climate challenges and 
mounting energy issues. Access to 
energy is becoming more challeng-
ing, particularly for energy import-
ing countries in the region. This 
makes the transition to clean energy 
in MENA a vital one. Luckily, the 
region has inherent comparative 
advantages given the natural endow-
ments of high solar radiation over 
much of the year and strong wind 
nodes. To better understand the 
challenges and opportunities fac-
ing small, medium and micro enter-
prises in the context of transition to 
cleaner energy, ERF will conduct a 
series of firm surveys in five coun-
tries. The data is collected under a 
comprehensive cross-sectional sur-
vey that investigates how Micro, 
Small, and Medium Enterprises 
(MSMEs) in MENA countries navi-
gate their transition towards clean 
energy.

These data sets will be collected 
over one round, covering a spec-
trum of company-specific details, 
including sector categorization, 
employee count, regulatory compli-
ance, experiences with grid-based 
electricity, and the extent/potential 
of use of clean energy. These sur-
veys come under the activities of 
ERF newly launched project “The 
role of MSMEs in fostering inclusive 

and equitable economic growth in 
the context of the clean energy tran-
sition in MENA” project funded by 
IDRC. 

This initiative aims to gather crucial 
data reflecting the ongoing energy 
transition in these countries. The 
objective of this survey data aims at 
enhancing knowledge and contrib-
uting to strategic policy initiatives, 
seeking to pave the way for sustain-
able, efficient, and equitable energy 
management while addressing miti-
gation of emission and ensuring en-
ergy security and equity.

The data collection phase for the 
surveys began in September, 2023, 
and is expected to be completed by 
February 2024.
 

National Child Labor 
Survey 2023

In partnership with the ILO, the 
ERF oversaw the implementation of 
the 2023 National Child Labor Sur-
vey conducted by CAPMAS. This in-
volvement encompassed tasks such 
as formulating the questionnaire, 
structuring the sample, and provid-
ing assistance in conducting routine 
data consistency checks, cleaning 
the data as well as providing initial 
results and key findings from the 
data. 
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Access to OAMDI

OAMDI is a unique initiative pro-
viding researchers with free access 
to several types of micro data. This 
online automated data portal is set 
up to encourage responsible use of 
microdata by registered research-
ers while respecting the confidenti-
ality and copyrights of the national 
statistical offices and ERF. 

In 2023, ERF’s online data portal 
subscribers reached 4,716 com-
pared to 4144 by the end of 2022, 
3,778 by the end of 2021, and 3275 
by the end of 2020, as shown in 
Figure 2. Based on OAMDI users’ 
survey, it was highlighted that the 
data is mainly employed in publish-
ing research papers, obtaining aca-
demic degrees and other research 
purposes as producing Poverty 
Probability index. 

The outreach of the data portal 
extends beyond the region and 
network affiliation. Less than half 
of the researchers accessing the 
data are from the ERF region (44 
percent). Only a minor percentage 
(two percent) are affiliated to ERF.

To date, ERF has also granted ac-
cess to around 10,216 micro data-
sets. The number of surveys ac-
cessed in 2023 increased by 1,596 
compared to 2022 (10,216 datasets 
compared to 8,620 datasets), con-
firming the users’ growing trust in 
OAMDI data quality and credibility.

Figure 2: Number of OAMDI Users Since Launch by Region

Figure 3: Number of Accessed/ Downloaded Surveys since Launch 
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Figure 3 illustrates the growing di-
versified interest in the in the data 
types provided by OAMDI. Around 
61 percent of the accessed datasets 
were for harmonized household 
surveys (Harmonized Household 
Income and Expenditure Sur-
vey (HHIES), Harmonized Labor 
Force Survey (HLFS), Harmonized 
Survey of Young People in Egypt 
(HSYPE), and Harmonized House-
hold Health Survey (HHHS)). 

A total of 26 percent was for labor 
market panel surveys (LMPS), and 
around 8 percent were for different 
firm and sector-level datasets and 
other types of surveys. 

In Addition, 5 percent (with 555 to-
tal number of downloads) was for 
COVID-19 MENA Monitor House-
hold Surveys (CMMHH) and CO-
VID-19 MENA Monitor Enterprise 
Surveys (CMMENT).

To acquaint academics and poten-
tial researchers with OAMDI, a 
series of in-person seminars were 
conducted throughout the year. A 
dedicated session at the ERF 29th 
Annual Conference was organized 
in May 2023. Similarly, a series of 
special presentations was arranged 
for during the Conference on Social 
Security in Jordan in September 
2023, and at Cairo University in Oc-
tober and December 2023. 

4700 +
TOTAL NUMBERS OF 
OAMDI SUBSCRIBERS

170 +
TOTAL NUMBER 
OF ONLINE DATASETS

10,000 +
TOTAL NUMBER 
OF DOWNLOADS 
OF ONLINE DATASETS
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ERF continuously strives to engage 
independent network expertise to 
address regional issues on timely 
basis. Systems, modalities, technolo-
gies are adopted to best extend out-
reach to inform policy processes.

In 2023, ERF organized a series of 
events. ERF flagship event, 29th An-
nual Conference brought together 
more than 430 participants together 
in person and online. Program re-
lated events systematically pursued 
effective engagement with stake-
holders, consultation with respec-
tive stakeholders at the outset, peer 
review of work in progress and open 
dissemination of final studies. The 
Third ERF GCC Conference – GCC 
Economies in an Era of Transition 
focused on emerging challenges 
in the Gulf as part of the ERF GCC 
initiative as a regular platform for re-
search and policy dialogue. Extend-
ing regional voice actively pursued 
with international organization to 
extend visibility and outreach of our 
network expertise. 

In 2023, the ERF publications con-
tributed equally to ERF academic 
and policy publications portfolio. A 
total of 79 working papers, 16 refer-
eed journal articles in two volumes 
of Middle East Development Journal 
(MEDJ), and some 80 policy publi-

Connecting people and ideas. Relevance, reach and resilience 
mark ERF communications and policy outreach 

activities in 2023. The por tfolio of activities are presented along five main tracks: 
(i) Visibility and Networking and Capacity Building; (ii) Muti-stakeholder 
Engagement Platform; (iii) The  Regional Voice and Engagement; (iv) Publications; 
(v) Knowledge Platforms and Networks.  

cations: articles, briefs and reports. 
Managing newsletters subscription 
of some 12,000 subscribers sending 
out some 900,000 emails. Full record 
detailed in this section.

Visibility, 
Networking 
and Capacity 
Building

The Future of MENA 
Development Path: 
Risks and Opportunities 
in an Emerging World Order
 
ERF 29th Annual Conference

May 4-6 | Cairo, Egypt | Hybrid

While the Middle East and North 
Africa (MENA) region suffers from 
several structural characteristics 
related to the diversification of their 
economies, the quality of economic 
and political institutions, and high 
levels of inequality, poverty, youth 
unemployment and informality, it is 
facing several external shocks that 
add another layer of complexity to 
its development path. Thus, the 29th 

ERF Annual Conference chiefly fo-
cused on both the risks and oppor-
tunities faced by this region in such 
a changing and challenging environ-
ment. Moreover, it shed the light on 
the importance of reorganizing pri-
orities and adopting active economic 
and social policies at both the short 
and long-term horizons, especially 
in terms of digital transformation, 

ERF 29th 
Annual Conference

 in numbers

25
PLENARY 

& PARALLEL 
SESSIONS

430
PARTICIPANTS 

FOR BOTH ONLINE 
& IN-PERSON

120
AUTHORS 

OF PAPERS
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green economy, and fintech that 
are indispensable for a new develop-
ment model.

Under this overarching theme re-
garding the risks and opportunities 
of MENA’s development path, the 
29th Annual Conference articulated 
the issues in question in the context 
the plenary sessions, the special 
panels and a select number of the 
parallel sessions. 

The ERF 29th Annual Conference: 
The Future of MENA Development 
Path: Risks and Opportunities in an 
Emerging World Order was held at 
Nile University, Zayed, Cairo, Egypt 
during the period 4 – 6 May, 2023 . 

The conference brought together 
200 participants together in person 
and 230 online (total 430 partici-
pants). ERF gratefully acknowledg-
es the hosting of the ERF 29th An-
nual Conference by Nile University.

The conference featured seven ple-
nary sessions and 18 parallel ses-
sions providing a platform for some 
50 papers by more than 120 authors 
competitively selected through a ro-
bust refereeing process. Full confer-
ence agenda accessible online. Six 
research papers, were particularly 
acknowledged as part of the ERF 
Best Paper Award process celebrat-
ing excellence and unveiling out-
standing performance. 

On the occasion of the ERF 29th 
Annual Conference, ERF also orga-

nized two pre-conference  events on 
May 3rd, namely: one special event 
featuring the ERF’s Micro Data Shar-
ing Initiative – Launch of the Egyp-
tian Industrial Firm Behavior Sur-
vey (EIFBS) Dataset (2020/2021)
and one consultation on the role of 
MSMEs in fostering inclusive and 
equitable economic growth in the 
context of clean energy in MENA 
which covers six countries marking 
the launch of the ERF-IDRC multi-
year project. 

Furthermore, two conferences 
marking the successful completion 
of two major ERF programs in part-
nership with IDRC Stabilization and 
Adjustment: Towards Inclusive and 
Sustainable Policies in MENA on 3 
May featuring six country studies 
and Carnegie Corporation - Trans-
Regional Research on Private Sector 
Development, Digitization and Dis-
ruptive Technologies in MENA and 
SSA on 5 May, 2023 during which 
four MENA case studies and the 
regional report produced under the 
ERF-Carnegie project on state busi-
ness relations in the MENA region 
were shared. 

The conference brought together 
key stakeholders who have impor-
tant roles to play in shaping new re-
search findings, paving new policy 
directions, and initiating innovative 
practices in the areas of private 
sector development and disruptive 
technologies.

88,000 +
CONFERENCE WEB 
PAGE VIEWS (JUNE 2023)

HASSAN ALY

OMAR RAZZAZ

ADNAN MAZAREI

IBRAHIM ELBADAWI
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last decade, how risky is the 
current development path in 
MENA, and especially in highly 
indebted Egypt, Jordan, Leba-
non, Morocco, Sudan, and Tu-
nisia?

•	 How to avoid financial crises 
and recessions, and initiate and 
begin to sustain a higher, more 
inclusive, and more sustainable 
growth path?

•	 The focus should be on three 
main policy spaces and how 
they connect: (i) debt workouts 
and stabilization measures; (ii) 
innovative economic, social, and 
climate- related structural re-
forms; and (iii) political reform 
and government accountability.

•	 How can the proposed reforms 
add up to a coherent MENA 
specific program of progress, 
adapted to the realities and chal-
lenges of our times? What are 
the main recommendations to 
national governments, and to 
the regional and international 
communities?

This session reflected on the key 
findings of the report and responses 
from senior policy makers from the 
region and regional and global de-
velopment partners, covering issue 
of the financial risks, the contours of 
national salvation plans that can re-
duce those risks, and how economic 
growth can be at the centre of the 
new reform agenda. In addition, the 
panel reflected on short and medi-
um-term reforms that can improve 
short-term prospects, and help ig-
nite a virtuous cycle of progress as 
well as longer terms sustainability 
issues. 

Communications & Outreach

Plenary 1 – Embarking on 
a Path of Renewal – MENA 
Commission on Stabilization 
and Growth – Perspectives and 
Feedback from the Policy Com-
munity

In the chaotic global post-COVID-19 
economy, with the ongoing war in 
Ukraine, the challenge of adjust-
ing to the global stagflation that is 
engulfing the world is particularly 
hard for the oil importing countries 
of the Middle East and North Africa 
(MENA) region. Public debts are 
rising fast towards unsustainable 
levels. Already, high interest rates, 
currency devaluation and inflation 
are combining to lower economic 
growth, increase poverty, and put 
more stress on a battered middle-
class, leading to a rise of social un-
rest.

A regional commission of experts, 
working under the auspices of the 
ERF, and the Finance for Develop-
ment Lab (FDL), was asked to evalu-
ate the macro-economic risks ahead, 
and to make recommendations on 
the best course correction to avoid 
them. After an elaborate process of 
analysis, consultation, and delibera-
tion, a regional report was prepared, 
with the aim to convey coherent and 
comprehensive messages about the 
risks and opportunities of the re-
gion’s development path, and that is 
anchored around the following ques-
tions:
•	 In light of the recent major mac-

roeconomic shocks, coming 
on the heels of a disappointing 
growth performance over the 

A welcome statement by Prof. Has-
san Aly, Dean of School of Business 
and Chairman of the ERF Board of 
Trustees, Prof. Wael Akl, President, 
Nile University and Dr. Ibrahim El-
badawi, Managing Director (ERF) 
was shared at the outset inaugurat-
ing the conference. 

The session featured keynote speak-
er: Dr. Ibrahim Elbadawi, Managing 
Director presenting the key find-
ings of the ERF- FDL Policy Report  
- Embarking on a Path of Renewal: 
MENA Commission on Stabiliza-
tion and Growth and distinguished 
policy panel: H.E. Dr. Omar Razzaz, 
Former Prime Minister, Jordan and 
Mr. Arjan de Haan, Senior Program 
Specialist, International Develop-
ment Research Center (IDRC) 

Plenary 2 – Embarking on 
a Path of Renewal – MENA 
Commission on Stabilization 
and Growth – Research In-
sights – Insights into Future 
Directions

The ERF-FDL report on Embarking 
on a Path of Renewal finds that while 
some reduction in government ex-
penditure is unavoidable, much of 
the political capital invested in ad-
justing to the current macro shocks 
and to high indebtedness should 
go towards improving growth pros-
pects. Several dimensions of the 
challenge can be highlighted:

•	 Public expenditure should be re-
oriented to social protection and 
pro-growth spending. To what 
extent can debt restructuring 
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help achieve these goals? Can 
countries count on more coop-
eration between the IMF and the 
World Bank in shaping longer 
term growth-focused adjustment 
programs?

•	 How to adapt the growth agenda 
to new global circumstances? 
Global conditions are not favor-
able. But there are new possi-
bilities. Export-led growth can 
get boosted by the delocaliza-
tion of value chains close to the 
GCC and Europe. Digitalization 
can improve labor productivity. 
Green growth needs to focus on 
adaptation but can also develop 
comparative advantage in green-
energy intensive products.

•	 There seems to be enormous 
new opportunities to expand re-
gional cooperation that can be 
mobilized in support of reform-
ist national programs on climate 
adaptation, technology, food se-
curity, energy.

•	 Political leaders need to lead the 
reform effort. They need to mo-
bilize winners and compensate 
losers. Improved trust in institu-
tions and confidence about the 
future can support collective ac-
tion and generate a virtuous pro-
cess of progress on all fronts.

In light of these findings, this ses-
sion drew the outlines of a research 
agenda that can take a deep dive to 
ultimately generate knowledge that 
can enlighten the policy debate with 
evidence and rigorous analysis.

Chairman & Moderator: Dr. Ishac 
Diwan, Finance for Development 

of Practice of International Develop-
ment, Edmund A. Walsh School of 
Foreign Service, Georgetown Uni-
versity.

Plenary 3 – Global View – A 
Panoramic Perspective of Risks 
and Opportunities

Since 2020, the MENA region has 
been subject to several external 
shocks. First, these economies have 
been severely affected by the pan-
demic that led to a global contrac-
tion of 3.6% and caused a decline in 
global trade by 8.1%. The COVID-19 
shock also revealed the fragility of 
these economies, especially at the 
macroeconomic level.  The debt ra-
tios reached crisis-proportion levels 
in several major MENA countries 
outside the GCC, while continuing 
to face increasingly limited fiscal 
space. Second, the ensuing slow-
down of oil prices exacerbated an al-
ready precarious and unsustainable 
macroeconomic stance, especially in 
populous oil-dependent economies 
of the region. Finally, while not fully 
recovered from the pandemic, the 
war on Ukraine led to global conse-
quences, including sharp inflation-
ary spikes, food shortages, disrup-
tions of finance, trade and supply 
chains all over the world.   In view 
of its heavy dependence on tourism 
and food imports from Russia and 
Ukraine, the shock has been much 
stronger for MENA. 

Moreover, available evidence on 
heat waves, water scarcity and sea 
level rise suggest that the agenda 

MARY KAWAR

ADEL BEN YOUSSEF

HÉLÈNE DJOUFELKIT

MAHMOUD MOHIELDIN

Lab & ERF. Research Panel: Dr. Ad-
nan Mazarei,Peterson Institute for 
International Economics; Prof. Adel 
Ben Youssef: University of Nice 
Sophia-Antipolis & ERF; Dr. Hafez 
Ghanem: Former Vice President, 
Eastern & Southern Africa; Prof. El-
len Lust: University of Gothenbur; 
Prof. Shantayanan Devarajan, Prof. 
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of environmental sustainability and 
mitigation and adaptation to climate 
change are likely to be particularly 
challenging for the case of MENA.  
This coupled with the high social 
mobilization that continues to shape 
the socio-political landscape since 
the Arab Spring, is bound to compli-
cate policy making and development 
planning in the region.  However, 
the region has good prospect should 
it embrace an inclusive and creative 
development discourse, prioritiz-
ing SDGs, exploiting the emerging 
digital technology and expanding 
economic space through bottom up, 
self-reinforcing regional integration.
Against this backdrop, this plenary 
examined the following questions:

•	 Where is globalization and de-
velopment strategy heading in 
the wake of post-covid-19, the 
war on Ukraine and beyond?

•	 What are the main tenets of the 
emerging development model 
under the emerging digitech 
economic order?

•	 How might the new develop-
ment model be adapted to the 
challenges and prospects that 
are most salient to the MENA 
region?

Chairman & Moderator: Dr. Mah-
moud Mohieldin, Climate Change 
Champion & ERF. Keynote Speaker: 
Dr. Jeffrey Sachs, Distinguished 
Economist, Academic, Public Policy 
Analyst. Lead Commentators: H.E. 
Rania Al-Mashat Minister of Inter-
national Cooperation, Egypt; Prof. 
Klaus Schmidt-Hebbel, Universidad 

ongoing digitally- based technologi-
cal revolution. In this context, the 
plenary asked the following specific 
questions:  
•	 How much progress have coun-

tries made in harnessing digital 
technologies?

•	 What has been the impact on 
their economies and societies?

•	 What are the main constraints 
in the MENA countries that 
may have slowed down the pace 
of structural transformation in 
their economies and benefiting 
more from digital technologies?

•	 What are the critical policy and 
investment initiatives concern-
ing digitalization of economy 
that would need to be seriously 
considered by policy makers in 
the region in order to achieve 
a higher and more inclusive 
growth in the coming decade?

•	 What kind of research and eval-
uation work is needed in MENA 

del Desarrollo, Chile; Mrs. Saba 
Nabil Almubaslat, Regional Direc-
tor, Ford Foundation, Prof. Hassan 
Hakimian, Hamad Bin Khalifa Uni-
versity & ERF. 

Plenary 4 – Challenges and 
Opportunities – Knowledge 
Economy and Digital Trans-
formation: Focus on Knowl-
edge Economy Useful Insight to 
Inspire Future Research in the 
Region

There is a broad consensus among 
the academic and development pol-
icy communities that digital trans-
formation will have a major impact 
on developing economies in general 
and MENA countries in particular.

Two new policy reports by the ERF 
and UNDP (Fardoust and Nabli, 
2022) and the World Bank (Cusolito 
et al, 2022) have reviewed progress 
of MENA countries in digitalization, 
its impact so far on their economies 
as well as challenges they face in un-
leashing its potential while mitigat-
ing its adverse effects.

In view of the challenges facing de-
veloping countries in the coming 
decade, ranging from slowdown in 
growth and rising debt and high 
youth unemployment to climate 
change, this plenary would discuss 
how policy makers in MENA coun-
tries could address these challenges 
and position their economies and to 
partake in the potentially tremen-
dous development potential of the 

Communications & Outreach
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countries to understand better 
the impact of digital technolo-
gies on the economies’ growth 
and inequality and thereby sup-
port better policy-making?

•	 How can the MENA region de-
velop a network of research cen-
ters, , think tanks, private enter-
prises, and community groups 
to increase the stock of relevant 
and impactful knowledge about 
digitalization of economies and 
emerging lessons of experi-
ence?

Chairman & Moderator: Dr. Mary 
Kawar, Former Minister for Plan-
ning, Jordan. Keynote Speakers: Dr. 
Mustapha Nabli, North Africa Bu-
reau of Economic Studies & ERF and 
Prof. Shahrokh Fardoust, College of 
William and Mary & ERF. Panelists: 
Prof. François Bourguignon, École 
des Hautes Études en Sciences So-
ciales, Paris, Prof. Ahmed Ghoneim, 
Professor, Faculty of Economics and 
Political Sciences, Cairo University 
and Mrs. Paola Pagliani, Regional 
Programme Coordinator, UNDP

Plenary 5 – Cryptocurrencies 
and Central Bank Digital Cur-
rencies (CBDCs): Between 
Myth and Reality

As the pioneer of all cryptocurren-
cies, Bitcoin emerged as a solution 
to the global development issues 
just after the 2008 global financial 
crisis outbreak. The primary de-
velopmental concerns for the Bit-
coin proponents are still the mon-
etary policy practices by the central 

banks. Since then, cryptocurren-
cies have increased in number and 
claimed to provide various digital 
solutions for the issues of financial 
systems. Some of these solutions are 
more substantiated than others. But 
certainly, there are private solutions 
and hence pose a challenge to the 
solutions traditionally provided and 
designed by the central banks. Cen-
tral banks had perceived such a chal-
lenge very early with the advent of 
cryptocurrencies and started devel-
oping their alternatives, namely Cen-
tral Bank Digital Currencies (CB-
DCs). Among many others, CBDCs 
have lots of developmental benefits 
depending on the economic devel-
opment level of a country, including 
the cost of managing and transfer-
ring funds, technological efficiency, 
financial inclusion, preventing illicit 
activity, protection of money as a 
public utility, the safety of payments 
systems, preservation of seignior-
age income. These are still potential 
but likely to occur disruptively in the 
near future. Thus, this panel focused 
on:

•	 What are the monetary policy 
implications of CBDCs, and how 
are the developing countries 
and MENA countries likely to 
be affected? How will the global 
monetary policy coordination 
change with CBDCs?

•	 Will Cryptocurrencies and CB-
DCs coexist, and how much will 
they cater to the needs of the 
market and the states?

•	 How will the CBDCs and cryp-
tocurrencies change the doing 
business in financial markets 

ERF 29th 
Annual Conference
Videos Recordings

WATCH THE PLENARY 
SESSIONS

WATCH THE PARALLEL 
SESSIONS

WATCH 
THE INTERVIEWS

CONFERENCE PARTICIPANTS

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PL7wPmMd4LnDCGWIgmzgbbcHqXn_NBlYAi
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and affect the competition, 
M&As, especially in banking?

•	 Will CBDCs help with more 
micro-targeted developmental 
policies? Will Blockchain-based 
private coins foster trust in de-
velopmental policies? How do 
they help to reach SDGs?

•	 From a development perspec-
tive, how can FinTech solutions, 
including cryptocurrencies and 
CBDCs, lead to the financial in-
clusion of both households and 
firms?

•	 What is the new global gover-
nance structure for the future of 
money? How does digitalization 
affect governance and regula-
tions within and across coun-
tries?

•	 Is the Central Bank digital cur-
rency feasible for MENA coun-
tries? What are the financial and 
legal requirements needed for 
such a new product?

Chairman & Moderator: Prof. Has-
san Aly, Dean of School of Business, 
Nile University & ERF.  Speakers:  
Prof. Stephen Cecchetti, Brandeis 
International Business School; Prof. 
Ahmet Faruk Aysan, Hamad Bin 
Khalifa University, Qatar; Prof. Da-
vid Lee, School of Business, Singa-
pore University of Social Sciences. 

Plenary 6 – Commemorat-
ing Prof. Ali Abdel-Gadir Ali 
Contributions to Development 
Policy in the Arab World

This session honoured the legacy of 
the late Prof. Ali Abdel Gadir Ali as a 
development thinker, distinguished 

professor of economics and senior 
affiliate of ERF.  The Arab and Afri-
can economic communities lost one 
of the most prominent Sudanese and 
Arab economists and thinkers.  Prof. 
Ali’s long standing career teaching 
economics at Khartoum and Gezira 
Universities in Sudan influenced the 
lives of many generations in Sudan. 
His leadership roles at the various 
Arab and African development in-
stitutions, in addition to his seminal 
research contributions to leading 
research networks in Africa and 
MENA, contributed to highly influ-
ential publications and policy discus-
sions on Arab and African develop-
ment policy issues.  He published 
widely on governance, conflict and 
peace-building, economic reforms 
and most notably on poverty and 
inequality agenda.  He was not only 
a respected high profile academic 
researcher but he was also a pas-
sionate advocate in public forums 
for commitment to the fight against 
poverty and inequality. 

The session featured presenta-
tions and reflections by his friends 
and professional colleagues, who 
worked and collaborated with him 
on research and policy debates 
throughout his illustrious career.

Chairman & Moderator: Dr. Ibra-
him El Souri, Retired Ambassador 
and Former Advisor to the former 
Arab League SG on Arab National 
Security and Combating Terrorism. 
Speakers: Dr. Ibrahim Elbadawi, 
Managing Director, ERF; Dr. Kha-
lid Abu Ismail, UN Economic and 
Social Commission for Western Asia 
& ERF, Prof. Gouda Abdel-Khalek, 

Faculty of Economics & Political Sci-
ence, Cairo University; Prof. Samir 
Makdisi, American University of 
Beirut & ERF. 

Plenary 7 – Green Economy 
and Energy Transition – Focus 
on Growth and Development

The United Nations defines the 
green economy as “low carbon, re-
source efficient and socially inclu-
sive”.  At the MENA region level, 
there is an urgent need to adopt 
mitigation and adaptation strategies 
in order to meet its commitments 
in environmental agreements and 
avoid the negative consequences of 
climate changes. Moreover, the lat-
ter will exacerbate other structural 
challenges related to water scarcity, 
energy security, and political stabil-
ity that affect the development of 
MENA countries in the long-run. 
This plenary examined the follow-
ing questions:
•	 Bearing in mind the nature of 

MENA exports, specialization 
and patterns on economic inter-
actions among the countries in 
the region, how can these coun-
tries reduce carbon emissions? 
How can the resources of these 
economies be re-allocated more 
efficiently to achieve a greener 
economy? What are the likely 
consequences on oil exporters in 
the region if fossil fuels become 
stranded assets? What are the 
likely consequences on coun-
tries in the region that depend 
on remittances, exports and de-
velopment aid from the oil pro-
ducing countries in the region? 

Communications & Outreach
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What are the expected risks of 
this possibility and how best to 
mitigate them?

•	 What is the nature of public and 
private investments that will 
lead to reduced carbon emis-
sions and pollution and prevent 
the loss of biodiversity? How 
much investment is needed to 
adapt to the likely consequences 
of climate change in the region? 
How would these investments 
in adaptation programs reduce 
the expected costs of climate 
change disasters if nothing is 
done to mitigate and invest in 
adaptation programs to the like-
ly climate change impacts?

•	 What is the nature of poli-
cies implemented so far in the 
MENA region to reduce carbon 
emissions and pollution? How 
effective were they and what are 
the constraints and challenges 
impeding their efficient imple-
mentation?

•	 What is the role of international 
donors in achieving such goals? 
what specific and special adap-
tation programs are needed in 
the region and why? What is the 
cost of these programs? What 
sources of funds are available 
domestically and internation-
ally to tap into? What share and 
in what programs should inter-
national donors invest in the 
region to help them deal with 
climate change?

•	 From a socioeconomic perspec-
tive, what are the most likely 
impacts of climate change in the 
region given its food security 
vulnerability, water shortages, 
sea level rise, high tempera-

tures. What vulnerable groups 
are likely to suffer most from 
climate change? How to adopt 
more proactive policies that 
would help curb or moderate 
these negative effects?

•	 How can the region meet grow-
ing energy demands in cleaner 
and more affordable ways? How 
to support the transition from 
fossil fuels to clean and renew-
able energy? Who are the main 
players, what motivates them 
and how to influence their 
choices and behavior? Who are 
the main beneficiaries and how 
to make it more inclusive?

Chairman & Moderator: Prof. Hala 
Abou Ali, Faculty of Economics & 
Political Science, Cairo University 
& ERF. Speakers: Prof. Atif Kubursi, 
McMaster University & ERF; Dr. 
Homi Kharas, Brookings Institution, 
Dr. Kamiar Mohaddes, Macroecon-
omist, Judge Business School, Uni-
versity of Cambridge & ERF  and  
Dr. Hélène Djoufelkit, Director, Eco-
nomic Diagnostics and Public Policy 
Department, AFD. 

ERF acknowledges support from 
Agence Francaise de Development 
(AfD) to climate change and south-
ern participation track during the 
ERF 29th Annual Conference.

Celebrating Excellence – ERF 
29th Annual Conference Best 
Papers Award!

In keeping with ERF tradition to 
unveil talent, raise profile of young 
researchers, encourage innovative 
approaches to address key regional 
challenges, six teams were awarded 
Best Papers Award during the ERF 
29th Annual Conference Closing 
Plenary.  ERF extends special con-
gratulations and best wishes to all 
in their pursuit of their career.  Con-
gratulations to all!  Best Paper are:

•	 The Greater Beast: Weather-
related and Health Disasters in 
MENA, Eman Moustafa and Ami-
ra El-Shal

•	 Oil Shocks and Financial Stability 
in MENA Countries, Ahmed H. 
Elsayed, Kazi Sohag and Ricardo 
M. Sousa

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-greater-beast-weather-related-and-health-disasters-in-mena/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-greater-beast-weather-related-and-health-disasters-in-mena/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-greater-beast-weather-related-and-health-disasters-in-mena/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/oil-shocks-and-financial-stability-in-mena-countries/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/oil-shocks-and-financial-stability-in-mena-countries/
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•	 Distributional Impacts of the 
Russia–Ukraine Crisis: The Case 
of Egypt, Shireen AlAzzawi and 
Vladimir Hlasn

•	 Which Policies Induce Structural 
Change in MENA Countries? 
Evidence from Macro and Micro 
Data, Jala Youssef

•	 Cartels in Infrastructure Procure-
ment – Evidence from Lebanon, 
Mounir Mahmalat and Wassim 
Maktabi

•	 Who Pay Bribes and How Much? 
Gender and Firm-Level Corrup-
tion in MENA and Egypt, Amira 
El-Shal

GCC Economies in an Era of 
Energy Transition
 
Third ERF GCC Conference

October 30 – 31 | Riyadh, Saudi 
Arabia | Hybrid

This conference was hosted by the 
King Abdullah Petroleum Studies 
and Research Center (KAPSARC) 
in Riyadh, 30 – 31 October 2023. It 
aimed to build on the previous two 
events and to solidify GCCERI as a 
regular platform for research and 
policy dialogue. 

The conference mainly focused on 
diversification challenges and op-
portunities within the hydrocarbon 
sector in the light of the looming 
risks of stranded assets, but also the 
potential for integrating the hydro-
carbon sector into the emerging de-
carbonization and energy transition 
regime. Moreover, the conference 
also addressed other associated re-
search and policy agenda, including 

the macroeconomic impacts of di-
versification and energy transition; 
as well as the implications of energy 
transition on the private sector and 
labor markets of the region.

The conference featured four plena-
ry sessions: Plenary 1: Energy Tran-
sition and the GCC Future Develop-
ment Strategy; Plenary 2, Product 
Space and within Hydrocarbon di-
versification potential; Plenary 3:  In-
novation and Technological Change 
in GCC Hydrocarbon Sector; Ple-
nary 4: Celebrating Excellence and 
Regional Future Outlook: Challeng-
es and Opportunities – COP27 and 
beyond. 

The conference also hosted four 
special panels of experts dealing 
with diverse topics ranging from: 
Panel Session (A) - Renewable Ener-
gies in GCC and the Diversification 
of the Economy; Special Panel (B) - 
The potential of energy efficiency in 
GCC countries; Special Panel ( C ) 
– Macroeconomic agenda for decar-
bonization and energy transitions;  
Special Panel (D) - Labor Markets 
and Private Sector Focus. 

Four parallel sessions showcased 
16 competitively selected research 

papers contributing innovative ideas 
and policy options contributing to 
the ongoing discussions and debates 
pertaining to five main tracks: Fiscal 
and Monetary Aspects of Energy 
Transitions; Energy Transitions, 
Growth and Economic Diversifica-
tion; Special Session on Kuwait; Cli-
mate Change and Renewable Ener-
gy; Energy Transition and Finance. 
The hybrid arrangements brought 
together 88 participants online and 
in person. conference Full confer-
ence details and agenda accessible 
online. 

Following the conference and in 
preparation for COP 28, a Special 
ERF Session was convened on 4 
November as part of the 17th An-
nual Conference of the Arab Society 
for Economic Research (ASFER) 
hosted by Mohammed Bin Rashed 
School of Government in Dubai 
featuring key messages emanating 
from the GCC conference delibera-
tions. 
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https://erf.org.eg/publications/distributional-impacts-of-the-russia-ukraine-crisis-the-case-of-egypt/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/distributional-impacts-of-the-russia-ukraine-crisis-the-case-of-egypt/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/distributional-impacts-of-the-russia-ukraine-crisis-the-case-of-egypt/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/which-policies-induce-structural-change-inmena-countries-evidence-from-macro-and-micro-data/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/which-policies-induce-structural-change-inmena-countries-evidence-from-macro-and-micro-data/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/which-policies-induce-structural-change-inmena-countries-evidence-from-macro-and-micro-data/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/which-policies-induce-structural-change-inmena-countries-evidence-from-macro-and-micro-data/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/cartels-in-infrastructure-procurement-evidence-from-lebanon/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/cartels-in-infrastructure-procurement-evidence-from-lebanon/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/who-pay-bribes-and-how-much-gender-and-firm-level-corruption-in-mena-and-egypt/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/who-pay-bribes-and-how-much-gender-and-firm-level-corruption-in-mena-and-egypt/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/who-pay-bribes-and-how-much-gender-and-firm-level-corruption-in-mena-and-egypt/
https://erf.org.eg/events/gcc-economies-in-an-era-of-energy-transition-third-erf-gcc-conference/
https://erf.org.eg/events/gcc-economies-in-an-era-of-energy-transition-third-erf-gcc-conference/
https://erf.org.eg/app/uploads/2023/10/1698307327_671_428293_gcc_conferenceagenda_final.pdf
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Workshops 
and Webinars
In 2023, a number of ERF large pro-
grams came to successful fruition. 
By design, from the outset, engag-
ing with key stakeholders was built 
in all consultations throughout the 
lifetime of the programs. To ensure 
quality production, peer review 
workshops are held consistently to 
provide technical input to ensure 
relevance of policy question inves-
tigated, adoption of robust method-
ology and clarity of policy options 
and recommendations. At project 
end, relevant country specific policy 
dialogue or region-wide conferences 
are held to exchange lessons learnt 
and maximize on outreach and im-
pact. 

Multi-stakeholder 
Engagement 
Platform

ERF multi-stakeholder engagement 
platform provides for an effective 
and efficient modality convening 
key civil society actors, researchers 
and policymakers, to discuss and de-
bate research findings and potential 
policy options. This year focus has 
been primarily on: macroeconomic 
challenges, social protection, labor 
markets and development, political 
economy of transformation, digital 
transformation and climate change. 

Macroeconomic 
Challenges 

Stabilization and Adjustment: 
Towards Inclusive 
& Sustainable Policies 
in MENA

In some ways, the economic and fi-
nancial situations in several MENA 
countries resemble those that pre-
vailed in the late 1980s and early 
1990s. Back then, structural adjust-
ment programs managed to gradu-
ally reduce macro-imbalances, but 
the forced rollback of the state led 
to a worsening of state services, halt-
ing social mobility. At the same time, 
the economy was only liberalized in 
a selective manner, resulting in the 
development of a form of capitalism 
with limited competition and innova-
tion, which did not manage to gener-
ate sufficient inclusive growth.

The overall objective of the project 
has been to develop macro-econom-
ic scenarios with improved external 
and internal balances, and a program 
of structural reforms that can foster 
sustainable and inclusive growth 
paths, in Egypt, Lebanon, Tunisia, 
Morocco, Sudan and Jordan. The 
project is co-directed by a team from 
ERF and from Finance for Develop-
ment Lab (FDL), and it relies on a 
technical secretariat. The project is 
funded by IDRC 2022 – 2023 and is 
led by Dr. Ishac Diwan. 

Systematically, for each of the coun-
try studies, initial consultations with 
concerned national stakeholders 
were held at the project outset in Q1 

2023 to share and discuss the main 
focus and outline of each of the stud-
ies. The series of six country specific 
consultations webinars were sched-
uled as follows: Jordan | 16 January; 
Sudan | 22 January; Morocco | 23 
January; Egypt | 24 January; Tunisia 
| 26 January. 

The preliminary research findings 
benefited from a research review 
and discussion with peers in Q1 – 
Q2: Sudan 18 March | Sudan; Mo-
rocco 20 March | Morocco in part-
nership with the Policy Center for 
New South; Jordan 30 March | Jor-
dan; Egypt 4 April | Egypt; Lebanon 
5 April | Lebanon; Tunisia 11 April | 
Tunisia.
  

The end of project Regional Confer-
ence: Stabilization and Adjustment: 
Towards Inclusive and Sustainable 
Policies in MENA took place 3 May, 
2023 in Cairo, Egypt with online 
hybrid arrangements to extend out-
reach and engagement. The agenda 
featured the six final country re-
ports. A total of 85 participants took 
part in the conference.  

Growing Out of Debt: 
Perspectives from Developing 
Countries around The World
July 4 |  Webinar

Organized by ERF with FDL, Red-
Sur, and IDRC, the webinar served 
as a platform to present findings from 
recent research in low-income coun-
tries, highlight tensions and trade-
offs generated by the debt difficulties 

https://erf.org.eg/events/erf-29th-annual-conference-the-future-of-mena-development-path-risks-and-opportunities-in-an-emerging-world-order/
https://erf.org.eg/events/erf-29th-annual-conference-the-future-of-mena-development-path-risks-and-opportunities-in-an-emerging-world-order/
https://erf.org.eg/events/erf-29th-annual-conference-the-future-of-mena-development-path-risks-and-opportunities-in-an-emerging-world-order/
https://erf.org.eg/events/erf-29th-annual-conference-the-future-of-mena-development-path-risks-and-opportunities-in-an-emerging-world-order/
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Table 4. ERF Calendar of Events in 2023

Event Date

Ja
n.

Introduction to Stata and Sampling using GIS 7-10 Jan.

A New State of Mind: The Learning State 12 Jan.

Sudan and the Narrow Corridor 15 Jan.

Consultation Meeting: Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA – Jordan Case Study 16 Jan.

Preserving, Archiving, and Managing Social Science Data 17-19 Jan.

Consultation Meeting: Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA- Sudan Case Study 22 Jan.

Consultation Meeting: Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA- Morocco Case Study 23 Jan.

Consultation Meeting: Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA- Egypt Case Study 24 Jan.

Consultation Meeting: Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA- Morocco Case Study 26 Jan.

M
ar

.

State Business Relations in Algeria, Sudan and Ethiopia 11 Mar.

Inclusive Social Protection for Migrants, Refugees and Asylum Seekers 13 Mar.

Consultation Meeting: The Impact of the War in Ukraine: Food Security and Compounding Development Challenges 14 Mar.

Review of Preliminary Results Workshop: Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA - Sudan Case Study 18 Mar.

The Globe is under Climatic Stress 19 Mar.

Business, Government and the SDGs: The Role of Public- Private Engagement in Building a Sustainable Future 19 Mar.

Review of Preliminary Results Workshop: Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA – Morocco Case Study 20 Mar.

Review of Preliminary Results Workshop: Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA – Jordan Case Study 30 Mar.

A
pr

. Review of Preliminary Results Workshop: Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA – Egypt Case Study
4 Apr.

Review of Preliminary Results Workshop: Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA – Lebanon Case Study Lebanon at 
risk the uncertain road from a debt overhang to a new growth path

5 Apr.

Review of Preliminary Results Workshop: Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA – Tunisia Case Study 11 Apr.

M
ay

Regional Conference: Stabilization and Adjustment: Towards Inclusive and Sustainable Policies in MENA 3 May

Kick off meeting -Energy Transition in MENA 3 May

Trans-Regional Research on Private Sector Development, Digitization and Disruptive Technologies in MENA and SSA 5 May

ERF 29th Annual Conference: The Future of MENA Development Path: Risks and Opportunities in an Emerging 
World Order

4-6 May

ILO – ERF Launch Event Towards More Job-Rich Growth: The Case of Egypt 31 May

Communications & Outreach
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Table 4. ERF Calendar of Events in 2023

Event Date

Ju
n.

Expecting the Unexpected: Strengthening Fiscal Risk Management in the Middle East & North Africa 11 Jun.

MENA Economic Update: Altered Destinies 14 Jun.

Exploring the impacts of the war in Ukraine on Lower Income Countries – Final Review Workshop 27 Jun.

Ju
l.

Consultation Meeting: Energy Transition in MENA – The Case of Tunisia 3 Jul.

Webinar: Growing Out of Debt: Perspectives from Developing Countries Around The World 4 Jul.

Consultation Meeting: Energy Transition in MENA – The Case of Morocco 6 Jul. 

Consultation Meeting: Energy Transition in MENA – The Case of Egypt 12 Jul.

Consultation Meeting: Energy Transition in MENA – The Case of Sudan 13 Jul.

Consultation Meeting: Energy Transition in MENA – The Case of Lebanon 20 Jul.

Consultation Meeting: Energy Transition in MENA – The Case of Jordan 26 Jul.

Workshop on Social Insurance in Egypt 30 Jul.

Se
p.

In-depth Analysis of Panel surveys 4-6 Sep.

Dissemination Webinar of Sudan Labor Market Panel Survey 2022 (SLMPS 2022) 18 Sep.

The Impact of the War on Ukraine: Food Security & Compounding Development Challenges 19 Sep.

Book Launch: Retooling Development Aid in the 21st Century – The Importance of Budget Support 20 Sep.

FEMISE Annual Conference: Shifting paradigms: opportunities for a deeper EU-Mediterranean 
integration in a changing world

27-29 Sep.

O
ct

.

Resilience to Shocks and Pathways to Recovery: Perspectives from the Global South 10 Oct.

Roundtable discussion about Morocco’s renewable energy ecosystem with a focus on the food-water-energy nexus 11 Oct.

Resilience Building in Africa: navigating shocks and policy implications 11 Oct.

GCC Economies in an Era if Transition – Third GCC Conference 30-31 Oct.

N
ov

. Policy Conference on ‘Women Access to Labour Market in Egypt 6 Nov.

Reimagining Social Protection in MENA” Policy Conference 19-20 Nov.

Balancing Act: Jobs and Wages in the Middle East and North Africa When Crises Hit 29 Nov.

D
ec

.

Harmonizing Labor Force Surveys 26-28 Dec.
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across the countries studied, and ex-
plore policy recommendations from a 
Southern perspective.  

Social Protection

Workshop on:  
Inclusive Social Protection 
for Migrants, Refugees and 
Asylum Seekers 
March 13 | Cairo 

In partnership with UNICEF, meet-
ing convened at ERF offices to 
provide an opportunity for authors 
to share their respective research 
focus, proposed methodology and 
initial outlines of their respective pa-
pers. 

Improving Rigorous Evidence 
for Better Civic Engagement   
on Social Protection 
and Supporting Network’s 
Institutional Strengthening

ERF launched the Social Protection 
in Tunisia and Jordan project in 2020 
to explore the current landscape of 
social protection in the region and to 
consider how government and civil 
society can collaborate to build a 
new social contract with robust so-
cial protection for all. Extending the 
work to include Egypt was launched 
in 2022. The project is funded by the 
Ford Foundation 2020 – 2023 and is 
led by Dr. Ragui Assaad, Dr. Irene 
Selwaness and Dr. Caroline Krafft.  

 Workshop on  
Social Insurance
July 20 | Cairo | Hybrid 

This workshop was organized to 
present the preliminary results of 
the five research papers. 

Policy Conference on: 
Reimagining Social Protection 
in MENA
Nov. 19-20 |  Cairo | Hybrid

The conference aimed to encourage 
discussion of the current state of so-
cial insurance in Egypt, while reflect-
ing on and comparing it to the region-
al perspectives and findings obtained 
from Jordan and Tunisia. The confer-
ence attracted 109 participants. The 
agenda was designed to promote civic 

Communications & Outreach
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engagement, discuss policy solutions, 
disseminate, compare and contrast 
the different research findings across 
all three countries. 

Labor Markets 
and Development

ILO – ERF Launch Event:  
Towards More Job-Rich 
Growth: The Case of Egypt 
May 31 | Egypt

Through a partnership between ILO 
ADWA’ project and ERF two region-
al reports on jobs and growth were 

RAGUI ASSAAD

Selected Working Papers 
related to Policy Conference 

WHY IS SOCIAL IN-
SURANCE COVERAGE 
DECLINING IN EGYPT? 

A DECOMPOSITION 
ANALYSIS

SOCIAL INSURANCE 
FROM A REGIONAL 

PERSPECTIVE: EGYPT, 
JORDAN AND TUNISIA

https://erf.org.eg/app/uploads/2023/11/1700373536_923_246863_agenda_reimaginingsocial_web_nov18.pdf
https://erf.org.eg/app/uploads/2023/11/1700373536_923_246863_agenda_reimaginingsocial_web_nov18.pdf
https://erf.org.eg/publications/why-is-social-insurance-coverage-declining-in-egypt-a-decomposition-analysis/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/social-insurance-from-a-regional-perspective-egypt-jordan-and-tunisia/
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Policy Conference on:  
Women Access to Labor  
Market in Egypt 
Nov. 6 | Egypt 

Organized by ILO, the event aimed 
to share the findings of the Women 
Access to Labour Market in Egypt 
set of studies. The two studies dis-
cussing gender implications in the 
world of work in Egypt have been 
produced within the framework 
of the ILO joint project Promoting 
productive Employment and decent 
work for Women in Egypt, Jordan 
and Palestine funded by SIDA and 
the joint program on Promoting 
Decent Employment for Women 
through Inclusive Growth Policies 
and Investments in the Care Econ-
omy.

Political Economy 
of Transformation

Webinar on:  
State Business Relations, Cro-
nysim and the Role of Private 
Sector in Algeria, Sudan and 
Ethiopia
Mar. 11 | Webinar

Building on ERF work on the nature 
of state-business relations (SBR) in 
MENA countries, project investiga-
tions were extended to countries in 
the region and Africa, namely: Alge-
ria, Ethiopia, Iraq and Sudan. Study 
findings and results were shared and 
discussed among 44 participants.

Digital Transformation

Session on:  
Transregional Research on 
Private Sector Development, 
Digitization and Disruptive 
Technologies in MENA and 
SSA 
May 5 | Egypt | Hybrid

Marking successful completion of 
the project, four MENA case studies 
and regional report were presented 
to diverse research and policy audi-
ence. 

Climate Change

The Role of MSMEs in:  
Fostering Inclusive and Equi-
table Economic Growth in the 
Context of the Clean Energy 
Transition in MENA 

Kick-off meeting:  
Energy Project  
May 3 | Egypt | Hybrid

Project team convened to share 
country study focus, outline and 
data collections tools with a select 
group of experts and relevant stake-
holders. 

To draw the parameters of the coun-
try studies, a series of country spe-
cific consultations were convened 
online in Q2: Tunisia 3 July; Mo-
rocco 6 July; Egypt 12 July; Sudan 
13 July; Lebanon 20 July; Jordan 26 
July 2023. 

produced. The first report examines 
the relationship between the pace 
and pattern of growth and labour 
market outcomes in North Africa. 
The second provides an update to 
the first report and focuses on the 
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

In this context, the ILO- ERF event 
was organized to discuss the Egypt 
policy note, which builds on the find-
ings of the 2nd Report on Jobs and 
Growth with a view to providing pol-
icymakers and social partners with 
action-oriented recommendations 
to be implemented at country level 
in line with respective specificities, 
needs and challenges.

Dissemination Webinar of:  
Sudan Labor Market Panel 
Survey 2022 (SLMPS 2022)
Sep. 18 | Webinar 

To mark successful completion and 
launch of the SLMPS 2022, ERF held 
a dissemination event to introduce 
the SLMPS, outlining the details of 
the design of the survey, including 
the topics covered by this multi-pur-
pose household survey and the com-
plexities of the sampling. In addition, 
the event provided a platform to dis-
cuss key findings on the structure 
of the labor force and employment 
in Sudan among the research and 
policy communities. The event was 
also an opportunity for researchers 
to get an introduction to the SLMPS 
data.
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Regional Voice 
and Engagement
  
ERF is exceedingly recognized as 
the leading think tank in the region 
attracting national, regional and in-
ternational partnerships to engage 
with ERF network expertise and ex-
tend the regional voice prominently 
addressing pertinent issues on time-
ly basis. 2023 witnessed emerging 
interest for ERF affiliates effectively 
using this modality to further extend 
outreach of regional perspectives on 
global issues of interest. 

This modality catered to extend 
outreach and engagement of ERF 
network: Research Fellows and Af-
filiates; extend beyond the region 
to Africa, Europe and nurture part-
nerships with International Organi-
zations, namely International Mon-
etary Fund and The World Bank. 

ERF Network – 
Research Fellows & 
Affiliates-led events

Webinar on:  
The Globe Is Under Climatic 
Stress 
Mar. 19 | Webinar 

Nile University and ERF organized 
this special address by H.E. Dr. 
Abdulla Belhaif AlNuami, Former 
Minister of Climate Change and En-
vironment, United Arab Emirates, 
to address the pressing issues on 
climate change. Dr. Mahmoud Mo-

hieldin, Special Envoy on Financ-
ing the 2030 Agenda for Sustain-
able Development, United Nations 
acted as lead commentator. Session 
moderated by Dr. Hassan Aly, Dean 
Business School, Nile University 
and Chairman of the ERF Board of 
Trustees. 

Webinar on:  
Business, Government and the 
SDGs: The Role of Public-Pri-
vate Engagement in Building 
a Sustainable Future 
Mar. 19 | Webinar 

Business, Government and the 
SDGs: The Role of Public-Private 
Engagement in Building a Sustain-
able Future aims to analyze and 
challenge the roles and traditional 
realms of influence of national and 
local governments, and businesses 
at a critical juncture in terms of 
achieving sustainable development, 
faces when tackling the dual chal-
lenges of climate change and post-
COVID recovery. It establishes by 
evidence the necessity of adopting a 
holistic approach to sustainable de-
velopment, as reflected in the 2030 
UN Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs), that realizes that bold cli-
mate action should come within the 
broader lens of sustainability. It of-
fers arguments, case studies, and 
examples to showcase that neither 
national or local governments, nor 
companies, could afford to devi-
ate from the SDGs in the recovery 
from the current crisis. The analysis 
frames the debate of how a balance 
between people, planet, and profits 

can be achieved and how nations, 
regions and cities, and businesses, 
with their representative organiza-
tions, can achieve a sustainable re-
covery from the current global cri-
sis, and contribute to climate smart, 
resilient and inclusive development. 
Published by Palgrave MacMillan.

The panel brought together the 
authors: Dr. Mahmoud Mohieldin, 
Dr. Sameh Wahba, Maria Alejandra 
Gonzalez-Perez and Miral Shehata 
and lead commentators: Dr. Abla 
Abdel-Latif, Dr. Sarah El Khishin 
and Dr. Suzanna Elmassah. 

Webinar on:  
Retooling Development Aid in 
the 21st Century – The Impor-
tance of Budget Support- Book 
Launch
Sep. 20 | Webinar 

The book, published by Oxford 
University Press (OUP), 2023, high-
lights the need to revisit the role of 
budget support in delivering aid in 
an uncertain world and changing 
international financial architecture; 
examines how budget support has 
evolved from its controversial past, 
including debates over conditionali-
ty and unmet expectations; Provides 
extensive evidence on the effective-
ness of budget support to deliver fi-
nancing and support key economic 
reforms across a diverse set of coun-
tries; draws lessons learned for bud-
get support practice to strengthen 
its impact, and address critical chal-
lenges in supporting global public 

Communications & Outreach
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goods including addressing the ef-
fects of climate change, pandemics 
and fragility.

The panel brought together the au-
thors: Dr. Shahrokh Fardoust, Dr. 
Stefan G. Koeberle and Moritz Piat-
ti-Funfkrichen and lead commenta-
tors: Dr. Rabah Arezki and Dr. Mary.  

Extending Outreach 
to Africa and Europe

In the context of the partnership 
with AERC and the Partnership for 
Economic Policy (PEP), ERF orga-
nized three events:

Webinars on:  
The Impact of the War in 
Ukraine: Food Security and 
Compounding Development 
Challenges  
Mar. 14 |  Webinar

The workshop aimed to discuss the 
preliminary findings of three compo-
nents of the project: (i) Multi-coun-
try Global Vector Autoregression 
(GVAR) modelling; (ii) Computable 
general equilibrium, CGE, model-
ling, and (iii) Country case studies 
covering 8 countries; Egypt, Sudan, 

Morocco, Senegal, Kenya, Ethio-
pia, Mozambique and South Africa 
among authors and research ex-
perts in the field to improve the final 
output.  

Webinars on:  
Exploring the Impact of the 
War in Ukraine on Lower 
Income Countries 
 Jun. 27 | Webinar

The final review workshop was con-
vened to discuss the findings of the 
revised drafts of the three compo-
nents of the project. 

Webinars on:  
The Impact of the War in 
Ukraine: Food Security and 
Compounding Development 
Challenges  
Sep. 19 | Webinar

The webinar marked the final dis-
semination event focused on shar-
ing the key policy findings amongst 
policy experts in the field. 
 
In partnership with FEMISE and 
IEMED, ERF contributed to the de-
sign and organization of:  

FEMISE Annual Conference:  
Shifting Paradigms: 
Opportunities for a Deeper 
EU-Mediterranean Integration 
in a Changing World 
Sep. 27-29 | Spain 

The FEMISE conference was jointly 
organized by FEMISE, IEMED and 
ERF, addressing important regional 
issues such as the consequences 
of climate change, slow economic 
growth and increasing youth unem-
ployment, and the potential for the 
SMCs to exploit their comparative 
advantages to position themselves to 
meet economic, climate and human 
development challenges, while de-
veloping and strengthening a robust 
reciprocal, self-reinforcing, win-win 
partnership with the EU.  

The objectives of the FEMISE an-
nual conference were threefold:
•	 To bring forward issues that are 

of concern to the Euro-Mediter-
ranean region and more precise-
ly to explore how to turn chal-
lenges into opportunities for a 
deeper and closer partnership. 

•	 To exchange on how to build a 
Euro-Mediterranean region that 
is better integrated and resil-
ient to shocks while putting its 
young population at the heart of 
this partnership to allow them to 
play their role as the Mediterra-
nean Change Makers. 

•	 To explore ways through which 
this deeper integration between 
the EU and SMCs, notably en-
hanced trade and investments, 
could lead to better opportuni-
ties for the youth, providing im-

Featured Forum Article 

RETOOLING DEVELOPMENT 
AID IN THE 21ST CENTURY,

SHAHROKH FARDOUST , STEFAN G. KOEBERLE, 
MORITZ PIATTI-FÜNFKIRCHEN,  

LODEWIJK SMETS AND MARK SUNDBERG

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/11/07/retooling-development-aid-in-the-21st-century/
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portant inputs to Team Europe’s 
Initiative Jobs through Trade 
and Investment in the Southern 
Neighborhood.

Extending Platform to 
International Debates

ERF consistently plays a key role 
extending the regional voice and 
expertise to discuss and debate pub-
lications of international organiza-
tions such as the World Bank and 
IMF. 

Seminar on:  
A New State of Mind: 
The Learning State
 Jan 12 | Webinar

The report argued that the MENA 
region is facing important vulner-
abilities, which the current crises—
first the pandemic, then the war in 
Ukraine—have exacerbated. Prices 
of food and energy are higher, hurt-
ing the most vulnerable, and rising 
interest rates from the global tight-
ening of monetary policy are mak-
ing debt service more burdensome.
It is suggested that heightened un-
certainty, puts heavy demands on 
the state: to inform and coordinate 
individual action during a pandem-
ic; to sustain economic production 
through unprecedented cyclical 
swings; to protect the most vulner-
able from poverty; to dial back the 
rapid losses in schooling and ramp 
up the capacity of health systems. As 
never before, authorities must learn 
from the past, identify the state’s 

strengths and weaknesses, and be 
ready to change the direction of 
public policy towards increased ef-
fectiveness. 

In Part II of this report, authors 
are keen to re-open the conversa-
tion about governance, particularly 
about two of its core dimensions 
— transparency and accountability. 
Good measurement and transpar-
ent information can shape an un-
derstanding of challenges shared 
across different stakeholders, within 
and outside the state. Accountability 
aligns incentives for action. Togeth-
er, transparency and accountability 
are essential for a “learning state,” 
one that is well equipped to mea-
sure, experiment, and adjust policy 
action towards a common goal of in-
clusive and sustainable development 
— with reforms that require politi-
cal will but that are not necessarily 
costly fiscally. 

Webinar on:  
Expecting the Unexpected: 
Strengthening Fiscal Risk 
Management in the Middle 
East and North Africa 
Jun. 11 | Egypt | Hybrid 

This panel was rganized by the 
Egyptian Ministry of Finance, the 
Economic Research Forum and the 
International Monetary Fund.

The event marked the launch of a 
departmental paper on Managing 
Fiscal Risks in the Middle East and 
North Africa, prepared by IMF staff.

The panel discussion brought to-
gether IMF Deputy Manager Direc-
tor Antoinette Sayeh, Egyptian Min-
ister of Finance Dr. Mohamed Maait, 
Jordanian Minister of Finance Dr. 
Mohamad Al-Ississ and Arab Mon-
etary Fund Director General Dr. Ab-
dulrahman Al-Hamidy. It discussed 
the experience of low-and middle-
income countries in the region in 
managing fiscal risks, the challeng-
es they are facing in this area and 
avenues for reforms to strengthen 
the resilience of the region’s public 
finances to shocks. The panel dis-
cussion was moderated by Dr. Abla 
Abdel Latif, Director of the Egyptian 
Center for Economic Studies, and 
included time for questions from the 
audience.

 Seminar on:  
The World Bank’s MENA 
Economic Update – Altered 
Destinies 
Jun. 14 | Webinar 

The June report forecasts that 
growth in the region will be 3.0% in 
2023, almost half of 2022 (5.8%). The 
slowdown is concentrated in Gulf 
economies that benefitted from oil 
windfalls in 2022 (GDP growth fell 
from 7.3% in 2022 to 3.2% in 2023). 
In addition to falling incomes, the 
purchasing power of the people in 
MENA was also eroded by sharply 
increasing prices. Double-digit food 
inflation is weighing heavily on de-
veloping economies in the region, 
with the poor being hit hardest by 
food price hikes. More importantly, 

Communications & Outreach
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food inflation, even if temporary, 
may have lasting effects through 
generations.

Rising food prices are making it dif-
ficult for families to put meals on the 
table. The immediate effects of food 
insecurity can be a devastating loss 
of life, but even temporary increases 
in food prices can cause long-term 
irreversible damages to children. 
Rising food prices due to the war 
in Ukraine may have altered the 
destinies of hundreds of thousands 
of children in the region, setting 
them on paths to limited prosperity. 
The challenges are compounded by 
the inadequate child nutrition and 
health pre- COVID-19 pandemic. 
The report discusses policy options, 
highlighting the need for data for ef-
fective decision making.

ERF also organized and participated 
in a number of events held alongside 
The World Bank meetings in Octo-
ber in Morocco, in partnership with 
IDRC, ODI and MEI.

Resilience to Shocks and 
Pathways to Recovery:  

Perspectives
 from the Global South 
Oct. 10 | Morocco

The event brought together the 
contributions of several regional or-
ganizations to share knowledge and 
engage with the wider development 
community on how to mitigate, adapt 
to, and recover from shocks such as 
the impact of the War on Ukraine 

and related food security chal-
lenges, as well as dealing with debt 
sustainability challenges. The event 
built upon the findings of research 
carried out by ERF and other part-
ners conducted in other developing 
regions, such as Latin America and 
Sub-Saharan Africa.

Resilience-building in Africa:  
Navigating Shocks and Policy 
Implications 
Oct. 11 | Morocco

Organized by ODI, on the side of 
the World Bank meetings in Mo-
rocco, the event gathered a number 
of stakeholders and policy makers 
to discuss means to define effective 
strategies for building resilience in 
Africa through policy reform and 
implementation. The discussion was 
initiated following the presentations 
on the transformative research un-
dertaken by the IDRC in collabora-
tion with AERC, ERF, PEP and ODI.  

Roundtable discussion about:  
Morocco’s Renewable Energy 
Ecosystem with a Focus on the 
Food-water-energy Nexus
Oct. 11 | Morocco 

Organized by the Middle East In-
stitute (MEI), the event served as a 
second consultation to discuss the 
current status and context of the 
clean energy transition in Morocco, 
along with potential opportunities 
to enhance the role of micro, small, 

and medium enterprises (MSMEs) 
in fostering comprehensive and 
equitable economic growth in the 
country with key national experts.

Seminar on:  
Balancing Act: Jobs and Wages 
in the Middle East and North 
Africa When Crises Hit 
Nov.  29 | Webinar 

The Russian invasion of Ukraine. 
Commodity price volatility. The rise 
of global inflation and interest rates. 
Currency depreciations among in-
debted middle-income economies. 
And now, natural disasters. As a se-
quence of events, the consequences 
can be both tragic and long-lasting.

After analyzing the macroeconomic 
prospects of the Middle East and 
North Africa (MENA) Region, this 
edition of the regional Economic Up-
date assesses the human toll of mac-
roeconomic shocks in terms of lost 
jobs and deteriorating livelihoods 
of the people of MENA. Growth is 
forecast to decelerate in 2023 after 
experiencing an oil-price induced 
growth spurt in 2022 among the 
high-income oil exporters of the 
region. Yet as the region continues 
to recover from the impact of the 
COVID-19 shock and navigates the 
heightened volatility in its terms of 
trade, the region’s labor force is con-
tending with the ramifications for 
their livelihoods of the inflationary 
pressures associated with currency 
fluctuations in some countries.
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Co-Managing Editors: 
Romesh Vaitilingam, 
Ibrahim Elbadawi 
and Sherine Ghoneim

Editorial Board: 
Hala Abou-Ali, Ragui Assaad, Ishac 
Diwan, Abda El-Mahdi, Ibrahim 
Elbadawi, Jamal Haidar, Samir Makdisi, 
Kamiar Mohaddes, Sherine Ghoneim 
(ex-officio)

Policy Publications

ERF produced 82 policy publications 
including: six policy reports, 26 poli-
cy briefs and 50 policy articles.

ERF Policy Portal

The Forum: improving the 
economic policy debate in the 
MENA region
 

In October 2017, ERF launched The 
Forum, a policy portal for the Middle 
East and North Africa, with the aim 
of becoming ‘the platform’ for rich 
and relevant debates in the region on 
economic, social and political devel-
opment issues.

Most of the columns are commis-
sioned directly by the co-managing 
editors, but The Forum also posts 
some unsolicited columns. Lead-
ing economists who are interested 
in contributing a ‘research-based 
policy analysis and commentary’ – or 
simply a summary of their latest re-
search papers for a lay audience – are 
encouraged to communicate directly 
with the co-managing editors and the 
editorial board.

The Forum offer an opportunity for 
economists to write articles longer 
than newspaper op-eds (up to 1,500 
words) containing a degree of techni-
cal nuance, but which do not go into 
the same level of detail as a journal 
article. It provides an outlet for re-
searchers to air policy insights and 
arguments based either on an exist-
ing body of original research, or to 

comment on unfolding economic, so-
cial and political events.

On the supply side, the platform 
makes it easier for economists to 
contribute their knowledge to impor-
tant policy issues. On the demand 
side, it makes the knowledge of these 
researchers more accessible to the 
public, especially users of research 
in governments, international organ-
isations, academia and the private 
sector, as well as journalists and com-
mentators specialising in economics, 
finance, business, social affairs, de-
velopment and public policy.

The Forum’s founding editor was 
Mustapha Nabli and he was co-man-
aging editor with Romesh Vaitilin-
gam from the policy portal’s launch 
in October 2017. Since 2018, Ibrahim 
Elbadawi and Sherine Ghoneim have 
been co-managing editors alongside 
Romesh.

Communications & Outreach

The authors estimate that the mac-
roeconomic shocks of 2020-22 led to 
an additional 5.1 million individuals 
becoming unemployed in MENA. 
Will these shocks permanently scar 
the hard-working people of MENA? 
The report answers this question 
by highlighting the trade-offs facing 
labor markets when facing macro-
economic shocks. A critical trade-off 
pertains to the loss of jobs versus 
decreases in real incomes, neither 
of which is desirable. The report 
advocates for maintaining the flex-
ibility of real wages and discusses 
policy options to support the most 
vulnerable. 

Publications
ERF produced an impressive set of 
publications in 2023. Publications 
include 79 working papers, 14 refer-
eed journal articles in two volumes of 
Middle East Development Journal. 

The ERF website and knowledge 
portal provides gateway to ERF net-
work, publications, events, dataportal 
and policy portal – The Forum facili-
tating access to some 110,000+ users 
accessing ERF knowledge services. 

To maximize outreach, ERF man-
ages a newsletters subscription list of 
some 12,000 subscribers sending out 
some 900,000 emails in 2023. Full re-
cord detailed in this section. 

ROMESH VAITILINGAM

Check All ERF 
publications online

https://erf.org.eg/publications/
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over 300 contributors. Ten contribu-
tors have been particularly prolific, 
publishing at least eight columns to 
date:
•	 Rabah Arezki (Chief Econo-

mist and Vice President for 
Knowledge Management and 
Economic Governance at Afri-
can Development Bank Group) 
has written over 40 columns 
on macroeconomics, oil prices, 
competition policy, trust, struc-
tural transformation, the digital 
economy, climate change, the 
impact of Covid-19 and the im-
pact of the war against Ukraine 
(including 4 in 2023). 

•	 Caroline Krafft (Saint Cath-
erine University) has written 
26 columns on issues around 

gender, migration, refugees, 
education, housing, marriage, 
the impact of Covid-19 and the 
labour market in Egypt, Jordan 
and Tunisia. 

•	 Khalid Abu-Ismail (Chief of 
Economic Development and 
Poverty Section at the United 
Nations Economic and So-
cial Commission for Western 
Asia) has written 23 columns 
on poverty, inequality, wealth 
concentration, fiscal policy, aid 
effectiveness, conflict and the 
impact of Covid-19. 

•	 Ragui Assaad has written 19 
columns on labour markets 
in the region, including youth 
transitions, refugees, Jordan 
and human resource develop-
ment. 

•	 Simon Neaime (Director of the 
Institute of Financial Econom-
ics at the American University 
of Beirut) has written 11 col-
umns on fiscal and monetary 
policy, trade agreements, fi-
nancial stability and exchange 
rates. 

•	 Mohammad Reza Farzanegan 
(Philipps-Universität Marburg) 
has written ten columns on 
Iran, war and civil conflict, mi-
gration, pollution, inequality, 
environment and defence bud-
gets

•	 Daniel Lederman (World Bank) 
and colleagues have written ten 
columns on growth, debt, re-
form, healthcare, inflation, jobs 
and food insecurity.

•	 Chahir Zaki (University of Or-
léans) has written ten columns 
on jobs, skills, trade, productiv-
ity, innovation and growth. 

The rest of the editorial board con-
sists of Hala Abou Ali (Cairo Uni-
versity); Ragui Assaad (American 
University in Cairo and University 
of Minnesota); Ishac Diwan (Paris 
Sciences et Lettres and Columbia 
University); Abda El-Mahdi (UNI-
CONS Consultancy); Jamal Ibra-
him Haidar (American University 
in Cairo and Harvard University); 
Samir Makdisi (American Univer-
sity of Beirut); and Kamiar Mohad-
des (King’s College, University of 
Cambridge).

From when the policy portal was 
launched in October 2017 until the 
end of 2023, The Forum had pub-
lished more than 470 columns (in-
cluding 50 in 2023) written by well 

Article Author Month

Public banks and development in Egypt Jasmin Fouad and Chahir Zaki Jan. 

The grand waiting game: why Lebanon’s 
elites postpone compromise Mounir Mahmalat Feb. 

The impact of revolution and war on income 
inequality in Iran

Mohammad Reza Farzanegan	
and Mohammad Ali Kadivar Mar. 

How the crisis in Ukraine affects Egypt’s 
vulnerable families and children

May Gadallah and Nesma 
Mamdouh Apr. 

How can the digital economy benefit everyone 
in the Arab world—and prevent the region 
from falling farther behind?

Shahrokh Fardoust
and Mustapha K. Nabli May

Geopolitical and economic tension in the 21st 
century: Not your grandfather’s cold war Rabah Arezki Jun. 

Supporting employment opportunities for 
women in Egypt’s ICT sector

Ragui Assaad
and Irène Selwaness Jul. 

The human toll: Assessing the damage 
caused by revolution and war in Iran Mohammad Reza Farzanegan Aug. 

North Africa’s hydrogen mirage Rabah Arezki Sep. 

The India-Middle East-Europe economic 
corridor: an early assessment Steve L. Monroe Oct. 

The importance of budget support for 
progress on sustainable development

Shahrokh Fardoust , Stefan 
G. Koeberle , Moritz Piatti-
Fünfkirchen , Lodewijk Smets 
and Mark Sundberg Nov.

Challenges of GCC investment in the energy 
transition Héla Miniaoui Dec. 

Listing of Highest Accessible Forum Articles per Month, 2023

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/01/30/public-banks-and-development-in-egypt/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/02/14/the-grand-waiting-game-why-lebanons-elites-postpone-compromise/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/02/14/the-grand-waiting-game-why-lebanons-elites-postpone-compromise/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/03/12/the-impact-of-revolution-and-war-on-income-inequality-in-iran/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/03/12/the-impact-of-revolution-and-war-on-income-inequality-in-iran/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/04/04/how-the-crisis-in-ukraine-affects-egypts-vulnerable-families-and-children/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/04/04/how-the-crisis-in-ukraine-affects-egypts-vulnerable-families-and-children/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/05/02/how-can-the-digital-economy-benefit-everyone-in-the-arab-world-and-prevent-the-region-from-falling-farther-behind/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/05/02/how-can-the-digital-economy-benefit-everyone-in-the-arab-world-and-prevent-the-region-from-falling-farther-behind/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/05/02/how-can-the-digital-economy-benefit-everyone-in-the-arab-world-and-prevent-the-region-from-falling-farther-behind/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/06/20/geopolitical-and-economic-tension-in-the-21st-century-not-your-grandfathers-cold-war/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/06/20/geopolitical-and-economic-tension-in-the-21st-century-not-your-grandfathers-cold-war/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/07/03/supporting-employment-opportunities-for-women-in-egypts-ict-sector/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/07/03/supporting-employment-opportunities-for-women-in-egypts-ict-sector/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/08/22/the-human-toll-assessing-the-damage-caused-by-revolution-and-war-in-iran/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/08/22/the-human-toll-assessing-the-damage-caused-by-revolution-and-war-in-iran/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/09/18/north-africas-hydrogen-mirage/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/10/30/the-india-middle-east-europe-economic-corridor-an-early-assessment/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/10/30/the-india-middle-east-europe-economic-corridor-an-early-assessment/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/11/07/the-importance-of-budget-support-for-progress-on-sustainable-development/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/11/07/the-importance-of-budget-support-for-progress-on-sustainable-development/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/12/25/challenges-of-gcc-investment-in-the-energy-transition/
https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/12/25/challenges-of-gcc-investment-in-the-energy-transition/
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•	 Ishac Diwan (Paris School of 
Economics) has written nine 
columns on the pandemic, lock-
downs, education, cronyism, 
state capacity and Lebanon’s 
economic and political crisis.

•	 Samir Makdisi (American Uni-
versity of Beirut) has written 
eight columns on political econo-
my, regional development, Leba-
non and post-conflict reconstruc-
tion. 

The Forum has published columns 
in 34 broad areas of economic policy 
concerns. Topics that have received 
particularly extensive coverage 
include political economy (95 col-
umns); labour markets and human 
resources (91); growth and develop-
ment (90); business and productiv-
ity (62); inequality and poverty (62); 
conflict and instability (54); inter-
national trade (48); education (41); 
fiscal policy (40); oil and natural 
resources (38); gender (38); health-
care (35); institutions (31); structural 
transformation (29); migration and 
remittances (27); financial markets 
(25); climate change (22); and public 
spending (22).

Similarly, The Forum has published 
columns focusing on all countries in 
the region, as well as on particular 
groups of countries, such as the GCC, 
and on pan-regional, pan-African and 
global policy issues. Countries for 
which there has been particularly 
extensive coverage include Egypt 
(67 columns); Turkey (42); Lebanon 
(27); Tunisia (18); Jordan (18); Syria 
(16); Iran (16); and Sudan (8).

The Forum welcomes ideas for new 
contributors and policy questions on 
which research evidence can provide 
valuable insights.

Policy Briefs

ERF Policy Briefs seek to communi-
cate clear, research-based views on 
policy relevant topics in a concise 
manner derived mainly from ERF re-
search as well as other sources. Poli-
cy briefs strictly present solutions or 
actionable recommendations to eco-
nomic debates and policy problems. 
This year saw the publication of 26 
new policy briefs. ERF Policy Briefs 
can be accessed online. The full list 
of Policy Briefs published in 2023 is 
available in Annex C.

Policy Research 
Reports

ERF published 6 policy reports this 
year, of which, five are jointly pub-
lished with Deutsche Gesellschaft 
für Internationale Zusammenarbeit 
(GIZ) GIZ as an output of the joint 
project on Employment Promotion. 
The project aims to support the gen-
eration of information about the cur-
rent and future demands of the Egyp-
tian labour market and equipping 
relevant partners with high quality 
evidence which would support them 
in making labour market-oriented de-
cisions. The project aimed to produce 
sound research findings that aimed 
to address several topics related to 

the future of work, published during 
the national forums on the future of 
work in Egypt.

Edited Volumes

The Sudanese Labor 
Market in an Era
of Upheaval

Edited by:
Caroline Krafft and Ragui Assaad
Expected Publication date:
(2024)

The new book is a collection of pa-
pers that are the first analyses of 
the 2022 Sudan Labor Market Panel 
Survey (SLMPS). The SLMPS 2022 
is the first wave of a planned longitu-
dinal survey, the first labor force sur-
vey in Sudan since 2011, and the first 
nationally representative household 
survey of any kind since 2014. 

Communications & Outreach

Featured Policy 
Research Report

THE PROMISE 
OF INFORMATION 

AND COMMUNICATION 
TECHNOLOGY (ICT) JOBS 

IN EGYPT,
IRÈNE SELWANESS, RAGUI ASSAAD 

AND MONA EL-SAYED

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/11/07/retooling-development-aid-in-the-21st-century/
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Middle East 
Development 
Journal (MEDJ)

The Middle East Development Jour-
nal aims to deepen understanding 
of development in the Middle East 
and North Africa and strengthen 
the social science research com-
munity in the region. The journal 
emphasizes research falling under 
the heading of applied economics, 
although theoretical papers and 
contributions from related disci-
plines such as political science and 
sociology are also considered. Sub-
missions are actively sought from 
scholars within the region as well as 
worldwide. The ultimate goal of the 
journal is to contribute to the formu-
lation of policy through the provision 
of world-class analytical and empiri-
cal research. Submissions undergo 
a blind review with an average time 
from submission to first decision of 
fourteen weeks The journal accepts 
contributions on a wide range of top-
ics: analyses of particular problems 
or challenges confronting the region; 
evaluations of economic and social 
policies or programs implemented 
within, or relevant to, the region; ex-
plorations of progress within certain 
segments of the region’s population 
or locations; investigations of coun-
try-specific and cross-country issues; 
assessments of the impact of external 
factors; and comparisons with other 
regions. In all cases, submissions re-
ceive an initial editor screening and, 
if of sufficient merit, undergo a dou-
ble-anonymous peer review by two 
referees.

Letter 
from the Managing Editor

MEDJ is currently in its 16th year of 
publications, with around 240 papers 
published since its inception in 2008. 
The journal has achieved wide and 
representative regional coverage, as 
well as a balanced mix of topics and 
themes that are at the core of devel-
opment in the Middle East. Between 
2017 and 2023, 96 papers were pub-
lished, of which 30% were devoted 
to MENA issues, 8% dealt with GCC 
countries, and the rest focused on in-
dividual countries (Egypt, 21%; Tuni-
sia, 10%; Turkey, Morocco, and Iran, 
8% each). In terms of topics, 23% of 
articles in MEDJ were on labor mar-
kets (micro and macro); 22% were re-
lated to macroeconomics issues (fis-
cal and monetary policies, growth); 
16% on social policies (health, edu-

cation, poverty, and inequality); 13% 
in finance (banking, insurance); 10% 
in trade and productivity; and 7% in 
natural resources.

During 2023 MEDJ continued to re-
ceive a very high number of submis-
sions, a trend that started in 2021. 
While the average number of submis-
sions in the decade of the 2010s was 
45, between 2021 and 2023 MEDJ 
received slightly over 100 submis-
sions per year. Submissions to MEDJ 
come primarily from the MENA re-
gion (mainly Egypt, Iran, Palestine, 
Morocco, Tunisia, and Saudi Arabia), 
India and Pakistan, and the US. The 
set of researchers, nevertheless, is 
much broader in geographic terms. 
Referees are based mainly in the US, 
Tunisia, Turkey, and Egypt.

Given the unprecedented number of 
submissions, the managing editor of 
MEDJ continued the process of pre-

Associate Editors
Chahir Zaki and Shireen Al Azzawi

Editorial Board: 
François Bourguignon, Mustapha Nabli, 
Jeffery Nugent, Jean-Philippe Platteau, 
James Robinson, Dani Rodrik, Raed 
Safadi, Insan Tunali and Tarik Yousef

12,000 +
ANNUAL DOWNLOADS 
AND VIEWS 
FOR MEDJ ARTICLES

106 
MANUSCRIPTS 
SUBMITTED TO MEDJ 
IN 2023

RAIMUNDO SOTO
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screening papers (desk-rejection) be-
fore being assigned to the associate 
editors, so to avoid overburdening 
their work and, particularly, that of 
referees. Between 2021 and 2023, 180 
papers of 331 submissions were desk 
rejected. The remaining papers were 
sent to refereeing, of which on aver-
age 80% were rejected or withdrawn 
by authors after receiving the ref-
eree reports. One pressing issue is 
MEDJ’s high rejection rate (around 
85% of submissions are rejected); 
while this ensures higher quality of 
published papers, it may discourage 
researchers to submit their work. 

Since MEDJ only publishes eight 
articles per issue, this indicates that 
accepted papers wait for a rather long 
time to get published in one of the two 
yearly issues (online publication is, 
on the other hand, immediate). This 
needed attention. The alternatives 
solutions (a) increase the number of 
papers per issue or (b) increase the 
frequency of MEDJ by publishing a 
third issue, being both expensive and 
needing financing. Time between 
submission to first decision has been 
on the rise (50 days on average) due 
to excess burden. Time between ac-
ceptance and online publication, on 
the other hand, reduced to less than 
19 days. 

The readability and citation of MEDJ 
is increasing steadily: according to 
our editorial house –Taylor and Fran-
cis—downloads in 2022 reached al-
most 12,000 (up from 5,200 in 2019) 
and surpassed 13,300 in 2023. Note 
that MEDJ is not an open-access 

journal and, therefore, the increase 
in downloads is a sign of increasing 
reputation of the journal. The 2022 
Journal Impact Factor of MEDJ is 0.5 
for first-year papers and 0.8 for 5-year 
papers (Journal Citation Reports® 
Clarivate Analytics, 2023). This is the 
first year that MEDJ is measured. Sc-
imago rankings indicate that in 2022 
(latest) MEDJ was ranked in Q3 in 
Development, as well as in Econom-
ics, Econometrics, and Finance, as 
well as in Sociology and Political Sci-
ence, which is not a bad ranking for 
an interdisciplinary journal, but it can 
certainly be improved.

In 2023, and after 7 years of service, 
Associate Editor Kamiar Mohad-
des resigned. Prof. Chahir Zaki and 
Prof. Shireen Al Azzawi have been 
appointed as Associate Editors. Wel-
come Chahir and Shireen. Much of 
the recent success of MEDJ has been 
the result of the meticulous and dedi-
cated work of Associate Editors, for 
which ERF and I are very grateful. 

In 2024, MEDJ management in co-
ordination with T&F will focus on 
three main areas: increased number 
of published papers, reduced time of 
review and publication, extended out-
reach and improved citations.

Raimundo Soto

Working Papers

ERF Working Papers are a quick and 
efficient way of sharing research 
work to disseminate knowledge, re-
ceive feedback, obtain preliminary 
recognition, and ultimately, to pre-
pare publications.

The series provides a channel for re-
search communications for papers 
presented at the ERF Annual Con-
ference, or produced through ERF 
Research Programs or authored by 
members of the ERF network of af-
filiates.

ERF Working Papers were subject to 
a review process before publication, 
by the ERF Managing Editor, Dr. 
Bernard Hoekman. This year saw 
the production of 79 new working 
papers. The papers are fully acces-
sible online and are widely shared 
through the ERF master mailing list. 

Communications & Outreach

1,700 +
ERF WORKING PAPERS 
PRODUCED TO DATE

Featured MEDJ Paper 

THE IMPACT OF SANCTIONS 
ON HOUSEHOLD WELFARE 

AND EMPLOYMENT IN IRAN,

DJAVAD SALEHI-ISFAHANI

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2248697?src=exp-mr
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900,000
EMAILS 
ANNOUNCING DIFFERENT 
ERF  ACTIVITIES

ERF working papers attract highest 
traffic flow online and is exceedingly 
recognized as a reference for the 
work generated by ERF.

ERF Website 
and Knowledge 
Portal
The ERF website and knowledge 
portal provides a knowledgebase 
featuring profiles of 2200+ ERF dis-
tinguished network, a database of 
all ERF publications, 1700+ work-
ing papers, an impressive archive 
of ERF annual conferences, policy 
conferences and events featuring 
relevant speakers, panelists, session 
material, agenda and recording. It 

Nurturing partnerships, identifying 
pertinent thematic areas of interest, 
careful design of events and forums 
seeking varied perspectives, adopt-
ing an integrated approach linking 
and timing the production of pub-
lications and policy articles with 
events contributed significantly in 
expanding the ERF outreach and en-
gagement.

Arab Development 
Portal

The ERF capacity to manage re-
search and knowledge management 
programs is unrivaled, its capacity to 
provide for a multi-stakeholder plat-
form and policy dialogue are exceed-
ingly positioning ERF as the most 
sought-after institution to strategi-
cally partner with to secure a leading 
position. ERF knowledge products, 
platforms and portals are based on 
robust systems and processes in 
place that enable this growth and 
expansion, quality of its knowledge 
products, institutional prominence 
and leadership. 

In October 2023, ERF initiated the 
work towards a strategic reposition-
ing, developing, managing, operating 

Paper Author

They Still Got the Power: The Enduring Connections 
between Lebanon’s Banking Sector and the Ruling Class

Jad Chaaban, Jonathan Cole, 
Nizar Ghanem, and Sami Halabi

Introducing the Sudan Labor Market Panel Survey 2022
Caroline Krafft, Ragui Assaad 
and Ruby Cheung

Public Debt, Growth, and Stabilization in Tunisia: A New 
Narrative for A Structural Reform Agenda Leila Baghdadi and Moez Labidi

Vulnerability to Multidimensional Poverty in Algeria 
and Tunisia Using the Counting Based Approach and 
Bayesian Networks Classifiers Valérie Berenger

Technological Innovation and Climate Change Mitigation: 
Effects and Transmission Channels Fethi Amri

The Structure of the Labor Force and Employment in 
Sudan

Caroline Krafft, Ragui Assaad, 
Adriana Cortes-Mendosa 
and Isabel Honzay

Food Insecurity: The Role of Income Instability and Social 
Transfers in Tunisia During Covid-19 Hajer Habib and Amal Jmaii

Financial Development, Corruption and Shadow 
Economy: Evidence from MENA Countries

Houda Haffoudhi and Brahim 
Guizani

Social Insurance from A Regional Perspective: Egypt, 
Jordan and Tunisia

Zina Nimeh , Tamara A. Kool and 
Guido Heins

Women’s Economic Empowerment in Sudan: Assets and 
Agency

Caroline Krafft 
and Heather Moylan

Listing of Highest Accessible Working Papers in 2023

provides a gateway also to the ERF 
Data Portal and the ERF Policy Por-
tal – The Forum. It further provided 
for an efficient and effective net-
working platform for event organiza-
tion, visibility and outreach. Online 
users are exceedingly adopting a 
targeted approach and so is ERF to 
ensure targeted outreach to relevant 
stakeholders. In 2023, to extend out-
reach, ERF managed a newsletters 
subscription of some 12,000 sub-
scribers sending out some 900,000 
emails announcing relevant publica-
tions and events. Targeted outreach 
and social media, namely: facebook, 
linkedin, and twitter has been instru-
mental to extending outreach to new 
users at the national, regional and 
international level.
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and hosting the Arab Development 
Portal over the period 2023 – 2026.  

The proposed partnership builds 
upon the key winning tenets of ERF 
to set a clear agenda to guide the 
Arab Development Portal (ADP) 
three-year agenda and value propo-
sition. 

The new portal strategy will entail 
new and major elements of depar-
ture from the current platform in 
view of: 

•	 The glaring country specific 
needs and gaps in terms of ac-
cess to nationally produced mac-
roeconomic data and evidence 
based analytical perspectives to 
provide for an independent tech-
nical documentation and refer-
ence to inform the policy mak-
ing processes at a national level. 

•	 The changing data provision 
landscape and technology ad-
vancements by international 
and regional institutions data 
producers and technology pro-
viders on the one hand, and the 
lagging capacities by national 
producers to extend their out-
reach on timely basis.

•	 ERF network capacity to provide 
for expert review and insights to 
best contribute to the economic 
debate on timely basis. 

Subscribing to the above emerging 
challenges and lingering geographic 
unevenness, embedding focus on 
relevance, timeliness, outreach, 

Communications & Outreach

uptake, engagement and focus on 
impact are critical to success of the 
design for the new phase.

Platform development will aim to 
deploy latest design thinking and 
information systems development to 
best fulfil requirements of the next 
phase of the Arab Development Por-
tal project 2023 – 2026. 

ERF network expertise would be 
called upon to effectively engage 
and contribute to the country out-
look and thematic policy insights. 

ERF aims to launch the new bilin-
gual Arab Development Portal Plat-
form in Q3 – Q4 2024.  

usFollow

economic-research-forum

ERFlatest

www.erf.org.eg

TheERFLatest



2023

Annexes

ERF



46

www.erf.org.eg

Hassan Aly (Chairman)
Nile University, 
Egypt

Yousef Hamad Al-Ebraheem 
Former Minister of Finance, 
Kuwait

Saba Al Mubaslat  
Regional Director, Middle East and North 
Africa Office, Ford Foundation

Sumru Altug  
American University of Beirut,
Lebanon  

Leila Baghdadi
University of Tunis,
Tunisia

Ziad Bahaa Eldin 
Thebes Consultancy,
Egypt

Arjan de Haan
International Development  
Research Center (IDRC), Canada
(Till September 2023)

Wessam El Beih
International Development  
Research Center (IDRC), Canada
(Starting September 2023)

Roberta Gatti 
The World Bank 

Mahmoud Haddad 
University of Tennessee at Martin,
USA

Hassan Hakimian
Hamad Bin Khalifa University (HBKU) and 
University of London

Imed Limam 
Arab Fund for Economic and Social Devel-
opment (AFESD), Kuwait

Nisreen Salti 
American University of Beirut,
Lebanon

Jackline Wahba
University of Southampton, UK

ERF Network and PartnersAnnex A:

Board of TrusteesERF



47

www.erf.org.eg

HALA ABOU-ALI (CHAIRMAN) 
Cairo University, Egypt

Asena Caner
TOBB University of Economics and Tech-
nology, Turkey

Jad Chaaban
Paris-Dauphine PSL University, France

Najat El Mekkaoui
University Paris-Dauphine, France

Mohammad Reza Farzanegan 
Philipps-Universität Marburg, Germany     

Fida Karam 
Gulf University for Science
and Technology, Kuwait     

Mahdi Majbouri
Babson College, USA

Rim Mouelhi
Institut Supérieur de Comptabilité et 
d’Administration des Entreprises

Chahir Zaki
Cairo University, Egypt

Advisory CommitteeERF



48

www.erf.org.eg

Mohammad Jalal Abbasi-Shavazi
University of Tehran

Islam Abdeljawad
An-Najah National University

Touhami Abdelkhalek
National Institute of Statistics 
and Applied Economics

Abla Abdel-Latif
The Egyptian Center for Eco-
nomic Studies (ECES)

Hany Abdel-Latif
Swansea University

Abdel Mahmoud Abdel Rahman
King Saud University

Neveen Abdelrehim
Newcastle University 

Salaheddin Abosedra
American University in UAE

Hala Abou-Ali
Cairo University

Bassam Abual-Foul
American University of Sharjah

Assem Abu Hatab	
Swedish University of Agricul-
tural Sciences

Abdelfattah Abu-Shokor
An Najah National University

Lahcen Achy
International Monetary Fund

Ahmet Halis Akder
Middle East Technical 
University

Saziye Pelin Akyol
Bilkent University

Mohammad Al Ississ 
Minister of Finance, Jordan

Mazin Al Janabi
Monterrey Institute 
of Technology

Al Mukhtar Al-Abri
Sultan Qabous University

Shireen Al-Azzawi
Santa Clara University

Yousef Al-Ebraheem
Al Diwan Al Amiri, Kuwait

Abdelrahman Alfar
University College London

Abdulrazak Al-Faris
Dubai Economic Council

Mahmoud Al-Iriani
Kuwait Fund for Arab Economic 
Development (KFAED)

Rania Al-Mashat
Minister of International 
Cooperation, Egypt

Majid Al-Moneef
King Abdullah Petroleum 
Studies and Research Center 
(KAPSARC)

Barıs Alpaslan
Social Sciences University of 
Ankara

Sulayman Al-Qudsi
Kuwait Institute for Scientific 
Research

Mouyad Alsamara
Qatar University

Onur Altindag
Bentley University

Sumru Altug
American Univeristy of Beirut

Suliman Al-Turki
Deputy Minister of Finance, 
Saudi Arabia

Omar  Al-Ubaydli
Derasat, Bahrain

Hassan Aly 
Nile University

Khamis Al-Yahyaee
Muscat University

Mohamed Amara
University of Tunis

Mohamad Amerah
City University

Fethi Amri
Tunisian Higher Institute of 
Management of Gabes (I.S.G)

Mohammad Arzaghi
American University of Sharjah

Rabah Arezki
Harvard Kennedy School

Rima Turk Ariss
International Monetary Fund

Mohamed Arouri
Université Côte d’Azur

Ragui Assaad
University of Minnesota

Samer Atallah
The American University in 
Cairo

Izak Atiyas
Sabanci University

Basel Awartani
University of Westminster

Mohamed Ayadi
University of Tunis

Abdurrahman Aydemir
Sabanci University

Ahmet Faruk Aysan
Hamad Bin Khalifa University

ERF Network and PartnersAnnex A:

ERF Affiliates: Research Fellows



49

www.erf.org.eg

Azzeddine Azzam
University of Nebraska-Lincoln

Sofiane Baba	
University of Sherbrooke

Leila Baghdadi
University of Tunis

Mohamed Bakoush
University of Southampton

Mehmet Balcilar
Eastern Mediterranean 
University

Mina Baliamoune-Lutz
North Florida University

Badi Baltagi
Syracuse University

Ghada Barsoum
The American University in 
Cairo

Cem Baslevent
Istanbul Bilgi University

Charbel Bassil
Qatar University

Ali Bayar
EcoMod

Fateh Belaid
Lille Catholic University

Mohamed Belkhir
International Monetary Fund

Riadh Ben Jelili
Arab Investment & Export 
Credit Guarantee Corporation

Abderrezzak Benhabib	
Tlemcen University

Jess Benhabib
New York University

Omar Benkato 
Ball State University

Samy Bennaceur
International Monetary Fund

Ousama Ben Salha
Northern Border University

Sarra Ben Slimane
University of Tabuk, KSA

Adel Ben Youssef
University of Côte d’Azur

Adel Bino
University of Jordan

David Bishai
Jones Hopkins University

Mohammad Bitar
University of Nottingham

Mongi Boughzala
University of Tunis

Jamel Boukhatem 
University of Tunis El Manar

Asena Caner
TOBB University of Economics 
and Technology

Jad Chaaban
American University of Beirut

Mohamed Chaffai
University of Sfax

Raida Chakroun
University of Carthage

Mouna Cherkaoui
University of Mohamed V

Mine Cinar
Loyola University

Georges Corm
Georges Corm Consulting 
Office

Leila Dagher
American University of Beirut

Ali Darrat
Louisiana Tech University

Nurhan Davutyan
Kadir Has University

Meltem Dayioglu-Tayfur
Middle East Technical Univer-
sity

Riza Demirer
Southern Illinois University 
Edwardsville

Nergiz Dincer
Ted University

Ishac Diwan
Finance for Development Lab

 
Amany El Anshasy
University of United Arab 
Emirates

Asmaa El Badawi
Consultant

Ibrahim Elbadawi
Economic Research Forum

Mohamed El-Erian
President of Queens’ College, 
University of Cambridge

Mahmoud El-Gamal
Rice University

Ceyhun Elgin
Bogazici University

Amirah El-Haddad
German Development Institute

Fatma El-Hamidi
University of Saint Pittsburgh

Mahmoud El-Jafari
Al Quds University

Mohamed El-Komi
The American University in 
Cairo

Rim M. El Khoury	
Notre Dame University

AbdelRahman El Lahga
University of Tunis

Heba El-Laithy
Cairo University

Najat El Mekkaoui
Paris Dauphine University

Noha El-Mikawy
The American University in 
Cairo

Ahmed Elsayed
Durham University



50

www.erf.org.eg

Ahmed Elsayed
IZA - Institute of Labor Economics

Abeer Elshennawy
American University in Cairo

Hamid Eltgani Ali
Doha Institute for Graduate 
Studies

Adem Yavuz Elveren
Fitchburg State University

Hasan Ersel
Sabanci University

Hasan Murat Ertugrul
Turkish Embassy, Rome

Refik Erzan
Bogazici University

Hadi Esfahani
University of Illinois

Ali Fakih
Lebanese American University

Hisham Farag
University of Birmingham

Mohammad Reza Farzanegan
Philipps-University of Marburg

Zeki Fattah
International Consultant Middle 
Eastern Economies

Nader Fergany
Al-Mishkat Center

Habib Fetini
Economist

Zied Ftiti
EDC Paris Business School

Mouez Fodha
University Paris 1 Panthéon-
Sorbonne

Jasmin Fouad
The American University in 
Cairo

May Gadallah
Cairo University

Ahmed Galal 
MENA Health Policy Forum

Rami Galal
The World Bank

Yousuf Garashi
Kuwait University

Hafez Ghanem
Paris School of Economics

Samir Ghazouani
Manouba University

Hamed Ghoddusi
California Polytechnic State 
University

Ahmed Ghoneim
Cairo University

Mohamed Goaied
Qatar University

Korhan Gokmengolu
Ankara HBV University

Moamen Gouda
Hankuk University of Foreign 
Studies (HUFS)

Wafik Grais 
Freelance Senior Economic 
Advisor

Rihab Grassa
Higher College of Technology, 
Dubai

Imene Guetat
Centre d’Economie de 
l’Université Paris Nord (CEPN)

Brahim Guizani
University of Tunis

Inci Gumus
Sabanci University

Gholamreza Haddad
Sharif University of Technology

Mahmoud Haddad
University of Tennessee

Thouraya Hadj Amor
Shaqra University-KSA

Taieb Hafsi
HEC Montreal

Sam Hakim
Analytics Edge

Hassan Hakimian
Hamad Bin Khalifa University 
(HBKU)

Kamal Hamdan 
Consultation & Research 
Institute

Manel Hamdi
University of Tunis ElManar

Bachir Hamdouch
University of Mohamed V

Shawkat Hammoudeh
Drexel University

Shimaa Hanafy
Hankuk University of Foreign 
Studies

Heba Handoussa
Egypt Network for Integrated 
Development

Ilham Haouas
Abu Dhabi University

Najib Harabi 
University of Applied Sciences of 
Northwestern Switzerland

Georges Harb
Lebanese American University

Nasri Harb
University of Sciences and Arts 
in Lebanon

Rashid Hassan
Pretoria University

ERF Network and PartnersAnnex A:

ERF Affiliates: Research Fellows



51

www.erf.org.eg

Islam Hassouneh
Palestine Polytechnic University

Rana Hendy
The American University in 
Cairo

Djehane Hosni
University of Central Florida

Gamal Ibrahim
United Nations Economic Com-
mission for Africa

Ipek Ilkkaracan
Istanbul Technical University

Phoebe Ishak
Aix-Marseille School of Econom-
ics

Ihsan Isik
Rowan University

Huricihan Islamoglu-Inan
Bogazici University

Mohanad Ismael
University of Birzeit

Ahmad Jalali-Naini
Institute for Management and 
Planning Studies

Shaif Jarallah
Qatar University

Hatem Jemmali	
University of Manouba

Nader Kabbani
Middle East Council on Global 
Affairs

Muhsin Kar
Yıldırım Beyazıt University

Burhan Can Karahasan
Piri Reis University

Fida Karam
Gulf University for Science and 
Technology

Fatih Karanfil
King Abdullah Petroleum 
Studies and Research Center 
(KAPSARC)

Massoud Karshenas
University of London

Mourad Kertous
University of Western Brittany 
Brest

Amr Khafagy
University of Gloucestershire

Ahmed Khalifa
Qatar University

Afef Khalil
University of Manouba

Motaz Khorshid
Cairo University

Murat Kirdar
Bogazici University

Khalid Kisswani
Gulf University for Science and 
Technology

Atif Kubursi
McMaster University

Timur Kuran
Duke University

Ali Kutan
Southern Illinois University 
Edwardsville 

Mohamed Lahouel
Government of Dubai - Depart-
ment of Economic Development

Moundir Lassassi
Research Centre in Applied 
Economics for Development 
(CREAD)

Mounir Mahmalat
The World Bank

Paul Makdissi
University of Ottawa

Mahdi Majbouri
Babson College

Samir Maliki
University of Tlemcen

Mohamed Marouani
Universite Paris 1 - Pantheon 
Sorbonne

Walid Marrouch
Lebanese American University

Tarek Masoud
Harvard University

Mohamed Matoussi
University of Tunis

Sami Mensi
Manouba University

Walid Mensi
Université de Tunis El Manar 
and Sultan Qaboos University 
(SQU)

Mahmoud Messkoub
Erasmus University

Kivilcim Metin-Ozcan
Necmettin Erbakan University

Sami Miaari
Oxford University

Wasseem Mina
United Arab Emirates University

Hela Miniaoui
ILO

Ida Mirzaie
Ohio State University

Kamiar Mohaddes
Cambridge University

Kamel Si Mohammed
University of Ain Temouchent

Hamid Mohtadi
University of Wisconsin

Imad Moosa
RMIT

Rabeh Morrar
An Najah University

Rim Mouelhi
Institut Supérieur de Compt-
abilité et d’Administration des 
Entreprises (ISCAE)



52

www.erf.org.eg

El Mouhoub Mouhoud
Paris Dauphine University

Zouhair Mrabet
Qatar University

Seyit Mumin Cilasun
TED University

Mohamedou Nasser Dine
UNDP Mauritania 

Hanan Nazier
Cairo University

George Naufal
Texas A&M University

Simon Neaime
American University of Beirut

Zina Nimeh
Maastricht University

Diaa Noureldin
International Monetary Fund 
(IMF)

Ziya Onis
Koc University

Bedri Onur Tas
Sultan Qaboos University

Adam Osman
University of Illinois

Mohamed Osman Suliman
Millersville University

Fatih Ozatay
TOBB University 

Durmus Ozdemir
Yasar University

Zeynel Abidin Ozdemir
Gazi University

Suleyman Ozmucur
University of Pennsylvinia

Sevket Pamuk
Bogaziçi University

Mehmet Pamukcu
Middle East Technical University

Ugur Korkut Pata
Osmaniye Korkut Ata University

Mohammad Hashem Pesaran
Cambridge University

Ahmad Qassem Bani Melhem
Abu Dhabi University

Racha Ramadan
Cairo University

Ahmed Rashad
Anwar Gargash Diplomatic 
Academy’s (AGDA) Academic 
Department, UAE

Gholam Reza Soltani
Shiraz University

Dani Rodrik 
Harvard University

Rania Roushdy
The American University in Cairo

Javad Sadeghi
Islamic Azad University

Raed Safadi
Department of Economic Devel-
opment, UAE

Mona Said
The American University in 
Cairo

Nasser Saidi
Nasser Saidi & Associates

Mohamed Saleh
Toulouse School of Economics

Djavad Salehi-Isfahani
Virginia Polytechnic Institute & 
State University

Rania Salem
University of Toronto

Nisreen Salti
American University of Beirut

Anis Samet
American University of Sharjah

Mahmoud Sami Nabi
University of Carthage

Serdar Sayan
TOBB University 
Khalid Sekkat
University of Brussels

Hoda Selim
International Monetary Fund

Tarek Selim
The American University in 
Cairo

Irène Selwaness
Cairo University

Unal Seven 
Central Bank of the Republic of 
Turkey

Radwan Shaban
Arab Bank

Nemat Shafik
Columbia University

Mesbah Sharaf
University of Alberta

Manal Shehabi
University of Oxford

Linda Smail
Zayed University

Mehmet Ali Soytas 
King Fahd University 
of Petroleum and Minerals

Aysit Tansel
Middle East Technical University

Amine Tarazi
University of Limoges

Erol Taymaz
Middle East Technical University

ERF Network and PartnersAnnex A:

ERF Affiliates: Research Fellows



53

www.erf.org.eg

Ayca Tekin-Koru
TED University

Subidey Togan 
Bilkent University

Mehmet Tosun
University of Nevada

Mohamed Trabelsi
Emirates Center for Strategic 
Studies

Semih Tumen
TED University

Insan Tunali
Koc University

Ercan Uygur
Turkish Economic Association

Ebru Voyvoda
Middle East Technical University

Jackline Wahba
University of Southampton

Abdullah Talha Yalta
TOBB University of Economics 
and Technology

Ayse Yasemin Yalta
Hacettepe University

Myra Yazbeck
University of Ottawa

A. Erinc Yeldan
Bilkent university

Fatih Yilmaz
King Abdullah Petroleum Studies 
and Research Center 

Kamil Yilmaz
Koc University

Tarik Yousef
Brookings Doha Center

Bassam Yousif
Indiana State University

Chahir Zaki
Cairo University

Omid Zamani
Thünen Federal Institute

Alireza Zarei
Sunway University

Hajer Zarrouk
Higher College of Technology

Jamel Zarrouk
Islamic Development Bank

Abdallah Zouache 
Sciences Po Lille

Huda Zurayk
American University of Beirut



54

www.erf.org.eg

Islam Abdelbary
Arab Academy for Science and 
Technology

Sufian Abdel-Gadir
Sultan Qaboos University

Redouan Abdenour
Mohammed V University

Mohamed Abu Amsha
Palestine Technical University

Basem Abudawoud
Economist

Badreldin Abdulrahman
Jouf University

Nora Aboushady
Cairo University

Wifag Adnan
Zayed University

Obbey Ahmed Elamin
The King Faisal University

Mohammad Alasaadi
Syrian Center for Policy Research

Nesma Ali
Heinrich-Heine University Düs-
seldorf

Ryadh M. Alkhareif
Ministry of Finance, Saudi Arabia

Alanoud Ali S A Al-Maadid	
Qatar University

Sara Alnashar
The World Bank 

Salim Araji
United Nations-Economic and 
Social Commision for Western 
Asia

Gunes Asik
TOBB Economics and Technol-
ogy University

Hebatalla Atef Emam	
Cairo University

May Attallah
ESLSCA University

Ibrahim Awad
Al-Quds University 

Ahmed Badreldin
University of Marburg 

Nidhal Ben Cheikh
Dalail for Development

Abdelhadi Benghalem	
Tlemcen University

Naima Bentouir
Ain Témouchent University

Mazen Diwani
De Montfort University

Burcu Duzgun-Öncel
Marmara University

Ebaidalla Mahjoub Ebaidalla
University of khartoum

Fouzia Ejjanoui
Mohamed V University

Sarah El Khishin
British University in Egypt

Nelly EL-Mallakh
Paris School of Economics

Suzanna Elmassah
Zayed University

Yagoub Elryah
Ministry of Industry, Sudan 

Amira El-Shal
The Abdul Latif Jameel Poverty 
Action Lab (J-PAL)

Bilge Eris-Dereli
Marmara University

Riham Ahmed Ezzat
Cairo University

Ahmed Alaa Fayed
Nile University

Maleke Fourati
University of Geneva

Olfa Frini
Manouba University

Hassan Geon
Hankuk University of Foreign 
Studies

Cyrine Hannafi
University Paris-Est Créteil

Sherif Maher Hassan
M&S Research Hub Limited 
Company

Imane Helmy
Ministry of Social Solidarity 
(MOSS), Egypt

Amr Hosny
International Monetary Fund

Adil Idris
University of Kassala

Anas Iqtait
Australian National University

Yasmine Kamal Hassan
Cairo University

Behrang Kamali
Khatam University

Dina Kassab
Cairo University

Josephine Kass-Hanna
Saint Joseph University of Beirut

ERF Network and PartnersAnnex A:

ERF Affiliates: Research Associates



55

www.erf.org.eg

Aysegul Kayaoglu
Istanbul Technical University

Yilmaz Kilicaslan
Anadolu University 

Müserref Küçükbayrak
Central Bank of the Republic of 
Turkey

Bashar Malkawi
University of Sharjah

Nadia Mansour
University of Sousse

Siham Matallah
University of Oran

Elwasila Saeed Elamin Mohamed
University of Khartoum

Eman Moustafa	
African Development Bank

Mohammad H. Mostafavi-
Dehzooei
Georgia Southwestern State 
University

Nohade Nasrallah
EM Strasbourg

Khaled Nasri
Faculty of Economic Sciences 
and Management of Tunis

Jalal Qanas
Qatar University

Myriam Ramzy
Cairo University

Reham Rizk
British University in Egypt

Ahmed Rostom
The World Bank

Shaker Sarsour
Palestine Monetary Authority 

Laura Sayah
Lebanese University

Maamar Sebri
University of Sousse

Yacoub Sleibi	
Bethlehem University



56

www.erf.org.eg

Khalid Abu Ismail
United Nations Economic and 
Social Commission for Western 
Asia (ESCWA)

Ahmed Al-Kawaz
Ministry of Finance, Kuwait

Mohammed Al-Maitami
Ambassador of the Republic of 
Yemen to the People’s Republic 
of China

Savas Alpay
Consultant

Nourah Al-Yousef
Investcorp Private Wealth, Saudi 
Arabia

Marwan Alzoubi
Alzaytoonah University of 
Jordan

Mohammad Bakhshoodeh
Shiraz University

Abdel-Hameed Bashir
Islamic Development Bank

Hakim Ben Hammouda
Former Minister of Economy 
and Finance, Tunisia

Ralph Chami
Williams College

Rola Dashti
Economic and Social Commis-
sion for Western Asia (ESCWA)

Ashraf El Araby
Institute of National Planning, 
Egypt

Laila El Khawaga
Cairo University
Alia El Mahdi
Cairo University

Nihal El Megharbel
Egyptian Senate House

Adam Elhiraika
United Nations Economic Com-
mission for Africa

Mahmoud Elkhafif
UNCTAD

Safaa El-Kogali
The World Bank

Samiha Fawzy
Cairo University

Sofiane Ghali
University of Tunis

Omneia Helmy
Cairo University

Faten Jabsheh
Kuwait Institute for Scientific 
Research

Zohour Karray
World Bank, Tunisia

Mary Kawar
Former Minister for Planning, 
Jordan 

Imed Limam
Arab Fund for Economic and 
Social Development

Hanan Morsy
United Nations Economic Com-
mission for Africa (UN ECA)

Sahar Nasr
Former Minister of Interna-
tional Cooperation, Egypt

Heba Nassar
Cairo University

Mohammed Omran
Financial Regulatory Authority

Ibrahim Saif
Jordan Strategy Forum

Wassim Shahin
Lebanese American University

Sahar Tohamy
Emory University

ERF Network and PartnersAnnex A:

ERF Affiliates: Policy Affiliates



57

www.erf.org.eg

Sayed Abbas 
Ajman University

Samir Abdullah
Palestine Economic Policy 
Research Institute

Sultan Abou-Ali
Zagazig University

Hasan Abu-Libdeh
Former Minister of National 
Economy

Asad Alam 
The World Bank

Jawad Al Anani
Amman Stock Exchange

Jassim Al Mannai
Independent Director, Blom 
Bank

Mutahar Al-Saidi
Sana’a University

Ali Attiga
The Arab Petroleum Invest-
ments Corporation (APICORP)

Ziad Bahaa-Eldin
Thebes Consultancy

Adel Beshai
The American University in 
Cairo

Abdullah Dardari
Resident Representative in 
Afghanistan at UNDP

Hazem El-Beblawi
International Monetary Fund

Abdullah El-Kuwaiz
Acwa Power, KSA

Abda El-Mahdi
UNICONS Consultancy Ltd

Habib El-Malki
Former Minister of Education, 
Morocco

Faika El-Refaie
Former Governor, Central Bank 
of Egypt

Shahrokh Fardoust
The College of William and 
Mary

Bernard Hoekman
European University Institute

Jalaleddin Jalali
Institute for Management and 
Planning Studies

Taher Kanaan
Arab Center for Research and 
Policy Studies

Samir Makdisi
American University of Beirut

Adeel Malik
University of Oxford

Michel Marto
Housing Bank for Trade & 
Finance

Ali Naghi Mashyayekhi
Sharif University of Technology

Mahmoud Mohieldin
International Monetary Fund

Hicham Mutwally
Economic Consultant

Mustapha Nabli
North Africa Bureau of Eco-
nomic Studies (NABES)

Masoud Nili
Sharif University of Technology

Jeffrey Nugent
University of South California

Othman Othman
Former Minister of Economic 
Development, Egypt

John Page
Brookings Institution

Christopher Pissarides
London School of Economics

Samir Radwan
Former Minister of Finance, 
Egypt

James Robinson
University of Chicago

Guven Sak
The Economic Policy Research
Foundation of Turkey, TEPAV

Rusdu Saracoglu
Allianz Sigorta A.S.

Paul Schultz
Yale University

Ismail Sirageldin
Johns Hopkings University

Raimundo Soto
Pontificia Universidad Católica 
de Chile

Lyn Squire
Economic Research Forum

Nabil Sukkar
The Syrian Consulting Bureau 
for Development and Investment

Ahmed Zakane
National Higher School of Statis-
tics and Applied Economics

ERF Network and PartnersAnnex A:

ERF Affiliates: Senior Associates



58

www.erf.org.eg

Office of the 
Managing Director

Ibrahim Elbadawi 		
Managing Director

Marwa Afifi		
Senior Executive Assistant 
to the Managing Director

Research, Data 
and Programs

Yasmine Fahim 		
Director of Research and Programs

Nesma Amer 
Senior Statistician

Passainte Atef 
Programs Officer

Neamatallah Elsayed
Senior Program Officer 
(Till August 2023)

May Gadallah
Statistics Manager

Mariam Haggag
Statistician
(Starting October 2023)

Dalia Hany
Statistician

Ramage Nada
Programs Manager
	  
Yasmeen Oraby
Senior Program Officer

Sara Ragab 
Researcher
(Starting April 2023)

Ayatullah Talaat  
Statistician
(Till June 2023)

Chahir Zaki  		
Lead Economist (Part-time)

Conferences, 
Communications and 
Policy Outreach

Sherine Ghoneim 		
Director of Communications 
and Policy Outreach

Hoda Azmi		
Conferences Manager 

Mohga Barrada		
Communications Officer 

Namees Nabeel		
Senior Manager of Communications and IT

Boules Youssef 
IT Specialist

Finance

Sherif Osama
Director of Finance

Mohamed Aladdine 	
Senior Accountant

Ali Hashem 		
Accountant

Administration and HR 

Anais Hagopian 	 	
Acting Administration Director

Fawkia Rizk 		
Administration Officer

ERF Dubai

Faiza Jafar
Director of ERF Dubai 

FEMISE Network

Maryse Louis
FEMISE General Manager

Sally Aldahaby 
FEMISE Communications Officer

Sophie Dahdouh
FEMISE Program Assistant

ERF Network and PartnersAnnex A:

ERF Management & Staff



59

www.erf.org.eg

ERF Network and PartnersAnnex A:

ERF Donors



60

www.erf.org.eg

Completed Projects

Inter-Regional Comparison for the Implications 
of Digitalization and Disruptive Technologies for 
Sustainable Growth, Poverty, Inequality, Women and 
the Youth in North Africa and Sub-Saharan Africa 

Shahrokh Fardoust, Ahmed Ghoneim, Dina Mandour, 
Jaime de Melo, Izak Atiwas, Adel Ben Youssef and Chahir 
Zaki

This project is ongoing from last year and addresses the 
inter-regional comparison for the implications of digitalization 
and disruptive technologies for sustainable growth, poverty, 
inequality, women and the youth in North Africa and Sub- 
Saharan Africa. It examines the impact of disruptive innovation 
and how it is transforming the economic potential of Sub- 
Saharan Africa (SSA) and the Middle East and North Africa 
(MENA). Digital technologies have the potential to transform 
the global economy, in both good ways and bad. The challenge 
will be to capitalize on the opportunities technology creates 
while managing inherent risks, with a view to establishing 
more prosperous, inclusive, and resilient economies. ERF 
and the African Economic Research Consortium (AERC) are 
collaborating to produce a policy regional report addressing the 
following questions: What are the key disruptive technologies 
that are affecting MENA and SSA? Are they the same in both 
regions? Do MENA and SSA countries have adequate social 
safety nets to deal with the potential dislocations the new 
technologies may cause? What policy steps need to be taken 
to help countries in MENA and SSA harness the benefits of 
digitalization and mitigate its risks? In which countries or 
sectors are additional policy actions needed? Will countries in 
both regions have the infrastructure and enabling environments 
required to take full advantage of the digital revolution? 

Cronyism and the Future of the Private Sector in 
Sudan, Algeria, and Ethiopia

Ishac Diwan

This research project looks into the nature of state-business 
relations (SBRs) in Algeria, Sudan, and Ethiopia, and how these 
might evolve in light of the changing internal circumstances. 
The three countries are going through a process of political 
change, with the possibility of transitioning from an autocratic 
political regime, to a more democratic and open one. While 
the economic conditions and performance of the economies 
of the three countries differ markedly, the relation between 
state and businesses until the recent events had a close 
resemblance, and the future challenges in terms of democratic 
aspirations, as well as private sector development also bear 

some similarities. The aim of the project is to understand the 
nature of “cronyism” in the recent past - in the sense of close 
relation between the state and some privileged firms, and to 
explore its political role and its economic consequences. An 
understanding of the mechanisms used to provide privileges 
to some firms, and impose restrictions on others, can help 
figure out how state business relations fits within the broader 
political economy framework in select countries in North 
Africa and Sub Saharan Africa, and how generated privileges 
for insiders sustained an anti-competitive business climate, and 
how this reduce the growth and jobs generating potential of 
these countries. The goal is to be in a better position to think of 
how these relations can be changed in the future in ways that 
support better political as well as economic performance, and 
to provide solid evidence-based policy advice on how to move 
forward.

The Growth Effect of Disruptive Technology in 
Ethiopia: With a Case Study of Digitalization in the 
Financial Sector 

Alemayehu Geda 

Focusing on digitalization as a major disruptive technology 
in Ethiopia this study found that digitalization is at a very low 
level of development in Ethiopia, by regional standard. Yet, 
a 10 present rate of digitalization is found to increate GDP 
growth by 0.5 present – this being as high as 0.8 percent in 
the service sector. Digitalization in the financial sector is 
growing very fast but is still the lowest by regional standard. 
Major challenges for this are found to be the stifling regulatory 
environment from the central bank, the telecommunication 
infrastructure (though significantly improved latterly) and the 
low level of digital literacy both at national level and within the 
financial sector. Low investment from the board of banks so 
as to pay high dividend, failure of executives to take risk to 
creatively use the IT capacity in the sector and the country 
and the difficulty of measuring the impact of digitalization for 
use in board and executive decision making are some of the 
challenges identified in the sector. Based on these findings 
the study derived various policy implications that needed the 
attention of the government policy makers. 
  

Disruptive Technologies, Agricultural productivity 
and Economic Performance in Kenya

Eldah Onsomu, Boaz Munga, Boniface Munene, John 
Macharia and Violet Nyabaro

The study focused on the nature of disruptive technologies 
in Kenya with specific focus on agriculture and related 
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ICTs; and their potential to support sustained economic 
performance. Disruptive technologies in agriculture consist 
of digital and technical innovations that enable farmers and 
agribusiness entrepreneurs to leap from current methods to 
increase their productivity, efficiency, and competitiveness, 
thereby facilitating access to markets, improving nutritional 
outcomes, and enhancing resilience to climate change while 
contributing to sustained economic growth. In the agriculture 
sector, adoption of disruptive technologies including use of 
innovations in the context of modern methods of farming has 
contributed to improved farm productivity, marketing and 
incomes. We find a positive correlation between fertilizer use 
and agricultural productivity.
 

Adoption of Digital Technologies, Productivity 
and Dynamics of Employment in The Sector 
Manufacturist and Services in Senegal

Diallo Thierno Malick, Dumas Tsambou André
and Benjamin Fomba Kamga

The boom in economic development, especially in developing 
countries, is based on the boom in digital technologies. 
Although these technologies disrupt the existence of the 
technology s old with effects possible on productivity, 
employment and competitiveness in different sectors, the 
empirical analysis of relationships is limited. This work fills 
this gap by examining the effect of the adoption of digital 
technologies on productivity and the dynamics of jobs in the 
sector manufacturing and services in Senegal. This work uses 
one hand data from the Survey has improving the Policy of 
Employment (SAEP) conducted in 2018 with 27, 46 in Senegal, 
to assess the importance of digital technology in the search 
for employment and the effectiveness of job search support 
programs. Moreover, this work uses the data of investigation 
on “the art Determinants of Performance of Companies in 
Francophone Sub-Saharan Africa: The case of Senegal ‘’ 
made 2014 from 723 companies to assess the impact of digital 
technologies on productivity and employment dynamics in 
manufacturing and service companies. By applying econometric 
models, we are measuring sectoral productivity by the value 
added per capita in manufacturing and services; Dynamic 
jobs by changing the number of employees respectively lies 
in the sector manufacturing and services; and the adoption of 
digital technologies by a composite index constructed through 
Principal Component Analysis (PCA) that transforms the set of 
underlying indicators of digital technology into a linear factor.

Digital Technologies and Manufacturing 
Performance in South Africa: Firm-Level Evidence

Elvis Korku Avenyo and Jason F. Bell

The Fourth Industrial Revolution (4IR) is radically transforming 
the global manufacturing landscape. The global transformation 
in manufacturing is offering new prospects for sustained 
industrial development in developing countries through 
increases in productivity, value creation, and efficiency gains 
as well as employment creation avenues. Digitalization and the 
adoption of disruptive digital technologies are viewed as being 
crucial to these transformations. However, there is limited 
research into the current state of disruptive technologies’ 
adoption, digital skills, and capabilities in developing countries, 
particularly in South Africa. This study examines the effect of 
adoption of disruptive digital technologies on the performance 
of South African manufacturing firms. Using novel data 
from the South African digital skills survey on 516 firms and 
econometric analyses, our results highlight the importance 
of the adoption of disruptive digital technologies for the 
performance of manufacturing firms in South Africa. The 
policy implications of our results are discussed considering 
national policies on the Fourth Industrial Revolution (4IR).
 

The Impacts of Disruptive Technologies 
in South Africa

Lukasz Grzybowski

The last decade around the world has been marked by digital 
transformation of the economies and societies. Access to 
mobile Internet can dramatically improve standard of living 
in developing countries by saving wasted trips, providing 
information about prices or serving as a conduit to banking, 
health care and other services. There are different ways 
through which mobile services can benefit people and 
economies in developing countries. To date, there is only 
scarce research on how people in developing countries use 
mobile phones and Internet to access different mobile services 
and consequently how this impacts their well-being and the 
functioning of different markets. This is largely due to the 
shortage of individual-level data on the use of mobile services 
in these countries. In the proposed project we aim to fill this 
research gap by conducting a detailed study on the availability 
and access to mobile Internet services, the use of different 
mobile Internet services and their impact on economic 
outcomes such as adoption of financial services and labour 
market participation. More specifically, we will address the 
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following questions using datasets to which we have access for 
South Africa and Sub-Saharan African countries. We will focus 
on selected disruptive technologies in South Africa which are 
enabled by smartphone ownership such as mobile financial 
services. Furthermore, we will study the impact of Internet 
technologies on the labour market. We will also address the 
issue of digital gender divide.
 

State Business Relations in Sudan and the Prospects 
for a Dynamic Private Sector

Kabbashi Suliman

The main objective of the study is to draw from North et al 
(2009, henceforth NWW) theory of violence and social orders 
to establish a framework for analyzing the development 
of the Sudanese state as an overarching institution that 
contextualizes the interactions and choices of the political 
elite including the non-state actors, defined as heterogeneous 
competitive private entities, businesses, communities and 
organizations that are largely informal from the state sector 
view point. The state is basic unit of analysis in NWW; hence, 
the taxonomy of state-institutions—in terms of capacity to 
create and manipulate interests to ensure particular social 
order as proposed by the NWW—will be used to review the 
development of the Sudanese state, since 1821, in terms of the 
quality of organizations it supported and the major interest- 
groups served. This analysis is motivated by the observation 
that, in terms of the predictions of NWW theory, even within 
limited access orders that prevailed in most of history and 
still present, the post-independence Sudanese state, which 
progressively evolved out of fragility as basic-state should at 
least after decades of trails put in place the foundations for 
transitioning to mature orders. But contrary to the prediction 
of NWW theory, in 2006 the Sudanese state topped the rank of 
fragile states according to the Fund for Peace’s Fragile States 
Index (FSI), and in 2011, the dominant ruling coalition opted 
for secession—after an unprecedented peaceful election— 
that led to formation of South Sudan State. Thus, the question 
remains, why the post-independence Sudanese state regressed 
in terms of transitioning along the continuum of the general 
framework of the limited and open access societies discussed 
in NWW?
 

A Stubborn Historical Legacy: Power Relations and 
Development in Sudan

Atta Al-Battahani

The study centers on a critical review of the evolution of 
power relations between state, business, and society in Sudan. 
The political economy analysis will delineate the various 
development phases and political transitions, highlighting 

the role of structural forces bedeviling the country since 
independence - including center-periphery tensions and civil 
wars, development impasse, Political Islam, oil revenues, the 
role of armed forces, as well as clientelism and cronyism as 
a form of rent distribution and state disintegration. Exploring 
the mechanisms of privilege, and how these impacted on 
and influenced economic performance is a key objective. 
The crippling power of history as exemplified in the failure 
of the political class in transformative political transition. 
The second goal of the paper explores institutional ways to 
neutralize the structural weaknesses identified in part one, 
including democratic accountability, decentralization, and 
growth strategies. The history of political transitions in Sudan, 
most notably the current one, suggests that transitional 
governments that follow popular uprisings had to deal with 
large macroeconomic imbalances, inherited from a former 
authoritarian regime, before they could fashion medium 
to longer run institutional reforms and growth strategies. 
However, aligning the political economy to garner support for 
necessary economic reforms has proven to be challenging. 
The third goal of the paper is to collect evidence-based data 
for verification. The objective is to produce an academically 
sound study, not a political statement on the record of political 
Islam in Sudan. Given the sensitivity of real or alleged links 
between state and business, and the fact that a number of 
official investigation committees are still working on this field, 
care must be taken with quality data. Here, there are some 
limitations since many stories are not yet revealed. Methods of 
data collection should address these concerns.

Political Islam and Crony Capitalism in Sudan: A case 
study of “Munazzamat al-Dawa al-Islamiyya

Ebaidalla Mahjoub Ebaidalla and Mohammed Elhaj 
Mustafa

This study investigates the role of political Islam in stimulating 
cronyism in the Sudanese context with an emphasis on 
Munazzamat al-Dawa al-Islamiyya (MADA) businesses 
during Islamists’ rule (1989-2019). The study focuses on 
the mechanisms through which MADA’s businesses had 
dominated the private sector and sustained the Islamists’ 
authoritarian rule. It also examines the extent to which the 
regime’s affiliates had gained in exchange for the privileges 
they provided to MADA. The study is based on data and 
information collected via desk review and key informants’ 
interviews. The analysis indicated that even though the main 
goal of establishing the organization was to propagate Islam 
among non-Muslim societies, however, this mission was 
found to be representing a negligible part of its activities. 
MADA engaged intensively in business and its size increased 
remarkably during al-Bashir’s regime. The investigation shows 
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that MADA has disproportionately benefited from privileged 
access to credit, tax breaks, trade protection, land, and 
preferential financial transactions, granted via the Act of 1990. 
As a reward for these privileges, Islamists received many gains 
including job opportunities, training of cadres, and continuous 
political support. Despite the lack of data, the analysis approves 
that the rise of radical Islamists’ ideology stimulated the 
emergence of cronyism in Sudan. This indicated that MADA 
played an important role in lengthening Islamists’ rule for 
three decades and, thus, represents a pioneering experiment 
in the field of Islamist politics over the globe.
 

Crony Capitalism in a “Developmental State” Model 
of an African Poor Country: Ethiopia

Alemayehu Geda

The general aim of this study is to offer the context, extent and 
historical and political origins of crony capitalism in Ethiopia. 
More specifically, it aims: to identify analytically the general 
couture of stat-private sector relationships from historical and 
policy perspectives and its implication for crony capitalism; 
to demonstrated empirically the extent of crony-capitalism in 
Ethiopia across the major economic sectors; and to Identify 
the general landscape of crony capitalism and the challenges 
it poses for growth and development of Ethiopia that could be 
explored by focusing on their detailed political and economic 
implications.

 
From Rags to Riches to Rags Again: Deconstructing 
the Narratives of Algeria’s Crony Capitalism Mirage

Idriss Hadj-Nacer

As defined by the guidelines of the research project, this paper 
aims to establish the preparatory mapping necessary to analyze 
the nature of state-business relations (SBRs) in Algeria since the 
end of the country’s civil war, or Black Decade, and the start of 
the 21st century. Through a number of case studies (5), it will 
aspire to give a detailed understanding of the main corruption 
scandals that have marred the country’s recent history. It will 
also focus on deconstructing the common narrative tropes 
used to describe the rise and fall of the individuals, companies, 
political and economic circles at the center of these scandals. 
The paper will then conclude on the consequences of crony 
capitalism on Algeria’s political economy.

Trade, Food Security and the War in Ukraine: The 
Cases of Egypt and Sudan

Chahir Zaki, Kabbashi M. Suliman, AlZaki Alhelo

The objective of this project is to examine the nexus between 
trade, food security and the war in Ukraine with a special focus 
on Egypt and Sudan. Given the high dependency of the two 
countries on wheat imports, both experienced high inflation 
and lower economic growth, threatening their food security. 
Thus, the contribution of the project is threefold: first, it 
examines the macroeconomic implications of the war on the 
two economies. Second, it analyzes the extent to which food 
security deteriorated and finally how trade can partially help 
improve food security in the two countries. To do so, using an 
error correction model, our results show that the exchange 
rate pass through was high in Egypt and Sudan and can 
have long-term implications on inflation. To move forward, 
we explore how the two countries might develop bilateral 
capacities targeting agriculture, electricity, and infrastructure 
with the view to scale-up the economic cooperation. We show, 
using the trade complementarity index, that despite a limited 
complementarity between their trade structures, there is room 
to increase their bilateral exports if infrastructure and other 
behind-the-border barriers are addressed.

Impacts of the Ukraine Crisis on Food Security in 
Kenya and Ethiopia: Options for Regional Trade 
Collaboration

Alemayehu Geda and Philliph Musyoka Michael

The world economy experienced a slowdown in growth from 
2018 driven by the negative effects of the novel coronavirus. 
Short-term policy responses and the global slowdown have 
had major impacts on growth, value chains, incomes, trade, 
poverty, and consumption. Sub-Saharan Africa suffered modest 
effects of the pandemic and is recovering from the slowdown. 
This recovery is, however, likely to be affected by the Russian-
Ukraine war. The years running up to the COVID-19, Ethiopia 
and Kenya, like all other developing countries, were a step 
behind in achieving equitable access to food for all. Now, the 
effects of the COVID-19 are still lurking, and the Russian-
Ukraine war put the two countries steps away from ensuring 
equitable access to food for all; and in both countries, ravaging 
drought and high inflation is likely to exacerbate poverty and 
food insecurity, demeaning the gains made towards SDG 
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2: Zero Hunger by 2030. The impacts of rising poverty and 
reduced livelihoods are reflected clearly in rising levels of 
food insecurity and decreasing diet quality. For example, in 
Kenya, the national poverty headcount ratio increased by 13 
percentage points, from 28.9% in the pre COVID-19 (2019) 
to 41.9% in 2020, with income losses more pronounced in 
urban than rural areas (Nafula et al., 2020). The estimation 
for Ethiopia also shows that the poverty rate has increased by 
10 (in mild scenario) to 15 percentage points or by about 15 
million people (worst scenario) due to the COVID-19 effect.

Case of the development of agricultural trade between 
Morocco and Senegal

Mohamed Benayad

The war in Ukraine has created a sense of scarcity of food 
products and their inputs, which has not failed to impact their 
world prices and generate significant risks to food security, 
particularly in developing countries. Morocco and Senegal 
are closely concerned by these risks given their level of 
dependence on food imports. The main objective of this project 
is to identify the direct and indirect effects of the war in Ukraine 
on food security in Morocco and Senegal with reference to the 
first two criteria mentioned above. It also aims to explore the 
possibilities of developing trade between Morocco and Senegal 
in order to reduce the food insecurity induced by the war in 
Ukraine.

Food Security Effects of Food and Agricultural Inputs 
Trade Shocks from the Russia-Ukraine Region in 
South Africa and Mozambique: Exploring the Roles 
of the Maputo Corridor, SADC, and Continental 
Sources

Nicholas Ngepah

The ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine has had 
significant implications for global food and nutrition security, 
particularly in Mozambique and South Africa. This project 
examines the extent and the causes of food and nutrition 
insecurity in both countries with an econometric focus on the 
role of external trade shocks from the Russia-Ukraine region 
relative to other regions. It considers the potential contribution 
of the Maputo Corridor in alleviating food insecurity. While 
both countries rely on imports from Ukraine and Russia, 
the study suggests that alternative sources within Africa 
and the Southern African Development Community (SADC) 
region can mitigate the impact of trade shocks. Additionally, 
the establishment and enhancement of the Maputo Corridor 

play a crucial role in improving food security, particularly for 
Mozambique. The study recommends strengthening trade 
linkages within the Maputo Corridor, SADC, and Africa to 
enhance food security. Challenges to the potential of the 
corridor, such as trade imbalance, limited infrastructure, 
and weak institutional frameworks, need to be addressed 
through diversifying the agricultural sector, improving 
transportation infrastructure, promoting regional cooperation, 
and streamlining implementation. Overall, the project’s study 
highlights the importance of addressing internal factors, 
diversifying trade partnerships, and leveraging regional 
cooperation to ensure long-term food and nutrition security in 
the face of external shocks such as the Russian-Ukraine war. 

Employment Promotion Project
Caroline Krafft, Ragui Assaad, Rana Hendy, Rasha 
Hassan, Mina Ayad and Mohamed Azab, Irene Selwaness  
& Ghada Barsoum

The objective of the Employment Promotion Project is to 
assess the research gaps pertaining to the Egyptian labor 
market, and support the generation of information about the 
labor demand. The findings of this research will in turn reform 
the education sector to facilitate school-to-work transition, 
provide labor market intelligence, and facilitate evidence-based 
dialogue on the future of work. The topics that are covered in 
this research include school-to-work transition of graduates of 
technical education, analysis of the growing and shrinking job 
sectors in Egypt, the informal/gig economy, and labor market 
entry mechanisms. Part of the outputs of this project include 
the production of an occupational outlook, which is a database 
that is projected to include all the relevant information 
relating to each occupation in Egypt, including which jobs are 
demanded/growing/shrinking, the skill sets and education 
level required for each occupation, the gender distribution for 
each occupation etc. This online platform is to be hosted by 
the Ministry of Planning of Egypt. Additionally, global labor 
market trends such as the adoption of artificial intelligence, 
digitalization, automation, and the rise of the green economy, 
will also be analyzed in our research on the future of work. 

Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA
Ishac Diwan and Ibrahim Elbadawi

Post-Covid-19, the challenge of adjusting to high fuel and food 
prices, and to rising global Interest rates are particularly hard 
for the oil importing countries of the MENA region. Public 
debts are rising fast towards unsustainable levels. Already, 
currency devaluation and inflation are combining to lower 
economic growth, increase poverty, and put more stress on a 
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battered middle-class, leading to a rise of social unrest. Against 
this backdrop, ERF launched a research project on Stabilization 
and Adjustment in MENA, conducted in collaboration with the 
Finance for Development Lap (FDL), with the aim to clarify the 
macro-economic risks related to external and internal balances 
(and the sustainability of public and external debt), and to 
propose an overall strategy for dealing with these risks - with a 
special focus on the balance between austerity and innovative 
growth measures in ways that can clarify the central trade-offs 
faced by the main actors, in response to a series of negative 
shocks, to structural weaknesses in the economy, and to new 
challenges in Egypt, Lebanon, Tunisia, Morocco, Sudan and 
Jordan. 

The Socioeconomic Impact of the Russia-Ukraine 
Crisis on Vulnerable Families and Children in Egypt: 
Mitigating Food Security and Nutrition Concerns  

May Gadallah and Nesma Amer

The “Inclusive Social Protection and the Impact of Ukraine 
Crisis on Children in Egypt” program comes as part of an ERF/
UNICEF partnership. The project focuses on the implications 
of the Russia Ukraine crisis both globally and on Egypt’s 
economy and people, with a particular focus on the concerning 
impact the crisis is expected to have on children’s holistic 
development. It reviews existing global and local evidence to 
determine these potential effects and reviews existing policies 
and programs that could play a role in mitigating the impact 
within the Egyptian context. It also explores the impact that 
the crisis has had on Egypt’s economy and reviews the impact 
of the crisis on food security globally and in Egypt, particularly 
for children from vulnerable households.  To make a case for 
the possible consequences that the crisis could have on poor 
Egyptian families and their children, the project’s research 
paper builds on studies that analyzed how the spikes in inflation 
rates in 2017 affected Egypt’s poverty rate, as well as the 
consumption patterns of vulnerable households with children. 
Moreover, it investigates how the stability in prices, in tandem 
with different social protection programs, was concurrent with 
a reduction in poverty rates. The project also describes the 
situation of another group of vulnerable households in Egypt, 
namely migrants, refugees, and asylum seekers, who are likely 
to be more affected by the crisis. It addresses the importance 
of social protection programs in mitigating the effects of the 
crisis to reduce the risk of falling into poverty, or into even 
deeper poverty, and food insecurity. Finally, it presents short- 
and medium-term policy recommendations to address or 
alleviate the economic devastation that vulnerable households 
and children in Egypt are likely to face.

 

Why Is Social Insurance Coverage Declining in 
Egypt? A Decomposition Analysis 

Ragui Assaad and Sarah Wahby

This project analyzes the decline in social insurance coverage 
in Egypt from 2007 to 2021 to determine the extent to which it 
was due to compositional shifts in the structure of the economy 
or the workforce as opposed to changes in coverage for specific 
types of jobs and workers. It mainly concludes that only a 
fraction of the decline in coverage can be attributed to structural 
changes in the economy or to changes in the characteristics of 
firms and workers. The largest decline in coverage occurred 
in the period from 2014 to 2017 and was concentrated among 
male new entrants with no formal education in private sector 
services working in micro and small enterprises. Although the 
declines occurred for both wage and non wage workers, they 
were larger for the latter. Correcting for firm size, we see that 
there was a slight reversal in the declining trend post 2018, but 
coverage rates in 2021 remain well below what they were in 
2014 when the declining trend accelerated.   

When Formality Is Costly and Informality Is Legal: 
Social Insurance Design Woes at A Time of Economic 
Crises 

Irene Selwaness  and Ghada Barsoum

The project examines the extent to which the institutional 
framework for social insurance (SI) might constrain access 
to contributory schemes and explain workers’ coverage gaps. 
We use nationally representative microdata from Egypt to test 
how the design leads to the exclusion of specific categories 
of workers. We show that the legal framework for SI allows 
certain types of workers (the self-employed and employers 
in unregistered enterprises) to opt out of the SI system, thus 
legalizing and legitimating employment informality. Although 
the law explicitly highlights the objective of including informal 
workers, the difficulty of the required documentation and the 
focus on specific occupations show that it fails to recognize the 
diversity of this group. Our findings also show that the lack 
of SI coverage happened even among workers who should 
be covered by law, i.e., regular wage workers, due to the 
substantial increases in the minimum insurable wage upon 
which contributions are calculated, rendering the scheme less 
attractive for both employers and employees. It demonstrates 
that the conditions of enrollment, cost, and benefit design for 
SI schemes disincentivize both employers and employees from 
contributing to the system. well below what they were in 2014 
when the declining trend accelerated.
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Working Conditions in the Paid Care Economy in 
Egypt: Improvement or Deterioration 

Caroline Krafft and Maye Ehab

The paid care economy plays a crucial role in employing women. 
This sector also acts as a mechanism to reduce care work 
within households, which disproportionately affects women. 
This project examines the evolution of the paid care economy 
in Egypt, over the period 2009-2021, drawing on three different 
data sources to assess trends in employment and working 
conditions. The analyses demonstrate that, despite stated 
goals to grow the paid care economy, paid care employment 
has shrunk over time in Egypt, driven by the retreat of the 
public sector. While private sector care employment has 
grown, it has not done so sufficiently to compensate for the 
decline of the public sector. Furthermore, working conditions 
in care employment have worsened over time, in part due to 
the increasing privatization of care employment. The informal 
share of care employment (without social insurance coverage) 
has increased over time. Informalization and privatization have 
particularly affected women in paid care employment. While 
initially there was not a care pay gap, one has formed over time. 
Encouraging not only the growth of the paid care economy, 
but also decent and equitable working conditions is a pressing 
issue for human development and women’s employment.  

The Dynamics of Social Insurance in Egypt, Caroline 
Krafft and Cyrine Hannafi 

Caroline Krafft and Cyrine Hannafi

Contributory social insurance provides essential benefits 
to workers when they retire and is associated with a host of 
other benefits while working. Yet social insurance coverage 
is low and declining in Egypt. This research project uses 
both panel and retrospective data from Egypt to assess the 
dynamics behind these trends in social insurance coverage. 
Analyses examine the dynamics of gaining social insurance, 
including specifically at entry and when already working but 
uninsured. Losing social insurance, both when continuing to 
work and due to existing work, is also examined. The results 
highlight not only the decline of social insurance coverage but 
an informality trap: workers often obtain social insurance at the 
start of a job, and so long as they remain employed in that job, 
are unlikely to lose social insurance. However, workers who 
start work without social insurance coverage rarely gain social 
insurance thereafter, unless they change jobs. One reason for 
the decline in social insurance may be the low value workers 
place on coverage; the unemployed have, typically, the same 
reservation wages for jobs with and without social insurance 
coverage.  

Social Insurance from A Regional Perspective: Egypt, 
Jordan and Tunisia 

Zina Nimeh, Tamara A. Kool and Guido Heins

This research project is a comparative analysis of social 
insurance systems in Egypt, Jordan, and Tunisia. It examines 
legal, structural, and institutional distinctions and investigates 
efforts to extend coverage to challenging-to-insure groups and 
sectors. Conceptualized within the framework of the social 
contract, the analysis takes a two-pronged approach. Firstly, 
a mapping of the legal provisions and de jure coverage of 
social insurance schemes is conducted for all three countries 
to assess the inequalities in access to contributory social 
insurance schemes and identify vulnerable groups at risk 
of exclusion due to labor market dynamics and economic 
structures. Secondly, de facto social insurance coverage is 
explored by analyzing data from the Integrated Labor Market 
Panel Surveys (ILMPS) for Egypt (2018), Jordan (2016), and 
Tunisia (2014). The analysis reveals that in all three countries, 
gaps are present between de jure and de facto social insurance 
coverage. This is especially true for those engaged in sectors 
characterized by high informality, daily wage laborers, women, 
youth, and low-income individuals. Additionally, significant 
gaps persist between the private sector and the public sector. 
The findings underline the need for a comprehensive approach 
to foster inclusivity in the social insurance system, which can 
significantly upgrade the broader social contract.

    
Women in the Egyptian Labor Market

Maye Ehab, Ghada Barsoum and Caroline Krafft

Although there has been a large body of research on patterns 
of women’s employment over the life course, that body of 
research has yet to be synthesized to extract key messages. 
Moreover, there is very little research on the employer, labor 
demand side of the market. This project attempts to address 
these gaps through three components: (1) a literature review 
on women in the Egyptian labor market (2) A qualitative study 
of employers’ perceptions of working women in less-feminized 
sectors and (3) an audit study addressing discrimination by 
gender and marital status in the Egyptian labor market.   
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Ongoing Projects

National Child Labor Survey 2022
Ragui Assaad, Rania RoushdyZakaria Othman and Ali 
Rashed

Through this project, ERF aims to support the improvement 
and maintenance of a reliable child labour knowledge base at 
CAPMAS and to support with the design and implementation 
of the new round of the NCLS. The new round of the NCLS 
will aim to estimate the size of child employment and child 
labour in addition to exploring the relationship child labour 
and schooling and child wellbeing., It will also study the impact 
of COVID-19 on this phenomenon. The proposed National 
Child Labour Survey (NCLS) project will be considered as the 
second round of its type in Egypt after the first round that was 
conducted in cooperation between CAPMAS and the ILO in 
2010. This project will be conducted in a collaborative manner 
among the three main institutions namely, ILO, ERF and 
CAPMAS.

EuroMed Cluster Forward (ECF)

EuroMED Cluster Forward (ECF) is a four-year EU-funded 
project. Led by ANIMA Investment Network, ECF brings 
together a rich consortium with the Economic Research 
Forum (ERF), Berytech amd Leaders International (Qeiadat) 
as lead partners and more than 8 affiliates (e.g., FEMISE, 
Malta Enterprise, etc.) from the Mediterranean region. ECF 
aims to empower clusters in promoting inclusive innovation 
and competitiveness in the Euro med region with a view to 
enhancing growth, economic diversification, sustainable 
development, and employment. 

Under ECF project, ERF, in cooperation with FEMISE, is 
leading several activities including mapping and assessing the 
performance of clusters in Algeria, Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon, 
Morocco, Palestine, and Tunisia. Additionally, ERF is to 
conduct a benchmark study on South Neighbourhood policies 
and frameworks for cluster creation and development based 
upon relevant best practices at European and global levels.

In addition to supporting the dissemination of the project 
activities through online webinars, ERF and FEMISE will 
conduct a series of country case studies and dissemination 
reports to highlight sectors with strong comparative 
advantages and collaboration potential in the EuroMed region. 

The Voices of Refugees and Asylum Seekers: Social 
Protection Needs, Challenges and the Way Forward

Maia Sieverding  and Salma Abou Hussein

This study aims to understand refugees’ and asylum seekers’ 
experiences with and perspectives on existing cash assistance 
and in-kind benefits that they receive from UN agencies 
and NGOs, as well as their perspectives on the potential for 
incorporation into Egypt’s national social protection systems. 
Understanding refugees’ and asylum seekers’ social protection 
needs and how they view different systems’ ability to meet 
those needs can contribute to designing policy interventions 
that have greater potential for efficacy and uptake. It addresses 
the following research questions: (1) What is refugees’ and 
asylum seekers’ knowledge of i) existing humanitarian cash 
and in-kind benefits for refugees and asylum seekers provided 
by UN agencies and the NGO sector?; and ii) benefits provided 
by national social protection systems?; (2) What challenges do 
refugees and asylum seekers experience in accessing cash and 
in-kind benefits from UN agencies and/or the NGO sector?; 
(3) In times of economic shocks or income loss, what are the 
coping mechanisms of refugees and asylum seekers? How do 
these coping mechanisms affect children?; (4) What are the 
social protection needs of different groups of refugees and 
asylum seekers?; (5) How do refugees and asylum seekers 
perceive the benefits and disadvantages of integration in 
national social protection systems?; and (6) How does the 
above differ by the nationality and other sociodemographic 
characteristics of refugees and asylum seekers?

Costing for the inclusion of refugees within the 
Takaful and Karama Program

Heba Al Laithy & Dina Armanious

The study aims to assess the scale of the costs for potential 
inclusion of refugees in the national system for social 
assistance (building on the Takaful and Karama model) and 
the associated benefits or drawbacks for refugees and asylum 
seekers with costing scenarios based on vulnerability. The 
project’s paper argues that the inclusion of refugees into 
national social assistance programs can provide sustainable 
and cost-effective solutions to moving away from parallel 
humanitarian assistance, particularly in protracted situations. 
By addressing the following specific objectives, the project 
demonstrates the potential benefits of such inclusiveness, 
not only for the refugees themselves but also for the broader 
Egyptian society in terms of poverty reduction. The paper 
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presents two cost scenarios as follows: (1) Applying TKP’s 
current benefit level and (2) Applying TKP’s current benefit 
level in addition to food subsidies (food ration cards and balady 
bread) currently received by nationals. 

For each scenario, the cost of two coverage options is estimated; 
the first option is to cover the poor (40% of population)  and 
the second option is to cover the poor and near poor (75%) . 
As of October 2023, Egypt hosts 430,000 registered refugees 
from 59 countries. The targeted refugees for receiving benefits 
are 172,000 individuals when the poorest 40% are targeted and 
322,500 individuals when 75% of the population are targeted.

Integrating Refugees and Asylum Seekers within 
Egypt’s TKP: Promoting Long-Term Financial 
Sustainability

Sherine Al-Shawarby, Dina A. Fattah, Noha Sami and 
Nour Abou-Ismail

The aim of this project is to present policy makers, donors and 
other relevant stakeholders with viable financing options for 
the inclusion of refugees and asylum seekers in Egypt’s social 
assistance system (building on the Takaful and Karama model), 
while aligning their rights and benefits with those of Egyptian 
nationals, in line with Egypt’s obligations under international 
legal frameworks. It also aims to demonstrate the broader 
system strengthening benefits that such interventions can bring 
for both nationals and non-nationals. The paper recognizes that 
globally there is a shortage in funding to cater to this group 
and therefore calls for a shared-responsibility- approach that 
ensures that the Government of Egypt is supported in these 
efforts through international and regional commitments. 
The paper notes that the key challenge for host countries is 
effective cost management, which can be achieved through a 
combination of strategies: (i) sharing costs globally through 
responsible arrangements , (ii) adopting comprehensive 
policies – streamlined programming - beyond emergency 
responses can help reduce costs while maintaining high 
protection standards, and (iii) progressing towards durable 
solutions, where refugees no longer need protection, through 
innovative approaches that combine legal status with access 
to opportunities (e.g. access to labor markets). The paper also 
discusses the financing mechanism of four host states’ social 
assistance programs to refugees and asylum seekers, namely, 
Turkey, Jordan, Uganda, and Lebanon with the aim of drawing 
transferable conclusions and lessons learned. 

Integrating Refugees and Asylum Seekers within 
Egypt’s Universal Health Insurance Scheme: 
Promoting Long-Term Financial Sustainability

Sherine Al-Shawarby, Dina A. Fattah, Noha Sami and 
Nour Abou-Ismail 

The aim of this research study is to present policy makers, 
donors and other relevant stakeholders with viable financing 
options for the inclusion of refugees and asylum seekers in 
Egypt’s universal health insurance system (UHIS), while 
aligning their rights and benefits with those of Egyptian 
nationals, in line with Egypt’s obligations under international 
legal frameworks. It also aims to demonstrate the broader 
system strengthening benefits that such interventions can bring 
for both nationals and non-nationals. The paper recognizes that 
globally there is a shortage in funding to cater to this group 
and therefore calls for a shared-responsibility- approach that 
ensures that the Government of Egypt is supported in these 
efforts through international and regional commitments. 
The paper notes that the key challenge for host countries is 
effective cost management, which can be achieved through a 
combination of strategies: (i) sharing costs globally through 
responsible arrangements , (ii) adopting comprehensive 
policies – streamlined programming - beyond emergency 
responses can help reduce costs while maintaining high 
protection standards, and (iii) progressing towards durable 
solutions, where refugees no longer need protection, through 
innovative approaches that combine legal status with access to 
opportunities (e.g. access to labour markets). The paper also 
discusses the financing mechanism of four host states’ social 
assistance programs to refugees and asylum seekers, namely, 
Turkey, Jordan, Uganda, and Lebanon with the aim of drawing 
transferable conclusions and lessons learned.

Legal and Policy Frameworks for An Inclusive Social 
Protection System

Ghada Barsoum and Alaa Al Barrawi

This study seeks to assess policy and legislative frameworks 
governing social protection for refugees and asylum seekers in 
Egypt. The assessment focuses on: (1) the interaction between 
the national social protection policy and legal frameworks and 
the wider framework governing refugees and asylum seekers 
in Egypt such as policies and laws on migration, residence and 
employment; (2) identifying discrepancies between national 
policies and laws on social protection and international 
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obligations; (3) examining conflict among national policy and 
legislative frameworks on social protection for refugees and 
asylum seekers; and finally (4) assessing the extent to which 
there are  gaps between these laws and policies and actual 
practice during service delivery. Accordingly, and building on 
international best practice, the paper provides policy makers 
with practical adjustments to policy and legal frameworks 
to address barriers to the inclusion of refugees and asylum 
seekers in national systems.

Informality and Access to Social Insurance for 
Refugees And Asylum Seekers in the Egyptian Labor 
Market

Rania Roushdy and Al Anoud Mohamed

The main objective of this project is to build a case for the 
extension of social insurance benefits to refugees and asylum 
seekers, who are working in the informal economy, under 
a contributory scheme, parallel to that governing national 
workers. Accordingly, it presents policy makers with practical 
solutions for the adoption of a clear set of national procedures 
that regulate refugees and asylum seekers’ work in the 
informal sector of the Egyptian labor market.

Initiated Projects

Making Macroeconomic Policies More Environment 
Friendly: A CGE Analysis for Egypt

Chahir Zaki, City Eldeep and Abeer Elshinnawy

Climate change and extreme weather events negatively affect 
land and labor productivity and lead to destruction of the 
capital stock. This is why active carbon pricing policies are 
needed to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Such policies 
cause changes in relative prices of energy-intensive goods 
and services versus less energy-intensive ones. In turn, this 
will affect the composition of final and intermediate demand 
and labor demand, and thus household’s income. On the 
other hand, carbon pricing will increase public revenues that 
can be utilized to stimulate R&D investment in energy-saving 
technologies and make agriculture and fisheries more climate-
resilient. This is why it is important to examine the impact of 
such policies in a general equilibrium framework.

Against this background and in the context of the World 
Bank preparatory work for the Egypt Country Economic 
Memorandum, ERF prepared this paper to examine the 
role of macro policies to adapt and mitigate the effects of 

climate change. The paper simulated the impact of various 
macroeconomic, mainly fiscal policies on green transition. 
Using a single-country dynamic CGE model for Egypt, the 
paper investigated the impact of fiscal policy instruments 
to foster green transition, including both carbon pricing 
and expenditure policy measures and, in a novel addition, it 
explored these climate effects taking into account the gender 
dimension.

Shifting Sands: Gender and Employment in Post-
COVID-19 Egypt 

Amira El-Shal and Rana Hendy

Women in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region 
struggle with significant challenges in the labor markets. 
Research to date has focused on explaining women’s 
persistently low labor force participation rate and high 
unemployment rate in some countries in MENA. However, 
there is limited evidence on the impact of recent trends in 
sectoral and economic activity performance, as well as broader 
structural changes, and recent trends in firm performance, 
on gender-inclusive labor markets, especially in the context of 
labor market transitions and re-entry post-COVID-19. 
Against this background and in the context of the World 
Bank preparatory work for the Egypt Country Economic 
Memorandum, ERF prepared this paper aiming to contribute to 
the literature on gender and employment in Egypt by focusing 
on the unique dynamics and challenges arising in the post-
COVID-19 pandemic context, bridging the gap between micro 
and macro data analyses.  The paper shows evidence on the 
long-term gendered impact of the pandemic on the Egyptian 
labor market. It also investigates the gender-based sectoral and 
occupational segregation in the economy and estimates how 
this segregation has contributed to the persistently low female 
labor force participation in Egypt. It analyzes labor market 
transitions and re-entry post-COVID-19, as well.
 

The Role of MSMEs in Fostering Inclusive and 
Equitable Economic Growth in the Context of the 
Clean Energy Transition in MENA

Access to energy is becoming more challenging in MENA, 
particularly for energy importing countries in the region. This 
makes the transition to clean energy in MENA a vital one. 
Luckily, the region has inherent comparative advantages given 
the natural endowments of high solar radiation over much of the 
year and strong wind nodes. The importance of this transition 
in MENA lies in the need to meet the region’s growing energy 
demand at affordable prices, promoting inclusive sustainable 
development, creating new jobs while adhering to climate 
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change mitigation and adaptation policies, and building climate 
change resilience. In this regional context, where medium, 
small and micro enterprises (MSMEs) play a significant role in 
the economy, understanding MSMEs potential, challenges and 
opportunities in the context of this transition as well as their 
prospects for job creation and enhancing climate resilience and 
empowerment of women and youth is crucial.

Within this context, ERF launched this project funded by IDRC 
and in collaboration with The Middle East Institute (MEI) 
and the Lebanese Centre for Policy Studies (LCPS). The aim 
of this project is to enhance the knowledge on the role of 
MSMEs in energy transition in six MENA countries namely, 
Egypt, Tunisia, Jordan, Lebanon, Morocco, and Sudan. The 
research will generate new micro data, new knowledge, and 
insights about cross- cutting issues as well as the current state 
of renewable energy adoption by MSMEs, the institutional, 
financial, technical, and regulatory obstacles faced by them, 
the demand for skills, and the potential impact of the transition 
on more sustainable energy employment opportunities for 
youth, women, and marginalized groups.

Research on Gender and the Future of Work in the 
Arab States Region 

Amira El Shal, Adelina Zeqiri, Adel Ben Youssef, Nathalie 
Hilmi, Belal Falla, Vladimir Hlasny and Irène Selwaness

In line with the UNDP’s overall work on women’s economic 
empowerment and gender inclusive economies, ERF is joining 
forces with the UNDP for the purpose of informing policies 
towards creating new gender-inclusive opportunities in the 
green, blue, digital, and care sectors, as sectors of potential 
growth, by producing research papers on the “Future of Work” 
and gender equality in the Arab States region. The concept 
of the “Future of Work” has gained significant attention, 
particularly in light of the need to reassess work environments 
in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. The digital and green/
blue transitions in the Arab States region, together with the 
expansion of the care economy, offer a range of opportunities 
and challenges in the pursuit of gender equality and inclusivity. 
If managed effectively, these transitions can empower women 
by providing them with more productive and better-paying 
jobs, promoting work-life balance, and facilitating a reduction 
or redistribution of unpaid care and domestic work. 

ERF & UNDP new collaboration seeks to provide a strong 
foundation for addressing the implications of growing and 
shrinking jobs on skills and training requirements as well as the 
re-skilling needs of the labor force in general. Understanding 

the intricacies of the megatrends in the digital, green/blue, 
and care sectors, is thus crucial to provide insights for policy-
makers to foster gender-inclusive opportunities.

The Assessment of the Role of NGOs in Social 
Protection in Egypt

Given their flexibility, accountability, and cost efficiency, 
NGOs actively seek to cater to the needs of the society and 
marginalized communities. Social safety nets in Egypt are not 
limited to state efforts; NGOs in Egypt have a long history 
of providing aid and support to the poor. For instance, many 
private companies have established affiliated NGOs for the 
purpose of institutionalizing social responsibility initiatives 
and facilitating the ability to build partnerships, both with the 
relevant state institutions and with specialized NGOs.

The role of NGOs in Egypt became even more prominent with 
the rise of the social and economic challenges experienced 
by Egyptians throughout the recent years. These challenges 
created a vacuum for NGOs to fill, where the government was in 
dire need of support to provide development programs to assist 
vulnerable communities. Hence, NGOs in Egypt represent the 
“force of support”’ for vulnerable citizens, providing them with 
services to meet their basic needs and helping them overcome 
their day-to-day challenges.

In light of this, ERF is joining forces with the Sawiris Foundation 
for Social Development (SFSD), and the Central Agency for 
Public Mobilization and Statistics (CAPMAS), and the Ministry 
of Social Solidarity kicking off this project to examine the role of 
Civil Society Organizations (CSOs) in various areas including 
social protection, economic empowerment and education.

Stable food Access and Prices and Lower Exposure 
to Shocks (STAPLES)

Stability is a pillar of food security which does not only 
require food to be available, accessible, and well utilized, 
but also that these conditions are stable and predictable, 
stressing the centrality of information. Stability is put at risk by 
several domestic and external factors. Hence, policymakers, 
supported by researchers and international organizations, 
have made big efforts to understand and track the main factors 
of risk for the domestic production of food, like meteorology, 
water stress, local conflicts...etc. There is less understanding 
and systematized knowledge about which external shocks and 
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stressors may derive from international markets, how they 
can be transmitted domestically to the cereal supply chains, 
and what solutions such actors have to deal with these shocks. 
MENA countries are particularly exposed to international 
shocks in cereals’ markets because they largely rely on 
imports to feed their population and food self-sufficiency is not 
an option for them, due to water scarcity. A deep understanding 
of such external shocks and stressors and of coping strategies 
is fundamental. 

In this context, the project aims at informing private and public 
resilience strategies through new evidence-based knowledge 
that is created, systematized and spread on external stressors 
and shocks deriving from cereal global value chains (GVCs) 
on the MENA region and on the feasible local solutions to 
address them, with a specific focus on Morocco and Egypt. 
Led by Politecnico di Milano University (PoliMi), ERF joined 
7 partners in the Mediterranean as the consortium leading the 
implementation of this project funded by the European Union.

Impact of War in Ukraine on Food Security in Low 
Income Countries:  The case of Egypt and Kenya

Chahir Zaki and Philliph Musyoka Michael

The global economy has endured crisis after crisis in less than 
a decade. No sooner had the global economy recovered from 
the effects of the Covid-19 than the Russia-Ukraine war (RUW) 
set in doing a devastating blow to growth and almost eroding 
the gains made on recovery. The RUW buffeted the global 
economy through fuel, fertilizer, and food price increases. The 
crisis also interrupted logistics and supply channels negatively 
impacting the global trade patterns. This is why several 
reports and studies described the war as devastating ‘three-
dimensional crisis’ involving high food and energy prices as 
well as tightening finance that not only have important impacts 
on their own but could feed into each other to generate vicious 
cycles of poverty, hunger, food insecurity, and inequalities (see 
e.g., the UN Global Crisis Response Group 2022a and 2022b). 
Africa was particularly affected by the war in addition to other 
external and internal shocks that amplified the negative impact 
on households (debt crisis in Egypt, war in Gaza, etc.).
Against this background, ERF in cooperation with the African 
Economic Research Consortium (AERC) and the Partnership 
for Economic Policy (PEP) launched this project funded by 
the International Development Research Center (IDRC) of 
Canada. The overall objective of the collaborative research 
effort is to support policy responses that are evidence-informed 
and gender- responsive, to address the current impacts of the 
war on food security and enhance longer-term resilience to 
shocks for vulnerable populations in low-income countries in 
Africa and the Middle East.

Under this project, ERF is leading in the primary data collection 
(through phone surveys) and macro-micro level analysis/
simulations of impact on households and vulnerable groups in 
the in-depth country case studies in Egypt and Kenya.

Introducing the Sudan Labor Market Panel Survey 
2022 

Caroline Krafft, Ragui Assaad and Ruby Cheung

This research study describes the new Sudan Labor Market 
Panel Survey (SLMPS) 2022, the first nationally representative 
survey in Sudan in almost a decade. It details the design of 
the survey, including the topics covered by this multi-purpose 
household survey and the complexities of the sampling 
strategy, which over-sampled refugees and the internally 
displaced. The training, fieldwork, resulting sample, and 
weights are described. Key demographic and labor market 
indicators are then compared to other, older nationally 
representative data sources, both to assess the validity of the 
SLMPS data and update our understanding of Sudan’s labor 
market. The rich, publicly available data of the SLMPS provide 
substantial opportunities for researchers to better understand 
the evolution of Sudan’s labor market, economy, and society.

The Structure of the Labor Force and Employment 
in Sudan

Caroline Krafft, Ragui Assaad, Adriana Cortes-Mendosa, 
and Isabel Honzay 

Sudan’s economy and society have been repeatedly disrupted 
by political turmoil since 2018, with challenges further 
compounded by the COVID-19 pandemic. How this turbulent 
period has affected Sudan’s labor market was previously 
unknown, as Sudan’s last household survey was in 2014/15. It 
investigates the state of Sudan’s labor market as of 2022, using 
the new, nationally-representative Sudan Labor Market Panel 
Survey data. The analyses examine labor supply, including 
the evolution of the age structure of the Sudanese population, 
the trends in age at marriage and fertility, the educational 
composition of the population, current enrollment rates, labor 
force participation, as well as employment and unemployment 
rates. The analyses also investigate the structure of 
employment by broad economic activity and institutional 
sector, by occupation, and by degree of informality. The 
results of the analyses show sizable demographic pressures 
on Sudan’s labor market from a large youth population. While 
historically Sudan had made appreciable progress in expanding 
access to education, that progress plateaued for cohorts born 
in the 1980s and later. Declines in labor force participation over 
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time and particularly for women may reflect the labor market 
impacts of Sudan’s recent political and economic turbulence. 
Unemployment is primarily a challenge for youth, new entrants 
to the labor market. Agriculture continues to play a sizable role 
in employment in Sudan, along with non-wage non-agricultural 
work and informal wage work. Informality is extremely high 
in private sector wage work (98%), and employment is largely 
within microenterprises. Relatively few private sector wage 
workers receive employment benefits or protections, with 60% 
working outside establishments and 37% working irregularly, 
highlighting the elevated level of vulnerable employment in 
Sudan.

Labor Market Dynamics in Sudan through Political 
Upheaval and Pandemic

Ragui Assaad, Caroline Krafft and Sarah Wahby

Sudan’s economy, society, and labor market have experienced 
a large number of shocks since Sudan’s last household survey 
in 2014/15. Pre-existing political and economic challenges 
contributed to the revolution in 2018 and substantial political 
change in 2019, followed by the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, 
and further political and economic turmoil in 2021-2022. The 
new Sudan Labor Market Panel Survey 2022 provides an 
important opportunity to understand labor market dynamics in 
Sudan during this turbulent period. Both contemporaneous and 
retrospective data allow the creation and analysis of monthly 
statuses and transitions throughout the 2015-2021 period. This 
project specifically examines the dynamics of job finding and 
entry into the labor market, unemployment durations, and 
employment exits. The results show the increased difficulties 
in entering employment as Sudan was beset by shocks.

Women’s Economic Empowerment in Sudan: Assets 
and Agency 

Caroline Krafft and Heather Moylan

This research project investigates women’s economic 
empowerment in Sudan, with a particular focus on their agency 
and assets. The analyses use the nationally-representative 
Sudan Labor Market Panel Survey 2022 data and compare 
agency and assets by gender. Rights to parcels, livestock, 
durables, mobile phones, and financial assets are explored, 
along with gender role attitudes, justification of domestic 
violence, mobility, and decision-making. The findings show 
how agency and assets evolve over the life course differently 
for men and women, with empowerment often diminishing at 
marriage for women but rising for men.

Gender, Work, and Time Use in the Context of a Low-
Income Economy: The Case of Sudan

Ragui Assaad, Vishal Jamkar, and Caroline Krafft

The main objective of this project is to build a case for the 
extension of social insurance benefits to refugees and asylum 
seekers, who are working in the informal economy, under 
a contributory scheme, parallel to that governing national 
workers. Accordingly, it presents policy makers with practical 
solutions for the adoption of a clear set of national procedures 
that regulate refugees and asylum seekers’ work in the informal 
sector of the Egyptian labor market.

Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons in Sudan: 
Evidence from the SLMPS Data 

Ragui Assaad, Caroline Krafft and Jackline Wahba

As of 2022, Sudan was home to 1.1 million refugees and 3.7 
million internally displaced persons (IDPs), along with 
a substantial population that had previously experienced 
displacement. The Sudan Labor Market Panel Survey 
(SLMPS) 2022 over-sampled locations hosting the displaced in 
order to facilitate research on refugees and IDPs. This paper 
investigates, for the displaced, their demographics, labor 
market outcomes, education, health, food security, experiences 
of shocks, coping, and social assistance received. Important 
distinctions are made between current and returned refugees 
and IDPs and their outcomes in comparison to Sudanese who 
were never displaced. Analyses also explore differences by 
location of residence (in host communities, formal, or informal 
camps), sex, and across different age groups.

Education in Sudan: Disparities in Attainment, 
Dropout and Quality Issues

Ebaidalla Mahjoub

Like many fragile countries in the MEAN region, Sudan has 
struggled with recurrent economic and political instability, 
leading to unfavorable human capital outcomes, particularly in 
the field of education. Despite efforts to expand educational 
opportunities over the past few decades, Sudan continues 
to contend with high rates of illiteracy and school dropout. 
Furthermore, statistics from the Sudan Labor Market 
Panel Survey (SLMPS, 2022) show significant disparities in 
educational attainment and enrollment across regions, age and 
gender groups (Crafft, Assaad, Cortes-Mendosa and Honzay, 
2023). This paper discusses the pattern of education in Sudan 
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based on the 2022 Sudan labor market panel Survey (SLMPS) 
as well as the available statistics from previous household 
budget surveys, focusing on disparities in enrollment and 
attainment, quality and dropout. 

Determinants of High Fertility in Sudan
Maia Sieverding

A country’s fertility rate is the main driver of its demographic 
structure. Fertility rates thus have important implications 
for dependency ratios, the size of the future labor force, and 
ultimately economic growth. Sudan has the highest fertility 
rate in the Middle East and North Africa region, at over four 
births per woman. The rate of fertility decline seen in available 
surveys has been so slow that some analyses categorize This 
paper will explore some of the correlates and proximate 
determinants of fertility in Sudan, based on the Sudan Labor 
Market Panel Survey (SLMPS), which is the first nationally 
representative survey to collect birth histories since the 2014 
Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey (MICS). The paper examine 
fertility differentials by rural/urban residence, region, and 
women’s educational attainment. It also examines differentials 
in contraceptive use by these background characteristics. It 
explores in-depth trends and patterns in age at marriage, which 
is the most important determinant of fertility in contexts, such 
as Sudan, where contraceptive prevalence is low. As there is a 
debate in the demographic literature on the role of conflict and 
unrest – which has been prevalent in Sudan – in increasing rates 
of early marriage and fertility, it will also examine differentials 
in age at marriage, contraceptive use, and fertility among non-
nationals and Sudanese who have been internally displaced.

The Main Features of Sudan’s Income And Wages 
Structure 

May Gadallah, Nesma Mamdouh, Sara Ragab and Dalia 
Hany

For years, the Sudanese economy has been grappling, even 
prior to the recent conflict. The escalation of the recent events 
in Sudan has aggravated matters resulting in devastating 
impacts on the country’s economy. The rise of the civil war 
has been associated with the disruption of global and local 
trade and transportation, and has also led to a decline in 
foreign investment. The aforementioned factors have been 
detrimental to the country’s economy, hence we seek to 
examine the economic shifts manifested in income and 
wages in line with the current circumstances. Accordingly, 
this paper aims to investigate income including wage levels 
as well as inequality in the country. This research starts off 
by setting the lay of the land in Sudan by describing its pre-
conflict status in terms of poverty and development measures. 

Given the current instability in the country, and its need for 
income diversification as a resilience strategy, we analyze the 
intensity of income diversification and the contribution to the 
total income. We seek to analyze income distribution in Sudan 
across different variables including sex, sector, educational 
level of the household head, as well as location. Additionally, 
we seek to identify the factors which determine the level of 
income diversification in the country where the capability to 
pursue various sources of income may represent a strategy for 
mitigating risks during the ongoing conflict. Finally, we aim to 
explore income and wage inequality using main factors and to 
be able to identify the main sources that mostly contribute to 
inequality.
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New Datasets Made Publicly Available 
through OAMDI

Data cleaning, harmonization and dissemination efforts 
by ERF’s in-house team of statisticians continued steadily. 
During January 2023 to December 2023, 13 new datasets 
were made publicly available through OAMDI. By end of 
2023, the ERF data portal holds 173 datasets. 

1.	 Combined Survey of Enterprises’ Digitization,  
SED_2022 | Published: January 2023  
http://www.erfdataportal.com/index.php/catalog/250  

2.	 Palestine- Socio-Economic Survey,  
HSOCIOECOS 2020  | Published: March 2023
http://www.erfdataportal.com/index.php/catalog/251  

3.	 Egyptian Industrial Firm Behavior Survey,  
EIFBS 2020/21  | Published: April 2023
http://www.erfdataportal.com/index.php/catalog/252  

4.	 Egypt- General Census for Population, Housing and 
Establishments 2006  | Published:  May 2023
http://www.erfdataportal.com/index.php/catalog/253  

5.	 Egypt- Household Income, Expenditure, and Consumption 
Survey, HIECS 2019/2020  | Published:  June 2023
http://www.erfdataportal.com/index.php/catalog/254

 
6.	 Sudan Labor Market Panel Survey,  

SLMPS 2022 | Published: August 2023
http://www.erfdataportal.com/index.php/catalog/265 

7.	 Egypt- Economic Census 2012/2013, ECOCENS 
2012/2013   | Published: September 2023
http://www.erfdataportal.com/index.php/catalog/267

8.	 Egypt Labour Market Discrimination Audit Study 2023 
(LMD Audit Study)  | Published: October 2023
http://www.erfdataportal.com/index.php/catalog/268 

9.	 SAHWA Youth Survey 2016 (2021)   
| Published:  November 2023
http://www.erfdataportal.com/index.php/catalog/282 

10.	Egypt- Labor Force Survey, 
LFS 2022   | Published:  November 2023
http://www.erfdataportal.com/index.php/catalog/283 

11.	Palestine- Time Use Survey, TUS 2012-2013  
| Published:  December 2023
http://www.erfdataportal.com/index.php/catalog/284 

12.	12.	 Egypt- Time Use Survey, TUS 2015    
| Published:  December 2023
http://www.erfdataportal.com/index.php/catalog/286 

13.	Jordan- Transition to Clean Energy Enterprise Survey- 
Jordan, TCEESJ_2023   | Published:  December 2023
http://www.erfdataportal.com/index.php/catalog/287 
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Middle East Development Journal 
(MEDJ)

MEDJ, Vol. 15, No. 1, June 2023

Does the structure of state budget matter for Egypt’s fiscal 
deficit? An empirical investigation using an ARDL bounds testing 
approach
Israa A. El Husseiny
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2022.2160179

Globalization and obesity in the GCC countries
Zouheir El-Sahli
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2022.2160182

The impact of sand and dust storms on agriculture in Iraq
Hayatullah Ahmadzai
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2023.2166748

On the unfinished business of stabilization programs: a CGE 
model of Egypt
City Eldeep & Chahir Zaki
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2023.2200727

Who can work from home in MENA?
Shireen AlAzzawi
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2023.2200729

Do labor markets and the social contract increase female youth 
unemployment in the GCC countries?
Wasseem Mina
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2023.2206759

Overeducation wage penalty for university graduates: evidence 
from the MENA region using machine learning techniques
Obbey A. Elamin
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2023.2167482

MEDJ, Vol. 15, No. 2, December 2023

The impact of sanctions on household welfare and employment in 
Iran
Djavad Salehi-Isfahani
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2023.2248697

COVID-19 shock 2020: impact on foreign and Kuwaiti workers 
and contrasts with employment, earnings and consumption during 
normal times
Ahmad Alawadhi, Mohammad Alali, Shaikha Al-Fulaij, Weam 
Behbahani, Marwa Al-Musallam & Sulayman Al-Qudsi
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2023.2254186

An empirical investigation of COVID-19 impact on the finance 
and human resources of logistics and supply chain companies in 
Oman
Ashraf Mishrif & Asharul Khan
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2023.2254187

Institutional quality and inward FDI: empirical evidence from GCC 
economies
Andrzej Cieslik & Sarhad Hamza
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2023.2254188

How does political risk matter for foreign direct investment into 
Arab economies?
Riadh Ben Jelili
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2023.2254190

The tale of three public debt crises in Tunisia, Egypt, and the 
Ottoman Empire in the 1860s and 1870s
Mustapha Kamel Nabli
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2023.2206754

Book Review: Tunisia’s economic development: why better than 
most in the Middle East but not East Asia, by Mustapha K. Nabli 
and Jeffrey Nugent
Roberto Zagha
DOI: 10.1080/17938120.2022.2143749

PublicationsAnnex C:

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2022.2160179
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2022.2160179
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2022.2160179
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2020.1716429
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2022.2160182
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2166748
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2200727
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2200727
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2200729
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2206759
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2206759
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2167482
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2167482
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2022.2074673
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2248697
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2248697
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2254186
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2254186
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2254186
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2254187
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2254187
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2254187
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2254188
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2254188
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2254190
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2254190
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2206754
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2206754
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2215158
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2215158
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17938120.2023.2215158


76

www.erf.org.eg

Policy Briefs

Toward More Job-Rich Growth: The Case of Egypt 
| English version | Arabic version
Moheb Said and Chahir Zaki
SP 1

Pour une Politique de Développement Durable Riche en Emploi au 
Maroc | French version | Arabic version
Saâd Belghazi
SP 2

Towards More Job-Rich Growth: The Case of Tunisia
| English version | French version | Arabic version
Khaled Nasri
SP 3

Climate Change in the Middle East and North Africa: Between the 
Repercussions of A Lived Reality and Opportunities for A Brighter 
Future
Héla Miniaoui
PB 109

Adoption of E-commerce Activities by Moroccan Firms: What Should 
Be Done?
Adel Ben Youssef
PB 110

Which Firms Are More Digitized in Egypt and Jordan?
Chahir Zaki
PB 111

Does Digitalization Matter for Egyptian and Jordanian Firms? 
Chahir Zaki
PB 112

Lebanon at risk – the uncertain road to a new growth path
Ishac Diwan and Henri Chaoul 
PB 113

Fiscal Policy, Private Sector Development and Social Outcomes in an 
Indebted Arab Country: Balancing Austerity with Pro-growth policies 
in Jordan
Ibrahim Saif and Zafiris Tzannatos
PB 114

Debt and Stabilization in Tunisia: How to Build Resilience and Avoid 
the Austerity Trap? 
Leila Baghdadi and Moez Labidi
PB 115

Why do so few married women work in Egypt?
Caroline Krafft
SP 6

No Place for a Woman: Employers’ Discrimination and Hiring 
Challenges in Less Feminized Sectors in Egypt
Ghada Barsoum
SP 7

The Dynamics behind the Decline of Social Insurance in Egypt and 
Directions for Reform
Caroline Krafft  and Cyrine Hannafi
PB 116

Deteriorating Working Conditions in the Care Economy in Egypt: 
Directions for Reform
Caroline Krafft and Maye Ehab
PB 117

What is Driving the Decline in Social Insurance Coverage in Egypt?  
Understanding the Relative Role of Structural Change
Ragui Assaad and Sarah Wahby
PB 118

Trade, Food Security and the War in Ukraine: The Cases of Egypt and 
Sudan
Chahir Zaki and Alzaki Alhelo
PB 119

Regional Insights into Social Insurance: Egypt, Jordan, and Tunisia
Zina Nimeh , Tamara A. Kool and Guido Heins
PB 120

Between Costly Formality and Legal Informality: Egypt’s Social 
Insurance Design Woes
Irene Selwaness and Ghada Barsoum
PB 121

https://erf.org.eg/publications/toward-more-job-rich-growth-the-case-of-egypt/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/%d9%86%d8%ad%d9%88-%d9%86%d9%85%d9%88-%d8%ab%d8%b1%d9%8a-%d8%a8%d9%81%d8%b1%d8%b5-%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%b9%d9%85%d9%84-%d8%ad%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%a9-%d9%85%d8%b5%d8%b1/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/%d9%85%d9%86-%d8%a3%d8%ac%d9%84-%d8%b3%d9%8a%d8%a7%d8%b3%d8%a9-%d9%84%d9%84%d8%aa%d9%86%d9%85%d9%8a%d8%a9-%d8%a7%d9%84%d9%85%d8%b3%d8%aa%d8%af%d8%a7%d9%85%d8%a9-%d8%ad%d8%a7%d9%81%d9%84%d8%a9-%d8%a8/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/vers-une-croissance-plus-riche-en-emplois-le-cas-de-la-tunisie/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/%d9%86%d8%ad%d9%88-%d8%a7%d9%84%d9%86%d9%85%d9%88-%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%ad%d8%a7%d9%81%d9%84-%d8%a8%d9%81%d8%b1%d8%b5-%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%b9%d9%85%d9%84-%d8%ad%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%a9-%d8%aa%d9%88%d9%86%d8%b3/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/is-covid-19-driving-up-consumer-prices-in-tunisia-evidence-from-the-pass-through-of-the-covid-19-shock/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/climate-change-in-the-middle-east-and-north-africa-between-the-repercussions-of-a-lived-reality-and-the-opportunities-for-a-brighter-future/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/climate-change-in-the-middle-east-and-north-africa-between-the-repercussions-of-a-lived-reality-and-the-opportunities-for-a-brighter-future/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/climate-change-in-the-middle-east-and-north-africa-between-the-repercussions-of-a-lived-reality-and-the-opportunities-for-a-brighter-future/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/adoption-of-e-commerce-activities-by-moroccan-firms-what-should-be-done/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/adoption-of-e-commerce-activities-by-moroccan-firms-what-should-be-done/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/which-firms-are-more-digitized-in-egypt-and-jordan/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/does-digitalization-matter-for-egyptian-and-jordanian-firms/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/lebanon-at-risk-the-uncertain-road-to-a-new-growth-path/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/fiscal-policy-private-sector-development-and-social-outcomes-in-an-indebted-arab-country-balancing-austerity-with-pro-growth-policies-in-jordan/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/fiscal-policy-private-sector-development-and-social-outcomes-in-an-indebted-arab-country-balancing-austerity-with-pro-growth-policies-in-jordan/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/fiscal-policy-private-sector-development-and-social-outcomes-in-an-indebted-arab-country-balancing-austerity-with-pro-growth-policies-in-jordan/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/debt-and-stabilization-in-tunisia-building-resilience-and-avoiding-the-austerity-trap/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/debt-and-stabilization-in-tunisia-building-resilience-and-avoiding-the-austerity-trap/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/why-do-so-few-married-women-work-in-egypt/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/no-place-for-a-womanemployers-discriminationand-hiring-challengesin-less-feminized-sectorsin-egypt/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/no-place-for-a-womanemployers-discriminationand-hiring-challengesin-less-feminized-sectorsin-egypt/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-dynamics-behind-the-decline-of-social-insurance-in-egypt-and-directions-for-reform/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-dynamics-behind-the-decline-of-social-insurance-in-egypt-and-directions-for-reform/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/deteriorating-working-conditions-in-the-care-economy-in-egypt-directions-for-reform/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/deteriorating-working-conditions-in-the-care-economy-in-egypt-directions-for-reform/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/what-is-driving-the-decline-in-social-insurance-coverage-in-egypt-understanding-the-relative-role-of-structural-change/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/what-is-driving-the-decline-in-social-insurance-coverage-in-egypt-understanding-the-relative-role-of-structural-change/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/trade-food-security-and-the-war-in-ukraine-the-cases-of-egypt-and-sudan-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/trade-food-security-and-the-war-in-ukraine-the-cases-of-egypt-and-sudan-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/regional-insights-into-social-insurance-egypt-jordan-and-tunisia/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/between-costly-formality-and-legal-informality-egypts-social-insurance-design-woes/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/between-costly-formality-and-legal-informality-egypts-social-insurance-design-woes/



77

www.erf.org.eg

ERF-FDL Project on Stabilization, Adjustment and Growth in MENA: 
Post-conflict Reconstruction, Stabilization and Growth Agenda for 
Sudan
Amir Hamid Elobaid and Alzaki Alhelo 
PB 122

Morocco — Beyond debt: sustainable pathways to higher growth
Abdelaaziz Ait Ali, Fatima Ezzahra Mengoub, Mahmoud Arbouch, 
Fahd Azaroual, Oumayma Bourhriba, Youssef El Jai and Badr Mandri
PB 123

Lebanon’s Untapped Potential: The Persistent Challenge of High 
Economic Inactivity among Young Women
Lea Bou Khater, Marion Dovis, Josephine Kass-Hanna, Karine 
Moukaddem and Eva Raiber
PB 125

Policy Research Reports

The Socioeconomic Impact of the Russia-Ukraine Crisis on 
Vulnerable Families and Children in Egypt – Mitigating Food Security 
and Nutrition Concerns | English version | Arabic version
May Gadallah and Nesma Amer
PRR 46

The Future of Skills in the Egyptian Labor Market
Caroline Krafft
SPRR 2023-1

Green Jobs and the Future of Work in Egypt: A Focus on the 
Agriculture and Renewable Energy Sectors
Ghada Barsoum and Alanoud Ehab
SPRR 2023-2

The Promise of Information and Communication Technology (ICT) 
Jobs in Egypt
Irène Selwaness, Ragui Assaad and Mona El-Sayed
SPRR 2023-3

Work Arrangements in the Informal Sector and Gig Economy/Digital 
Platform Economy in Egypt
Rasha Hassan
SPRR 2023-4

Growing and Shrinking Occupations and the Demand for Skills in 
Egypt
Rana Hendy and Rasha Hassan
SPRR 2023-5

Working Papers

Thinking Politically About Money: The Changing Role of Political 
Finance in The Political (Un-)Settlements in Ethiopia and Sudan
Aditya Sarkar and Alex De Waal
WP 1625

Deposit Dollarization in Turkey: A Rolling Window Analysis
 A. Yasemin Yalta and A. Talha Yalta
WP 1626

Investigating the Effects of Monetary Policy Shocks on Growth and 
Inflation in Egypt: Asymmetry and the Long-term Impact
Nadeen Omar and Dina Yousri
WP 1627

On Trade Policy and Workers’ Transition between the Formal and 
Informal Sectors: An Application to The MENA Region in the Time of 
Covid-19
Fida Karam  and Chahir Zaki
WP 1628

Demand Volatility and Firm Export Margins: Evidence from Egypt
Yasmine Kamal
WP 1629

Crises, Uncertainty, and Policy Choice: Theory and evidence from 
Lebanon
Mounir Mahmalat
WP 1630

A Model of Political Uprisings
Raimundo Soto and Samir Makdisi
WP 1631

From Rags to Riches to Rags Again: Deconstructing the Narratives of 
Crony Capitalism and Neoliberal Ideology Through the Example of 
Algeria
Idriss Hadj Nacer
WP 1632

PublicationsAnnex C:

https://erf.org.eg/publications/post-conflict-reconstruction-stabilization-and-growth-agenda-for-sudan-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/post-conflict-reconstruction-stabilization-and-growth-agenda-for-sudan-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/post-conflict-reconstruction-stabilization-and-growth-agenda-for-sudan-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/morocco-beyond-debt-sustainable-pathways-to-higher-growth/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/lebanons-untapped-potential-the-persistent-challenge-of-high-economic-inactivity-among-young-women/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/lebanons-untapped-potential-the-persistent-challenge-of-high-economic-inactivity-among-young-women/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-socioeconomic-impact-of-the-russia-ukraine-crisis-on-vulnerable-families-and-children-in-egypt-mitigating-food-security-and-nutrition-concerns/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-socioeconomic-impact-of-the-russia-ukraine-crisis-on-vulnerable-families-and-children-in-egypt-mitigating-food-security-and-nutrition-concerns/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-socioeconomic-impact-of-the-russia-ukraine-crisis-on-vulnerable-families-and-children-in-egypt-mitigating-food-security-and-nutrition-concerns/

https://erf.org.eg/app/uploads/2023/09/1693739172_350_2614866_prr_46arabic_fullreport.pdf
https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-future-of-skills-in-the-egyptian-labor-market/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/green-jobs-and-the-future-of-work-in-egypt-a-focus-on-the-agriculture-and-renewable-energy-sectors/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/green-jobs-and-the-future-of-work-in-egypt-a-focus-on-the-agriculture-and-renewable-energy-sectors/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-promise-of-information-and-communication-technology-ict-jobs-in-egypt/?tab=undefined&c=undefined

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-promise-of-information-and-communication-technology-ict-jobs-in-egypt/?tab=undefined&c=undefined

https://erf.org.eg/publications/work-arrangements-in-the-informal-sector-and-gig-economy-digital-platform-economy-in-egypt/?tab=undefined&c=undefined

https://erf.org.eg/publications/work-arrangements-in-the-informal-sector-and-gig-economy-digital-platform-economy-in-egypt/?tab=undefined&c=undefined

https://erf.org.eg/publications/growing-and-shrinking-occupations-and-the-demand-for-skills-in-egypt/?tab=undefined&c=undefined

https://erf.org.eg/publications/growing-and-shrinking-occupations-and-the-demand-for-skills-in-egypt/?tab=undefined&c=undefined

https://erf.org.eg/publications/is-covid-19-increasing-inequalities-in-jordan/
https://erf.org.eg/publications/thinking-politically-about-money-the-changing-role-of-political-finance-in-the-political-un-settlements-in-ethiopia-and-sudan/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/thinking-politically-about-money-the-changing-role-of-political-finance-in-the-political-un-settlements-in-ethiopia-and-sudan/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/deposit-dollarization-in-turkey-a-rolling-window-analysis-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/investigating-the-effects-of-monetary-policy-shocks-on-growth-and-inflation-in-egypt-asymmetry-and-the-long-term-impact-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/investigating-the-effects-of-monetary-policy-shocks-on-growth-and-inflation-in-egypt-asymmetry-and-the-long-term-impact-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/on-trade-policy-and-workers-transition-between-the-formal-and-informal-sectors-an-application-to-the-mena-region-in-the-time-of-covid-19/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/on-trade-policy-and-workers-transition-between-the-formal-and-informal-sectors-an-application-to-the-mena-region-in-the-time-of-covid-19/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/on-trade-policy-and-workers-transition-between-the-formal-and-informal-sectors-an-application-to-the-mena-region-in-the-time-of-covid-19/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/demand-volatility-and-firm-export-margins-evidence-from-egypt/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/crises-uncertainty-and-policy-choice-theory-and-evidence-from-lebanon/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/crises-uncertainty-and-policy-choice-theory-and-evidence-from-lebanon/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/a-model-of-political-uprisings/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/from-rags-to-riches-to-rags-again-deconstructing-the-narratives-of-crony-capitalism-and-neoliberal-ideology-through-the-example-of-algeria/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/from-rags-to-riches-to-rags-again-deconstructing-the-narratives-of-crony-capitalism-and-neoliberal-ideology-through-the-example-of-algeria/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/from-rags-to-riches-to-rags-again-deconstructing-the-narratives-of-crony-capitalism-and-neoliberal-ideology-through-the-example-of-algeria/



78

www.erf.org.eg

Political Islam and Crony Capitalism in Sudan: A Case Study of 
“Munazzamat al-Dawa al-Islamiyya”
Mohammed Elhaj Mustafa Ali and Ebaidalla M. Ebaidalla
 WP 1633

Crony Capitalism through the “Developmental State” Model of 
Ethiopia: An Identification of Its Main Manifestations
Alemayehu Geda
WP 1634

Which Firms Are More Digitized? A Comparative Study between 
Egypt and Jordan
Chahir Zaki
WP 1635

Does Digitalization Matter? Evidence from Egyptian and Jordanian 
Firms
Chahir Zaki
WP 1636

Digitalization and Firm Performance in the Middle East and North 
Africa: Case Studies of Jordan, Morocco and Egypt
Nong Zhu and Xubei Luo
WP 1637

Digitalization and Disruptive Technologies in Middle East North 
Africa (MENA) and Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) Regions
Ahmed Farouk Ghoneim and Dina Atef Mandour
WP 1638

Determinants of Adoption of Online Commercial Activities by 
Moroccan Firms
Adel Ben Youssef
WP 1639

The Effects of Exchange Rate Changes on Sudanese Output: An 
Asymmetric Analysis using the NARDL Model
Mesbah Fathy Sharaf and Abdelhalem Mahmoud Shahen
WP 1640

Estimating the Causal relationship between External Debt and 
Inflation in Jordan: Evidence from an ARDL and Toda-Yamamoto 
approaches
Mesbah Fathy Sharaf and Abdelhalem Mahmoud Shahen
WP 1641

State Business Relations in Sudan: The Prospects for a Dynamic 
Private Sector
Kabbashi M Suliman
WP 1642

Deindustrialization and Trade Openness: the Tunisian Case
Rania Mechergui and Rim Mouelhi
WP 1643

The Sudan Syndrome: State-Society Contests and the Future of 
Democracy Post-December 2018 Revolution
Ibrahim Elbadawi and Alzaki Alhelo
WP 1644

Lebanon at Risk – The Uncertain Road from A Debt Overhang 
to A New Growth Path
Ishac Diwan and Henri Chaoul
WP 1645

Returns to Education in the Marriage Market: Bride Price and School 
Reform in Egypt
Jingyuan Deng, Nelly Elmallakh, Luca Flabbi, and Roberta Gatti
WP 1646

Introducing the Sudan Labor Market Panel Survey 2022
Caroline Krafft, Ragui Assaad, and Ruby Cheung
WP 1647

The Structure of the Labor Force and Employment in Sudan
Caroline Krafft, Ragui Assaad, Adriana Cortes-Mendosa and Isabel 
Honzay
WP 1648

Assessing the Sustainability of Jordan’s Public Debt: The Importance 
of Reviving the Private Sector and Improving Social Outcomes
Zafiris Tzannatos and Ibrahim Saif 
WP 1649

The Past and the Future Trade Patterns of the MENA Region: The 
Pursuit of Growth
Pınar Tat, Abdullah Altun and Halit Yanıkkaya
WP 1650

Digitalization and The UAE Economy: A New Driver of Sustainable 
Development
Jamel Zarrouk
WP 1651

https://erf.org.eg/publications/political-islam-and-crony-capitalism-in-sudan-a-case-study-of-munazzamat-al-dawa-al-islamiyya/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/political-islam-and-crony-capitalism-in-sudan-a-case-study-of-munazzamat-al-dawa-al-islamiyya/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/crony-capitalism-through-the-developmental-state-model-of-ethiopia-an-identification-of-its-main-manifestations/?tab=undefined&c=undefined

https://erf.org.eg/publications/crony-capitalism-through-the-developmental-state-model-of-ethiopia-an-identification-of-its-main-manifestations/?tab=undefined&c=undefined

https://erf.org.eg/publications/which-firms-are-more-digitized-a-comparative-study-between-egypt-and-jordan/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/which-firms-are-more-digitized-a-comparative-study-between-egypt-and-jordan/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/does-digitalization-matter-evidence-from-egyptian-and-jordanian-firms/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/does-digitalization-matter-evidence-from-egyptian-and-jordanian-firms/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/digitalization-and-firm-performance-in-the-middle-east-and-north-africa-case-studies-of-jordan-morocco-and-egypt-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/digitalization-and-firm-performance-in-the-middle-east-and-north-africa-case-studies-of-jordan-morocco-and-egypt-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/digitalization-and-disruptive-technologies-in-the-middle-east-and-north-africa-mena-and-sub-saharan-africa-ssa-regions/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/digitalization-and-disruptive-technologies-in-the-middle-east-and-north-africa-mena-and-sub-saharan-africa-ssa-regions/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/determinants-of-adoption-of-online-commercial-activities-by-moroccan-firms/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/determinants-of-adoption-of-online-commercial-activities-by-moroccan-firms/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-effects-of-exchange-rate-changes-on-sudanese-output-an-asymmetric-analysis-using-the-nardl-model/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-effects-of-exchange-rate-changes-on-sudanese-output-an-asymmetric-analysis-using-the-nardl-model/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/estimating-the-causal-relationship-between-external-debt-and-inflation-in-jordan-evidence-from-an-ardl-and-toda-yamamoto-approaches/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/estimating-the-causal-relationship-between-external-debt-and-inflation-in-jordan-evidence-from-an-ardl-and-toda-yamamoto-approaches/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/estimating-the-causal-relationship-between-external-debt-and-inflation-in-jordan-evidence-from-an-ardl-and-toda-yamamoto-approaches/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/state-business-relations-in-sudan-the-prospects-for-a-dynamic-private-sector/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/state-business-relations-in-sudan-the-prospects-for-a-dynamic-private-sector/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/deindustrialization-and-trade-openness-the-tunisian-case/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-sudan-syndrome-state-society-contests-and-the-future-of-democracy-after-the-december-2018-revolution/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-sudan-syndrome-state-society-contests-and-the-future-of-democracy-after-the-december-2018-revolution/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/lebanon-at-risk-the-uncertain-road-from-a-debt-overhang-to-a-new-growth-path/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/lebanon-at-risk-the-uncertain-road-from-a-debt-overhang-to-a-new-growth-path/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/returns-to-education-in-the-marriage-market-bride-price-and-school-reform-in-egypt-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/returns-to-education-in-the-marriage-market-bride-price-and-school-reform-in-egypt-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/introducing-the-sudan-labor-market-panel-survey-2022/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-structure-of-the-labor-force-and-employment-in-sudan/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/assessing-the-sustainability-of-jordans-public-debt-the-importance-of-reviving-the-private-sector-and-improving-social-outcomes/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/assessing-the-sustainability-of-jordans-public-debt-the-importance-of-reviving-the-private-sector-and-improving-social-outcomes/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-past-and-the-future-trade-patterns-of-the-mena-region-the-pursuit-of-growth-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-past-and-the-future-trade-patterns-of-the-mena-region-the-pursuit-of-growth-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/digitalization-and-the-uae-economy-a-new-driver-of-sustainable-development/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/digitalization-and-the-uae-economy-a-new-driver-of-sustainable-development/



79

www.erf.org.eg

The Impact of Maternal Education on Early Childhood Development: 
The Case of Turkey
Deniz Karaoglan, Serap Sagir,  Meltem Dayioglu and Dürdane Sirin 
Saraçoglu
WP 1652

Public Debt, Growth, and Stabilization in Tunisia: A New Narrative 
for a Structural Reform Agenda
Leila Baghdadi and Moez Labidi
WP 1653

A No Woman’s Place: Employers’ Discrimination and Hiring 
Challenges in Less Feminized Sectors in Egypt 
Ghada Barsoum
SWP_2023_1

Do Employers Discriminate against Married Women? Evidence from 
a Field Experiment in Egypt
Caroline Krafft
SWP_2023_2

A Machine Learning Approach to Targeting Humanitarian Assistance 
Among Forcibly Displaced Populations
Angela C. Lyons, Alejandro Montoya Castano, Yifang Zhang, Aiman 
Soliman and Josephine Kass-Hanna, 
WP 1654

The Dynamics of Social Insurance in Egypt
Caroline Krafft and Cyrine Hannafi
WP 1655

Choosing Exchange Regimes in Oil-Exporting Countries: Frankel’s 
Proposal (CCB) versus the Actual Regime: The Case of Algeria (In 
Arabic)
Abderazak Madouri and Hacene Tchoketch-Kebir
WP 1656

Working Conditions in the Paid Care Economy in Egypt: 
Improvement or Deterioration?
Caroline Krafft and Maye Ehab
WP 1657

Why is Social Insurance Coverage Declining in Egypt? A 
Decomposition Analysis
Ragui Assaad and Sarah Wahby
WP 1658

Trade, Food Security, and the War in Ukraine: The cases of Egypt and 
Sudan
Chahir Zaki, Alzaki Alhelo and Kabbashi Suliman
WP 1659

Social Insurance from A Regional Perspective: Egypt, Jordan and 
Tunisia
Zina Nimeh , Tamara A. Kool and Guido Heins
WP 1660

When Formality is Costly and Informality is Legal: Social Insurance 
Design Woes at a Time of Economic Crises
Irene Selwaness and Ghada Barsoum
WP 1661

Post-Conflict Reconstruction, Stabilization and Growth Agenda for 
Sudan
Ibrahim Elbadawi,  Kabbashi Suliman, Magdi Amin,  Alzaki Alhelo, 
Abdelrahman Osman and Amir Elobaid
WP 1662

Stabilization and Adjustment in MENA: The Case of Egypt
Abla Abdel Latif, El Hussein Essam, Amany Medhat, Ahmed Dawoud, 
Sahar Aboud, Rama Said and Racha Seif
WP 1663

Morocco — Beyond Debt: Sustainable Pathways to Higher Growth
Abdelaaziz Ait Ali, Fatima Ezzahara Mengoub,  Mahmoud Arbouch, 
Fahd Azaroual, Oumayma Bourhriba, Youssef El Jai, Badr Mandri
WP 1664

Labor Market Dynamics in Sudan through Political Upheaval and 
Pandemic
Ragui Assaad, Caroline Krafft, and Sarah Wahby
WP 1665

Is Tunisia’s democracy on its deathbed? Social Capital, Economic 
Insecurity, Middle Class and Attitudes Toward Democracy
Riadh Ben Jelili
WP 1666

Discretion and Public Procurement Outcomes
Bernard Hoekman and Bedri Kamil Onur Tas
WP 1667

Logistics Performance and Environmental Degradation: The Case of 
MENA Countries
Seda Ekmen Özçelik and Ünal Töngür
WP 1668

PublicationsAnnex C:

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-impact-of-maternal-education-on-early-childhood-development-the-case-of-turkey-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-impact-of-maternal-education-on-early-childhood-development-the-case-of-turkey-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/public-debt-growth-and-stabilization-in-tunisia-a-new-narrative-for-a-structural-reform-agenda/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/public-debt-growth-and-stabilization-in-tunisia-a-new-narrative-for-a-structural-reform-agenda/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/a-no-womans-place-employers-discrimination-and-hiring-challenges-in-less-feminized-sectors-in-egypt/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/a-no-womans-place-employers-discrimination-and-hiring-challenges-in-less-feminized-sectors-in-egypt/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/a-machine-learning-approach-to-targeting-humanitarian-assistance-among-forcibly-displaced-populations-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/a-machine-learning-approach-to-targeting-humanitarian-assistance-among-forcibly-displaced-populations-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-dynamics-of-social-insurance-in-egypt/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/choosing-exchange-regimes-in-oil-exporting-countries-frankels-proposal-ccb-versus-the-actual-regime-the-case-of-algeria-in-arabic/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/choosing-exchange-regimes-in-oil-exporting-countries-frankels-proposal-ccb-versus-the-actual-regime-the-case-of-algeria-in-arabic/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/choosing-exchange-regimes-in-oil-exporting-countries-frankels-proposal-ccb-versus-the-actual-regime-the-case-of-algeria-in-arabic/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/working-conditions-in-the-paid-care-economy-in-egypt-improvement-or-deterioration/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/working-conditions-in-the-paid-care-economy-in-egypt-improvement-or-deterioration/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/why-is-social-insurance-coverage-declining-in-egypt-a-decomposition-analysis/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/why-is-social-insurance-coverage-declining-in-egypt-a-decomposition-analysis/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/trade-food-security-and-the-war-in-ukraine-the-cases-of-egypt-and-sudan/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/trade-food-security-and-the-war-in-ukraine-the-cases-of-egypt-and-sudan/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/social-insurance-from-a-regional-perspective-egypt-jordan-and-tunisia/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/social-insurance-from-a-regional-perspective-egypt-jordan-and-tunisia/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/when-formality-is-costly-and-informality-is-legal-social-insurance-design-woes-at-a-time-of-economic-crises/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/when-formality-is-costly-and-informality-is-legal-social-insurance-design-woes-at-a-time-of-economic-crises/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/post-conflict-reconstruction-stabilization-and-growth-agenda-for-sudan/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/post-conflict-reconstruction-stabilization-and-growth-agenda-for-sudan/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/stabilization-and-adjustment-in-mena-the-case-of-egypt/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/morocco-beyond-debt-sustainable-pathways-to-higher-growth-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/labor-market-dynamics-in-sudan-through-political-upheaval-and-pandemic/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/labor-market-dynamics-in-sudan-through-political-upheaval-and-pandemic/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/is-tunisias-democracy-on-its-deathbed-social-capital-economic-insecurity-middle-class-and-attitudes-toward-democracy/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/is-tunisias-democracy-on-its-deathbed-social-capital-economic-insecurity-middle-class-and-attitudes-toward-democracy/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/discretion-and-public-procurement-outcomes/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/logistics-performance-and-environmental-degradation-the-case-of-mena-countries-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/logistics-performance-and-environmental-degradation-the-case-of-mena-countries-2/



80

www.erf.org.eg

Do Educational Mismatches Influence Job Satisfaction and on-the-Job 
Search in Algeria?
Aysit Tansel and Moundir Lassassi
WP 1669

Intra-household Bargaining, Resource Allocation and Cost of Gender-
Based Violence in Egypt: The Role of Asset Ownership and Gender 
Role Attitudes
Eleftherios Giovanis and Oznur Ozdamar
WP 1670

Is the Moroccan Fiscal System Progressive? A Shapley 
Decomposition
Touhami Abdelkhalek and Dorothee Boccanfuso
WP 1671

GVC and Innovation: Evidence from MENA Firm-Level Data
Yasmine Eissa and Chahir Zaki
WP 1672

Local State Capacity and Economic Development of Regions
Yusuf Emre Akgunduz, Yusuf Kenan Bagir, Abdurrahman B. Aydemir 
and Yavuz Selim Hacihasanoglu
WP 1673

Inflation Inequality in Egypt Amid the Russia–Ukraine War
Shireen Alazzawi and Vladimir Hlasny
WP 1674

Preferences and the Puzzle of Female Labor Force Participation
Mahdi Majbouri
WP 1675

Breaking Barriers: Investigating the Effects of 100% Foreign 
Ownership on Business Entry in Dubai
Ahmed Shoukry Rashad and Anwar Gargash
WP 1676

The Impact of Syrian Refugees on the Overeducation of Natives: 
Evidence from Turkish Labor Markets
Ugur Aytun and Seyit Mumin Cilasun
WP 1677

They Still Got The Power: The Enduring Connections between 
Lebanon’s Banking Sector and the Ruling Class
Jad Chaaban, Jonathan Cole, Nizar Ghanem, and Sami Halabi
WP 1678

The Effects of Trade Participation on Labor Productivity, Wages and 
Female Employment: Evidence from Egyptian Manufacturing Firms
Yasmine Kamal
WP 1679

Oil Exporting Countries and Economic Diversification : The Role of 
Monetary and Fiscal Policies
Mohamed Tahar Benkhodja, Xiaofei Ma and Tovonony Razafindrabe
WP 1680

The Great Lockdown and the Small Business: Impact, Channels and 
Adaptation to the Covid Pandemic
Minh-Phuong Le, Lisa Chauvet and Mohamed Ali Marouani
WP 1681

Two Birds, One Stone: Minimum Wage and Child Labor
M. Utku Özmen and Belgi Turan
WP 1682

The Role of Public Employment and Wage Policy in the Dynamic of 
Earnings Inequality: The Tunisian Perspective
Mohamed Ali Marouani and Phuong Minh Le
WP 1683

Does Accelerating the Energy Transition Affect Fscal Sustainability in 
GCC Countries
Assil El Mahmah
WP 1684

Class Grievances - the Arab Uprisings and Beyond
Jennifer C Olmsted and Bassam Yousif
WP 1685

State-Society Relations and Industrial Sustainable Growth: The Case 
of Post-Revolution Tunisia
Mohamed Ismail Sabry
WP 1686

Financial Development, Corruption and Shadow Economy: Evidence 
from MENA Countries
Houda Haffoudhi and Brahim Guizani
WP 1687

Assessing the Effectiveness of the Fiscal-Monetary Policy Mix: 
Evidence from Morocco, Egypt and Saudi Arabia
Younes El Khattab, Rashida El Yamani and Ahmed Hefnaoui
WP 1688

https://erf.org.eg/publications/do-educational-mismatches-influence-job-satisfaction-and-on-the-job-search-in-algeria-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/do-educational-mismatches-influence-job-satisfaction-and-on-the-job-search-in-algeria-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/intra-household-bargaining-resource-allocation-and-cost-of-gender-based-violence-in-egypt-the-role-of-asset-ownership-and-gender-role-attitudes-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/intra-household-bargaining-resource-allocation-and-cost-of-gender-based-violence-in-egypt-the-role-of-asset-ownership-and-gender-role-attitudes-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/intra-household-bargaining-resource-allocation-and-cost-of-gender-based-violence-in-egypt-the-role-of-asset-ownership-and-gender-role-attitudes-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/is-the-moroccan-fiscal-system-progressive-a-shapley-decomposition/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/is-the-moroccan-fiscal-system-progressive-a-shapley-decomposition/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/gvc-and-innovation-evidence-from-mena-firm-level-data-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/local-state-capacity-and-economic-development-of-regions-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/inflation-inequality-in-egypt-amid-the-russia-ukraine-war/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/preferences-and-the-puzzle-of-female-labor-force-participation/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/breaking-barriers-investigating-the-effects-of-100-foreign-ownership-on-business-entry-in-dubai/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/breaking-barriers-investigating-the-effects-of-100-foreign-ownership-on-business-entry-in-dubai/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-impact-of-syrian-refugees-on-the-overeducation-of-natives-evidence-from-turkish-labor-markets-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-impact-of-syrian-refugees-on-the-overeducation-of-natives-evidence-from-turkish-labor-markets-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/they-still-got-the-power-the-enduring-connections-between-lebanons-banking-sector-and-the-ruling-class/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/they-still-got-the-power-the-enduring-connections-between-lebanons-banking-sector-and-the-ruling-class/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-effects-of-trade-participation-on-labor-productivity-wages-and-female-employment-evidence-from-egyptian-manufacturing-firms/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-effects-of-trade-participation-on-labor-productivity-wages-and-female-employment-evidence-from-egyptian-manufacturing-firms/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/oil-exporting-countries-and-economic-diversification-the-role-of-monetary-and-fiscal-policies-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/oil-exporting-countries-and-economic-diversification-the-role-of-monetary-and-fiscal-policies-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-great-lockdown-and-the-small-business-impact-channels-and-adaptation-to-the-covid-pandemic-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-great-lockdown-and-the-small-business-impact-channels-and-adaptation-to-the-covid-pandemic-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/two-birds-one-stone-minimum-wage-and-child-labor-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-role-of-public-employment-and-wage-policy-in-the-dynamic-of-earnings-inequality-the-tunisian-perspective-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/the-role-of-public-employment-and-wage-policy-in-the-dynamic-of-earnings-inequality-the-tunisian-perspective-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/does-accelerating-the-energy-transition-affect-fiscal-sustainability-in-gcc-countries/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/does-accelerating-the-energy-transition-affect-fiscal-sustainability-in-gcc-countries/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/class-grievances-the-arab-uprisings-and-beyond-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/state-society-relations-and-sustainable-industrial-growth-the-case-of-post-revolution-tunisia/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/state-society-relations-and-sustainable-industrial-growth-the-case-of-post-revolution-tunisia/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/financial-development-corruption-and-shadow-economy-evidence-from-mena-countries-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/financial-development-corruption-and-shadow-economy-evidence-from-mena-countries-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/assessing-the-effectiveness-of-the-fiscal-monetary-policy-mix-evidence-from-morocco-egypt-and-saudi-arabia/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/assessing-the-effectiveness-of-the-fiscal-monetary-policy-mix-evidence-from-morocco-egypt-and-saudi-arabia/



81

www.erf.org.eg

Food Insecurity: The Role of Income Instability and Social Transfers 
in Tunisia during COVID-19
Hajer Habib and Amal Jmaii
WP 1699

Technology Innovation and Climate Change Mitigation: Effects and 
Transmission Channels
Fethi Amri
WP 1700

Households’ Food Insecurity in the Era of COVID-19: Application on 
MENA Countries
Antoine Castet and Racha Ramadan
WP 1701

ERF Policy Portal: The Forum

Making macroeconomic policy more job-friendly: the case of Egypt
Chahir Zaki
Published: January 10, 2023

The environmental impact of foreign direct investment in MENA
Fatma Tasdemir and Seda Ekmen Özçelik
Published: January 17, 2023

The historical roots of state weakness and social inequities in Lebanon
Joelle M. Abi-Rached	and Ishac Diwan
Published: January 17, 2023

The geography of innovation: evidence from regions in Turkey
Nasser Dine Mohamedou
Published:  January 24, 2023

National economic institutions and participation in the global value 
chain
Burhan Can Karahasan
Published:  January 24, 2023

What will it take to achieve an energy transition in MENA?
Rabah Arezki, Adnan Mazarei and Mark Plant
Published:  January 24, 2023

Informal Sector, Competition And Labor Productivity In Africa: 
Evidence From Firm-Level Data
Sara Zouiri
WP 1689

Internet and Food Production: Panel Data Evidence from North 
African Countries
Benghalem Abdelhadi, Ouieme Sour and Samir B. Maliki
WP 1690

Unravelling the Puzzle of Low Female Labor Force Participation in 
Iran
Massoud Karshenas and Valentine M. Moghadam
WP 1691

Testing of Persistence in New Firm Entry by Size, Sector, and 
Location: Case of Iran
Iman Cheratian and Saleh Goltabar
WP 1692

Do Capital Flows Cause (De)-Industrialization?
Fatma Tasdemir
WP 1693

False Negatives: Earnings Underreporting, Tax Overreporting
in Surveys Worldwide
Vladimir Hlasny
WP 1694

Finance-Growth Nexus in Time of COVID-19 Lockdown: Case of 
Iranian MSMEs
Iman Cheratian and Saleh Goltabar
WP 1695

Robots, Employment and Wages: Evidence from Turkish Labor 
Markets
Ugur Aytun, Yılmaz Kılıcaslan, Oytun Mecik and Umit Yapıcı
WP 1696

Women’s Economic Empowerment in Sudan: Assets and Agency
Caroline Krafft and Heather Moylan
WP 1697

Vulnerability to Multidimensional Poverty in Algeria and Tunisia 
Using the Counting Based Approach and Bayesian Networks 
Classifiers
Valérie Berenger
WP 1698

PublicationsAnnex C:

https://erf.org.eg/publications/food-insecurity-the-role-of-income-instability-and-social-transfers-in-tunisia-during-covid-19-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/food-insecurity-the-role-of-income-instability-and-social-transfers-in-tunisia-during-covid-19-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/technological-innovation-and-climate-change-mitigation-effects-and-transmission-channels/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/technological-innovation-and-climate-change-mitigation-effects-and-transmission-channels/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/households-food-insecurity-in-the-era-of-covid-19-application-on-mena-countries-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/households-food-insecurity-in-the-era-of-covid-19-application-on-mena-countries-2/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/01/10/making-macroeconomic-policy-more-job-friendly-the-case-of-egypt/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/01/17/the-environmental-impact-of-foreign-direct-investment-in-mena/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/01/17/the-historical-roots-of-state-weakness-and-social-inequities-in-lebanon/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/01/22/national-economic-institutions-and-participation-in-the-global-value-chain/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/01/22/the-geography-of-innovation-evidence-from-regions-in-turkey/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/01/22/what-will-it-take-to-achieve-an-energy-transition-in-mena/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/informal-sector-competition-and-labor-productivity-in-africa-evidence-from-firm-level-data-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/informal-sector-competition-and-labor-productivity-in-africa-evidence-from-firm-level-data-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/internet-and-food-production-panel-data-evidence-from-north-african-countries-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/internet-and-food-production-panel-data-evidence-from-north-african-countries-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/unravelling-the-puzzle-of-low-female-labor-force-participation-in-iran/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/unravelling-the-puzzle-of-low-female-labor-force-participation-in-iran/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/testing-of-persistence-in-firm-entry-by-size-sector-and-location-case-of-iran/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/testing-of-persistence-in-firm-entry-by-size-sector-and-location-case-of-iran/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/do-capital-flows-cause-de-industrialization/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/false-negatives-earnings-underreporting-tax-overreporting-in-surveys-worldwide-3/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/false-negatives-earnings-underreporting-tax-overreporting-in-surveys-worldwide-3/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/finance-growth-nexus-in-time-of-covid-19-lockdown-case-of-iranian-msmes/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/finance-growth-nexus-in-time-of-covid-19-lockdown-case-of-iranian-msmes/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/robots-employment-and-wages-evidence-from-turkish-labor-markets-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/robots-employment-and-wages-evidence-from-turkish-labor-markets-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/womens-economic-empowerment-in-sudan-assets-and-agency/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/vulnerability-to-multidimensional-poverty-in-algeria-and-tunisia-using-the-counting-based-approach-and-bayesian-networks-classifiers-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/vulnerability-to-multidimensional-poverty-in-algeria-and-tunisia-using-the-counting-based-approach-and-bayesian-networks-classifiers-2/

https://erf.org.eg/publications/vulnerability-to-multidimensional-poverty-in-algeria-and-tunisia-using-the-counting-based-approach-and-bayesian-networks-classifiers-2/



82

www.erf.org.eg

Public banks and development in Egypt
Jasmin Fouad and Chahir Zaki
Published: January 31, 2023

How business survives under sanctions: the experience of Iranian firms
Iman Cheratiana, Saleh Goltabara and Mohammad Reza Farzanegan
Published: January 31, 2023

The year ahead: a view from the Nile
Sherif Kamel
Published: February 7, 2023

The multilateral financing paradox
Rabah Arezki 
Published: February 14, 2023

The grand waiting game: why Lebanon’s elites postpone compromise
Mounir Mahmalat
Published: February 14, 2023

Drivers of educational inequality in Jordan during the pandemic
Reham Rizk
Published: February 21, 2023

Fostering decent job creation and formalising informality in MENA
Philippe Adair and Vladimir Hlasny
Published: February 21, 2023

Funding women entrepreneurs in MENA
Imène Berguiga and Philippe Adair 
Published: March 7, 2023

Economic issues affecting MENA through the lens of public opinion
Shahrokh Fardoust
Published: March 7, 2023

The impact of revolution and war on income inequality in Iran
Mohammad Reza Farzanegan and Mohammad Ali Kadivar
Published: March 14, 2023

Investing in climate action and the SDGs for a resilient future
Mahmoud Mohieldin, Sameh Wahba, Maria Alejandra Gonzalez-Perez	
and Miral Shehata
Published: March 14, 2023

On calamities, debt and growth in developing countries 
Rachel Yuting Fan, Daniel Lederman, Ha Nguyen and Claudio Rojas
Published: March 14, 2023

Gender and corruption in MENA countries
Lamia Jaidane-Mazigh and Islem Khefacha
Published: March 21, 2023

Social protection in Jordan: towards collaborative implementation
Zina Nimeh 
Published: March 21, 2023

What is the likely impact of the earthquakes on economic growth in 
Türkiye?
Cevat Giray Aksoy, Maxim Chupilkin, Roger Kelly, Zsóka Kóczán	
and Alexander Plekhanov
Published: March 28, 2023

Measuring poverty in Lebanon in the time of economic collapse
Paul Makdissi, Walid Marrouch	 and Myra Yazbeck
Published: March 28, 2023

How the crisis in Ukraine affects Egypt’s vulnerable families and 
children
May Gadalla and Nesma Mamdouh
Published: April 4, 2023

Demographic pressures on the Egyptian labour market
Ragui Assaad
Published: April 4, 2023

Food security and child malnutrition in Africa
Hala Abou-Ali, Amira Elayouty and Ronia Hawash
Published: April 11, 2023

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/01/30/public-banks-and-development-in-egypt/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/01/30/how-business-survives-under-sanctions-the-experience-of-iranian-firms/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/02/05/the-year-ahead-a-view-from-the-nile/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/02/14/the-multilateral-financing-paradox/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/02/14/the-grand-waiting-game-why-lebanons-elites-postpone-compromise/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/02/21/drivers-of-educational-inequality-in-jordan-during-the-pandemic/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/02/21/fostering-decent-job-creation-and-formalising-informality-in-mena/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/03/07/funding-women-entrepreneurs-in-mena/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/03/07/economic-issues-affecting-mena-through-the-lens-of-public-opinion/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/03/12/the-impact-of-revolution-and-war-on-income-inequality-in-iran/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/03/12/investing-in-climate-action-and-the-sdgs-for-a-resilient-future/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/03/12/on-calamities-debt-and-growth-in-developing-countries/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/03/19/gender-and-corruption-in-mena-countries/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/03/19/social-protection-in-jordan-towards-collaborative-implementation/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/03/28/what-is-the-likely-impact-of-the-earthquakes-on-economic-growth-in-turkiye/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/03/28/what-is-the-likely-impact-of-the-earthquakes-on-economic-growth-in-turkiye/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/03/28/measuring-poverty-in-lebanon-in-the-time-of-economic-collapse/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/04/04/how-the-crisis-in-ukraine-affects-egypts-vulnerable-families-and-children/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/04/04/how-the-crisis-in-ukraine-affects-egypts-vulnerable-families-and-children/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/04/04/demographic-pressures-on-the-egyptian-labour-market/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/04/10/food-security-and-child-malnutrition-in-africa/



83

www.erf.org.eg

How can the digital economy benefit everyone in the Arab world—
and prevent the region from falling farther behind?
Shahrokh Fardoust and Mustapha K. Nabli 
Published: May 2, 2023

Public employment in Arab countries: A Reassessment
Khalid Abu-Ismail
Published: May 30, 2023

Creating jobs: making Egypt’s economy work for everyone
Chahir Zaki
Published: June 6, 2023

Altered destinies: the long-term effects of food insecurity in the 
MENA region
Roberta Gatti, Daniel Lederman, Asif M. Islam, Federico Bennett and 
Hoda Assem
Published: June 14, 2023

Geopolitical and economic tension in the 21st century: Not your 
grandfather’s cold war
Rabah Arezki
Published: June 20, 2023

Supporting employment opportunities for women in Egypt’s ICT 
sector
Ragui Assaad and Irène Selwaness
Published: July 4, 2023

Insiders and outsiders: the political economy of Arab labour markets
Steffen Hertog
Published: July 11, 2023

Reframing sustainable finance: lessons from Lebanon
Mahmoud Arayssi
Published: July 25, 2023

The human toll: Assessing the damage caused by revolution and war 
in Iran
Mohammad Reza Farzanegan
Published: August 22, 2023

Fighting poverty: innovative policy lessons from the second Arab 
Multidimensional Poverty Report
Khalid Abu-Ismail and Sabina Alkire
Published: August 28, 2023

Debt clouds over the Middle East
Adnan Mazarei
Published: September 12, 2023

North Africa’s hydrogen mirage
Rabah Arezki
Published: September 18, 2023

Sudan’s labour market: new data in turbulent times
Caroline Krafft, Ragui Assaad, Ruby Cheung and Joy Moua 
Published: October 24, 2023

Sudan’s labour market in an era of shocks
Caroline Krafft, Ragui Assaad, Adriana Cortes-Mendosa, Isabel Honzay	
and Joy Moua
Published: October 24, 2023

The India-Middle East-Europe Economic Corridor: an early 
assessment 
Steve L. Monroe 
Published: October 31, 2023

MENA trade patterns and the pursuit of growth
Pınar Tat, Abdullah Altun and Halit Yanıkkaya
Published: October 31, 2023

Risk prevention and public compliance in MENA during the disease 
outbreaks: Takeaways from the Covid-19 pandemic
Assem Abu Hatab, Lena Krautscheid and Franklin Amuakwa-Mensah
Published: October 31, 2023

The importance of budget support for progress on sustainable 
development
Shahrokh Fardoust, Stefan G. Koeberle, Moritz Piatti-Fünfkirchen, 
Lodewijk Smets and Mark Sundberg
Published: November 7, 2023 

PublicationsAnnex C:

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/05/02/how-can-the-digital-economy-benefit-everyone-in-the-arab-world-and-prevent-the-region-from-falling-farther-behind/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/05/02/how-can-the-digital-economy-benefit-everyone-in-the-arab-world-and-prevent-the-region-from-falling-farther-behind/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/05/30/public-employment-in-arab-countries-a-reassessment/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/06/05/creating-jobs-making-egypts-economy-work-for-everyone/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/06/14/altered-destinies-the-long-term-effects-of-food-insecurity-in-the-mena-region/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/06/14/altered-destinies-the-long-term-effects-of-food-insecurity-in-the-mena-region/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/06/20/geopolitical-and-economic-tension-in-the-21st-century-not-your-grandfathers-cold-war/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/06/20/geopolitical-and-economic-tension-in-the-21st-century-not-your-grandfathers-cold-war/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/07/03/supporting-employment-opportunities-for-women-in-egypts-ict-sector/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/07/03/supporting-employment-opportunities-for-women-in-egypts-ict-sector/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/07/11/insiders-and-outsiders-the-political-economy-of-arab-labour-markets/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/07/24/reframing-sustainable-finance-lessons-from-lebanon/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/08/22/the-human-toll-assessing-the-damage-caused-by-revolution-and-war-in-iran/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/08/22/the-human-toll-assessing-the-damage-caused-by-revolution-and-war-in-iran/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/08/28/fighting-poverty-innovative-policy-lessons-from-the-second-arab-multidimensional-poverty-report/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/08/28/fighting-poverty-innovative-policy-lessons-from-the-second-arab-multidimensional-poverty-report/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/09/11/debt-clouds-over-the-middle-east/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/09/18/north-africas-hydrogen-mirage/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/10/24/sudans-labour-market-new-data-in-turbulent-times/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/10/24/sudans-labour-market-in-an-era-of-shocks/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/10/30/the-india-middle-east-europe-economic-corridor-an-early-assessment/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/10/30/the-india-middle-east-europe-economic-corridor-an-early-assessment/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/10/30/mena-trade-patterns-and-the-pursuit-of-growth/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/10/30/risk-prevention-and-public-compliance-in-mena-during-the-disease-outbreaks-takeaways-from-the-covid-19-pandemic/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/10/30/risk-prevention-and-public-compliance-in-mena-during-the-disease-outbreaks-takeaways-from-the-covid-19-pandemic/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/11/07/the-importance-of-budget-support-for-progress-on-sustainable-development/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/11/07/the-importance-of-budget-support-for-progress-on-sustainable-development/



84

www.erf.org.eg

Retooling development aid in the 21st century
Shahrokh Fardoust, Stefan G. Koeberle, Moritz Piatti-Fünfkirchen, 
Lodewijk Smets and Mark Sundberg
Published: November 7, 2023

Balancing act: jobs and wages in MENA when crises hit
Roberta V. Gatti, Daniel Lederman, Nelly Elmallakh and Jesica Torres
Published: November 28, 2023

Egypt’s care economy needs to address deteriorating working 
conditions
Caroline Krafft and Maye Ehab
Published: December 12, 2023

The decline of social insurance in Egypt: directions for reform
Caroline Krafft and Cyrine Hannafi
Published: December 19, 2023

Boosting trade through flexible rules of origin in preferential 
agreements
Julien Gourdon, Karin Gourdon	 and Jaime de Melo
Published: December 19, 2023

Unemployment among young women in GCC countries
Wasseem Mina
Published: December 26, 2023

Challenges of GCC investment in the energy transition
Héla Miniaoui
Published: December 26, 2023

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/11/07/retooling-development-aid-in-the-21st-century/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/11/20/balancing-act-jobs-and-wages-in-mena-when-crises-hit/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/12/12/egypts-care-economy-reform-needed-of-deteriorating-working-conditions/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/12/12/egypts-care-economy-reform-needed-of-deteriorating-working-conditions/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/12/19/the-decline-of-social-insurance-in-egypt-directions-for-reform/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/12/19/boosting-trade-through-flexible-rules-of-origin-in-preferential-agreements/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/12/19/boosting-trade-through-flexible-rules-of-origin-in-preferential-agreements/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/12/25/unemployment-among-young-women-in-gcc-countries/

https://theforum.erf.org.eg/2023/12/25/challenges-of-gcc-investment-in-the-energy-transition/



2023

ERF

Financial 
Statements 



Financial StatementsAnnex D:

86

www.erf.org.eg
86



87

www.erf.org.eg
87

Financial StatementsAnnex D:

www.erf.org.eg



Financial StatementsAnnex D:

88

www.erf.org.eg

The accompanying notes from 1-22 form an integral part of these financial statements.



89

www.erf.org.eg
89

Financial StatementsAnnex D:

The accompanying notes from 1-22 form an integral part of these financial statements.



Financial StatementsAnnex D:

90

www.erf.org.eg

The accompanying notes from 1-22 form an integral part of these financial statements.



91

www.erf.org.eg
91

Financial StatementsAnnex D:

The accompanying notes from 1-22 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Ernst & Young Middle East
(Dubai Branch)
P.O. Box 9267
Ground Floor, ICD Brookfield Place
Al Mustaqbal Street
Dubai International Financial Centre
Emirate of Dubai
United Arab Emirates

Tel: +971 4 701 0100
+971 4 332 4000

Fax: +971 4 332 4004
dubai@ae.ey.com
ey.com

PL No. 108937

AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF
ECONOMIC RESEARCH FORUM NPIO

Report on the audit of the financial statements.

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Economic Research Forum NPIO (the “forum”)
(“ERF Dubai”) which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the statements
of activities and changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Forum as at 31 December 2023, and its financial policies, performance, and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS’s”).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Forum in accordance with the
International Ethics Standard Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA code) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Dubai International Financial
Centre (“DIFC”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other matter
The financial statements of the Forum for the year ended 31 December 2023, were audited by another
auditor whose report dated on 2 May 2023 which expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial
statements.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, and their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Companies
Law pursuant to DIFC Law No. 5 of 2018, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Forum’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the forum or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Forum's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF
ECONOMIC RESEARCH FORUM NPIO (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override
of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Forum's internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Forum’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors'
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Forum to cease to continue
as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

We also confirm that the financial statements include, in all material respects, the applicable requirements
of the Companies Law pursuant to DIFC Law No. 5 of 2018. We have obtained all the information and
explanations which we required for the purpose of our audit and, to the best of our knowledge and belief,
no violations of the Companies Law pursuant to DIFC Law No. 5 of 2018 have occurred during the year
which would have had a material effect on the business of the Forum or on its financial position.

16 July 2024

Dubai, United Arab Emirates
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Economic Research Forum NPIO

The accompanying notes 1 to 14 form part of these financial statements.
4

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Note USD USD

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Right of use assets (3) 98,849 23,102
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 98,849 23,102

Current assets
Contributions receivable (4) 2,062,023 406,774
Other current assets (5) 98,166 78,941
Cash at bank (6) 91,506 505,316
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,251,695 991,031
TOTAL ASSETS 2,350,544 1,014,133

NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Net assets
Unrestricted net assets (142,060) (121,834)
TOTAL NET ASSETS (142,060) (121,834)

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities - Long-term Portion (3) 33,852 -
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 33,852 -

Current liabilities
Other current liabilities (7) 30,163 15,573
Lease liabilities - Short-term Portion (3) 65,174 17,035
Due to related party (8) 124,959 148,034
Temporarily restricted contributions (9) 2,238,456 955,325
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,458,752 1,135,967
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,492,604 1,135,967
TOTAL NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 2,350,544 1,014,133

The accompanying notes from 1-14 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Director of Finance
Economic Research Forum
15 July 2024

Managing Director
Economic Research Forum
15 July 2024
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5

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Note USD USD

Revenues
Temporarily restricted contributions released from restriction (9) 1,389,097 1,205,208
Other income - 10,000
Total revenues 1,389,097 1,215,208

Expenses
Programs and administrative expenses (10) (1,329,797) (1,126,789)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (3) (68,283) (62,465)
Finance cost (3) (6,382) (1,615)
Expected credit losses (4) (17,959) (5,862)
Change in net assets before currency exchange differences (33,324) 18,477
Currency exchange differences 13,098 8,760
(Decrease) increase in net assets for the year (20,226) 27,237
Net assets, beginning of the year (121,834) (149,071)
Net assets, end of year (142,060) (121,834)

The accompanying notes from 1-14 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The accompanying notes 1 to 14 form part of these financial statements.
6

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Notes USD USD

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Decrease (increase) in net assets (20,226) 27,237
Adjustments:
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (3) 68,283 62,465
Expected credit losses (4) 17,902 5,193
Finance cost (3) 6,382 1,615

72,341 96,510
Changes in working capital:
Contributions receivable (4) (1,673,151) (29,006)
Other current assets (5) (19,225) 96,602
Temporarily restricted contributions (9) 1,283,131 (508,637)
Other current liabilities (7) 14,591 1,497
Due to related parties (8) (23,075) (3,216)
Net cash used in operating activities (345,388) (346,250)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment for lease liability (3) (68,422) (68,131)
Net cash used in financing activities (68,422) (68,131)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (6) (413,810) (414,381)
Cash and cash equivalents, at 1 January (6) 505,316 919,697
Cash and cash equivalents, at 31 December 91,506 505,316

The accompanying notes from 1-14 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

8

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”), interpretations issued by the IASB Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”)
and, the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).

Currently, IFRS does not contain specific guidelines for the accounting treatment and
presentation of the financial statements of non-profit organizations. Therefore, accounting
policies have been based on similar transactions and the general IFRS principles detailed in
the IASB Framework.

The financial statements have been presented in the U.S Dollar, which is the functional
currency of the Forum.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are consistent
with those used in the preparation of the financial statements for the prior year except for the
adoption of new amendments on the standards effective as at 1 January 2023 shown below:

Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8
The amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates,
changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. They also clarify how entities
use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates.

The amendments had no impact on the Forum’s financial statements.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies-Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
The amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice statement 2 making materiality judgments
provide guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to accounting
policies disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy
disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their
‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting
policies and adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making
decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments had an impact on the Forum’s disclosures of accounting policies, but not
on the measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in the Forum’s financial
statements.

Issued but not yet effective standards:
The following amendments have been issued but are not yet mandatory and have not been
adopted by the Forum. The Forum intends to adopt these amendments, if applicable when
they become effective.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
In September 2022, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 16 to specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and must applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after
the date of initial application of IFRS 16. Earlier application is permitted, and that fact must
be disclosed.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Forum’s financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
In January 2020 and October 2022, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of
IAS 1 to specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments clarify:
- What is meant by a right to defer settlement
- That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period
- That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral

right
- That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity

instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its classification.

In addition, a requirement has been introduced to require disclosure when a liability arising
from a loan agreement is classified as non-current and the entity’s right to defer settlement
is contingent on compliance with future covenants within twelve months.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and must be applied retrospectively. the Forum is currently assessing the impact the
amendments will have on current practice and whether existing loan agreements may require
renegotiation.

Supplier Finance Arrangements - Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7
In May 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures to clarify the characteristics of supplier finance
arrangements and require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024. Early adoption is permitted but will need to be disclosed.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Forum’s financial
statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS.

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, financial assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these estimates and
assumptions could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of the assets or liability affected in future periods.

The key estimates and assumptions involved in the financial statements are as follows:

Useful lives of property and equipment
The Forum’s management reassesses the useful lives of property and equipment, and makes
adjustments if applicable, at each financial year-end.

Expected Credit Loss “ECL”
In determining impairment of financial assets, the Forum uses judgement to estimate the
amount and timing of future cash flows as well as an assessment of whether the credit risk
on the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and incorporation
of forward-looking information in the measurement of expected credit losses.

Allocation of expenses
Allocation of the Forum’s expenses to programs, administrative and general functions is
based on the Forum management’s best estimate of allocation basis.

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options
The Forum determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with
any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised,
or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to
be exercised.

Management believes that the estimates and assumptions used are reasonable.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.4.1. DONATION REVENUES
Donors’ unconditional pledges are those pledges where donors do not specify prerequisites
that have to be carried out by the recipient before obtaining the fund.

Donation revenues from unconditional pledges are recognized as follows:

 Unconditional pledges that are not restricted for a specific purpose or time are recognized
when the pledge is obtained.

 Unconditional pledges that are temporarily restricted by the donor for a specific purpose
or time are recognized when such purpose or time is satisfied.

2.4.2. INTEREST INCOME
Interest income is recognized as the interest accrues using the effective interest method,
under which the rate used exactly discounts estimated future cash inflow through the
expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

2.4.3. EXPENSES RECOGNITION
Expenses are recognized when incurred based on the accrual basis of accounting.

2.4.4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on
hand, bank balances, and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or
less.

2.4.5. LEASES
The Forum assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is,
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

The Forum applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Forum recognizes lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying
assets.



Financial StatementsAnnex D:

132

www.erf.org.eg

Economic Research Forum NPIO
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

12

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assets
The Forum recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the
date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received, unless the Forum is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life or the lease term. Right-
of-use assets are subject to impairment.

Lease Liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Forum recognizes lease liabilities measured at
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in- substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Forum and payments of
penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease terms reflect the Forum’s intentions to exercise
the option to terminate.

The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as
expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Forum uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to
reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment
to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Forum applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition
exemption to leases that are considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4.6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties comprise trustees and businesses which are controlled directly or indirectly
by the trustees ("Affiliates") and affiliated organizations which have full control through the
board of trustees on the Forum. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved
by the board of trustees.

2.4.7. CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE
Contributions receivable are stated at the original amount of the unconditional pledge less
amounts received net of expected credit loss.

2.4.8. CURRENT VERSUS NON-CURRENT CLASSIFICATION
The Forum presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on
current/non-current classification. An asset as current when it is:

 Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle
 Held primarily for the purpose of trading
 Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period
 Cash or cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a

liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:
 It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period
 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve

months after the reporting period.

All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

2.4.9. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities cannot be derived from active
markets, they are determined using valuation techniques including the discounted cash flows
model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but
where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values.
Judgment includes input factors and assumptions used in determining fair value such as
liquidity risk, credit risk and other market volatility factors. Changes in assumptions may
impact fair values presented in the financial statements.

2.4.10. IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
For all debt instruments, the center has applied the standard’s simplified approach and has
calculated ECL based on lifetime expected credit losses.  To measure ECL, debit balances
are classified based on their credit factors and maturities.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4.10. IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Financial assets that are measured at amortized cost are tested as to whether they are credit
impaired. Objective evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired may include a breach
of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the granting of
a concession that, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower's financial
difficulties.

2.4.11. INCOME TAX
The Forum is a not-for-profit organization; accordingly, it is not subject to income tax.

2.4.12. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS
Liabilities are recognized for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received
whether billed by the supplier or not.

2.4.13. FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate
of exchange ruling at the reporting date.  All differences are recognized in the statement of
activities and changes in net assets.
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3. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the carrying amounts of The Forum’s right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities and the movements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Right-of-use

Lease Liabilities

The lease liabilities represent in Current and Non-Current portion as follow:

2023 2022
USD USD

Cost
Balance as of 1 January 148,030 85,567
Addition during the year 144,031 62,464
Balance as of 31 December 292,061 148,031

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as of 1 January (124,929) (62,464)
Depreciation for the year (68,283) (62,465)
Balance as of 31 December 2023 (193,212) (124,929)
Net Book Value Balance as of 31 December 98,849 23,102

2023 2022
USD USD

Balance as of 1 January 17,035 83,551
Addition during the year 144,031 -
Finance costs 6,382 1,615
Paid during the year (68,422) (68,131)
Balance as of 31 December 99,026 17,035

2023 2022
USD USD

Total lease liabilities 99,026 17,035
Less: Current portion of lease liabilities (65,174) (17,035)
Non-Current portion 33,852 -
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4. CONTRIBUTION RECEIVABLES

Contributions’ receivables comprise unconditional pledges to give. The contribution receivables
represent the following balances:

*  Expected Credit loss movement:

5. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
31 December

2023
31 December

2022
USD USD

Advances to researchers 85,990 60,106
Prepaid expenses 6,773 13,432
Other receivables 5,403 5,403

98,166 78,941

6. CASH AT BANK
31 December

2023
31 December

2022
USD USD

Current accounts at banks – USD 89,773 502,640
Current accounts at banks – foreign currencies 1,733 2,676

91,506 505,316

31 December
2023

31 December
2022

USD USD

Ford Foundation 1,015,000 -
Forschungsinstitut Zur Zukunft Der Arbeit GmbH (IZA) 77,173 191,770
International development research Center (IDRC) 980,698 168,773
Deutche Gesellschaft Fur Int. Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) - 42,381
African Economic Research Consortium (AERC) 12,916 9,712

2,085,787 412,636
Expected credit losses * (23,764) (5,862)

2,062,023 406,774

2023 2022
USD USD

Balance at 1 January 5,862 669
Charge for the year 17,902 5,193

23,764 5,862
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7. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
31 December

2023
31 December

2022
USD USD

Accounts payable 29,891 15,301
Accrued expenses 272 272

30,163 15,573

8. DUE TO RELATED PARTY

Amounts due to a related party represent balances arising from payments made on behalf of the
Forum in the normal course of business. Outstanding balance is unsecured and interest-free.

Nature of
relationship

31 December
2023

31 December
2022

USD USD
Economic research forum – ERF
(Egypt) Affiliated 124,959 148,034

124,959 148,034

During the year, the Forum entered into the following significant transactions with related parties
in the ordinary course of business at mutually agreed terms.

Related parties represent directors and key management personnel of the Forum.

The statement of activities and changes in net assets includes the following related party
transactions:

Nature of
relationship

Nature of
transactions

2023 2022
USD USD

ERF Egypt Affiliate Subgrants to
ERF Egypt - 126,033

ERF Egypt Affiliate Payments on
behalf of the

Forum 43,156 14,805
ERF Egypt Affiliate Subgrants to

ERF Egypt (43,156) 116,395

2023 2022
USD USD

Compensation of key management personnel:
Salaries and related benefits 226,382 221,399
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11. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities. Financial assets consist of
cash and banks’ balances, contributions receivable, and some other current assets. financial
liabilities consist of some other current liabilities.

The fair values of financial instruments are not materially different from their carrying values.

12. RISK MANAGEMENT

Liquidity risk
The Forum’s management limits its liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances through
funding from multiple donors to meet its current obligations and to finance its activities. The table
below summarizes the maturity profile of the Forum’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2023
and 2022 based on contractual undiscounted payments.

Less than
3 Months

3 to 12
months

More than
1 year up
to 5 years

More
than 5
years

Total

USD USD USD USD USD
31 December 2023

- - - -
Lease liability 17,105  48,069  33,852 -  99,026
Other current liabilities 30,166 124,959 - - 155,125

 47,271  173,028  33,852 -  254,151
Less than
3 Months

3 to 12
months

More than
1 year up
to 5 years

More
than 5
years

Total

USD USD USD USD USD
31 December 2022
lease liability 17,035 - - - 17,035
Other current liabilities 15,573 148,034 - - 163,607

 32,608  148,034 - -  180,642

Credit risk
Credit risks arising from the contribution receivable, exposure to credit risk arises from default of
donors to transfer the donations according to the contracts signed with them which represent the
carrying amount of these receivables.
With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets which consist of cash and banks’
balances and some other current assets, exposure to credit risk arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these financial assets.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arising from the changes in interest rates on the Forum’s financial assets and
financial liabilities which subject to floating interest rate.
The assets and liabilities of the Forum as at 31 December 2023 are not subject to interest rate risk,
as rates are fixed.

Foreign currency risk
The table below indicates the Forum’s foreign currency exposure, as a result of its monetary assets
and liabilities. The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the USD
currency rate against the EURO, Canadian Dollar (CAD), and other currencies with all other
variables held constant, on the statement of activities and changes in net assets.
The effect of decrease in foreign currency exchange rates is expected to be equal and opposite to
the effect of increases shown below:
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12. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.)

Increase
in EURO

rate to
U.S.$

Effect on
statement of
activities and

changes in net
assets for the

year

Increas
e in

CAD
rate to
U.S.$

Effect on
statement of
activities and

changes in net
assets for the

year

Increase in
other

currencies
rate to U.S.$

Effect on
statement of
activities and

changes in net
assets for the

year
% USD % USD % USD

2023 10 1,500 10 (10,726) 10 (8,972)

2022 10 2,444 10 2,072 10 (7,023)

13. ECLASSIFICATION OF COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The corresponding figures for the year 2022 have been reclassified in order to conform with the
presentation for the current year, following are the effects on the presentation:

The effect of the reclassifications on the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
were as follows:

Before
reclassification

Reclassification After
reclassification

USD USD USD

Liabilities
Temporarily restricted contributions - 955,325 955,325
Net assets
Temporarily restricted contributions 955,325 (955,325) -

Reclassification to the statement of activities and changes in net assets:

Before
reclassification

Reclassification After
reclassification

USD USD USD

Grants 729,252 (729,252) -
Temporarily restricted contributions
released from restriction * - 1,205,208 1,205,208
Programs and administrative
expenses (1,221,934) 95,145 (1,126,789)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets - (62,465) (62,465)
Net assets, beginning of the year 1,314,890 (1,463,962) (149,072)
Net assets, end of year 833,491 (955,326) (121,835)

* In prior years, the Forum recognized revenues from grants based on new agreements and recorded
these amounts directly as revenues instead of as temporarily restricted contributions. Additionally,
the Forum recorded the amounts temporarily restricted contributions released from restriction
directly to net assets. This practice affects the presentation of revenue in the statement of activities.
In contrast, recording temporarily restricted contributions released from restriction directly to net
assets prevents any impact on the accumulated net assets.
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The accompanying notes from 1-23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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